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NOTES

Ezxchange Values.—The pre-war values of the rouble and the
mark in relation to sterling were 2s. 13d. and 1s. respectively,
although just prior to the war the rouble had dropped to 2s. 03d.
The relation of the rouble to the mark for the same period was

approximately 1 rouble to 2 German marks.

Calendar —Throughout the book the New Style Calendar
has been used, the Russian Revolutions taking place, therefore,
in March and November, and not in February and October.
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INTRODUCTION

TwENTY years ago, on March 3, 1918, the first treaty of
peace between belligerent parties in the World War was
signed by the Central Powers and Russia at Brest-Litovsk.
Few at that time appreciated its full significance, and, in
the later years, when events crowded hard upon each
other, the Peace of Brest-Litovsk was forgotten.

Yet, this Peace of Brest-Litovsk is one of the important
milestones in modern history, for with its signature begins
a chain of events which leads directly to the happenings of
to-day; a chain which numbers among its links some of the
greatest incidents in war and peace. The Treaty of Brest-
Litovsk not only signified the apparently complete victory
of German arms in the East, and the greatest diplomatic
and military humiliation which Russia had ever sustained
in a long history of defeat, but, with the exception of the
Treaty of Versailles, it had consequences and repercussions
more vitally important than any other peace settlement
since the Congress of Vienna.

It was the course of the negotiations at Brest-Litovsk
which prompted President Wilson to promulgate his famous
Fourteen Points, in an attempt to keep the Russians from
concluding a separate peace. The rapacity of the victor’s
terms imposed upon Russia disclosed to the rest of the
world the domination which the Supreme Command had
attained in Germany, and the impossibility of arriving at a
““ peace of understanding >’ with a Germany in the hands of
such rulers. The realization of this fact produced that final
unity of purpose between the United States of America and
the Western Powers, that implacable ““will to victory ”,
which all previous negotiations had failed to achieve, and

which assured the ultimate defeat of Germany.
xi



INTRODUCTION

The Peace of Brest-Litovsk preserved Bolshevism. Its
conclusion provided Lenin with the essential “ breathing-
space ” for consolidating the Russian. Revolution against,
the attempts to overthrow it from within. At thfa same tm.ae,
the treaty marks the beginning of that infiltration of active
Communism into Germany which materially contributed to
her collapse some nine months later. For, with the opening
of the negotiations, there emerged that new and potent
factor in world diplomacy, Bolshevik propaganda ; propa-
ganda carried on by the party which formed the Govern-
ment of the Soviet State, but of whose activities that
Government professed official ignorance. “ The Party does
not sign the treaty,” said Lenin, “ and for the Party the
Government is not responsible.” It was upon this policy of
“ parallel diplomacy ”, first used at Brest, that the activities
of the Third International were based after its organization
in 1919.

Such were the more immediate results of Brest-Litovsk,
but its influence is still discernible in the political life and
ideological trends of both Russia and Germany to-day. The
psychology of Brest-Litovsk is still strong in both countries,
though with strangely different manifestations, and is
responsible both for the genesis of the Nazi ambitions for
hegemony over Eastern and South-Eastern Europe, and, in
some degree possibly, for the actions of those leading
members of the Old Bolshevik Party which have recently
ended in their own destruction.

’._['hough it is almost impossible to extract any clear and
undisputed facts from the mystery which surrounds the
Bfloscow treason trials of 1936 and 1937, it does seem pos-
S{ble to detect in the menta] Processes and in the activi-
ties of the accused, particularly Radek, Sokolnikov, and
Pyatakov, a tendency to return to the tactios of what may
be called “ primitive Leninigm » and to the psychology of
the Brest-pit?vsk period. The Old Bolsheviks, beliegging
that the principles of Lenin and the ideals of the November

<ii
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Revolution had been betrayed by Stalin, and convinced that
the U.S.8.R. could not resist an attack by both Germany
and Japan, appear to have reverted to the pre-revolutionary
strategy of sabotage and subversion in order to overthrow
the Stalinist régime, and to the Leninist policy of defeatism
and national immolation in order to placate for the moment
the aggressive policies of the two Imperialist-Fascist Powers.
The crimes of which they were accused, and to which they
pleaded guilty, were none other than those very principles
of destruction and disintegration on which Lenin based his
fight against the Liberal Government of Prince Lvov and
the Socialist régime of Kerensky, while the policy of
defeatism was exactly that followed by him in regard to
Brest-Litovsk.

This latter doctrine had been established by Lenin again
and again. ““ It is impossible to attain this end [the Revolu-
tion] without wishing for the defeat of one’s own govern-
ment and without working for such a defeat ”’, he wrote in
Against the Current; and, again, he warned American
workers that “ he is no Socialist who will not sacrifice his
fatherland for the triumph of the Social Revolution ”’. Nor
was he content merely to preach the doctrine. Against
the bitter opposition of the Left Communists, particularly
Bukharin and Radek, within his own party, he pursued
just this same policy in regard to Brest-Litovsk.

What then would be more natural than for the Old
Bolsheviks to fall back on these original principles ? Both
Radek and Bukharin had publicly declared that in following
the doctrine of defeatism Lenin had been right and they
wrong. Is it not possible that the psychology of Brest-
Litovsk reasserted itself and that, in negotiating with Ger-
many and Japan for the cession of the Ukraine and the
Maritime Province, they were reverting to the principle of
the “ breathing-space ”” in order to safeguard themselves
from external aggression, while setting about the destruc-
tion of the Stalin régime which they regarded as having
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betrayed the Revolution? Moreover, h?,d.not Lenin himse.lf
accepted the facilities offered by Imperialist Germany on his
return to Russia ¢ Was he not always prepared to spoil the
Egyptians if by so doing he could strengthen or advance the
Revolution ? _

How these strange new allies were ultimately to be dl_s-
posed of is not clear, but presumably it was hoped to regain
all territory lost at some later date, either by the extension
of the world revolution or by some revolutionary war. The
wisdom of such a course is, of course, clearly questionable.
If it is possible to find an explanation of the Moscow
mystery in terms of guilt of the accused, this appears to
be the only possible clue to a solution. But so complex is
the problem that it has even been suggested that Stalin
revived the defeatist doctrine of Brest-Litovsk in order to
fasten the responsibility for it upon his political rivals and
opponents, and to father on these people, very crudely, his
own Leninist policy of 1918.

This consideration, however, is of but academic interest,
compared with the very practical application of the prin-
ciples of Brest-Litovsk now obtaining in Germany, since the
advent to power of the National Socialist régime. The
Weimar Republic, with the support of the majority opinion
on the German General Staff, represented by General von
Seeckt, sought to reach a rapprochement with the Soviet
Union, and largely succeeded in doing so by the Treaty
of Rapallo and the Military Agreement of April 3, 1922,
and the German-Russian Non-Aggression Treaty of 1926.
There remained, however, a minority who followed in the
Hgﬁ':mann tradition, regarding Bolshevism as the root of all
evil, §.nd dreaming of the ultimate realization of those far-
reaching plans for German expansion in Eastern Europe
'Whlzl(li ggd sadly eluded them after Brest-Litovsk.

) to this is the very definite view which
]El'.ltl.er himseli_" h_olds rega,rdinrg the treaty, and whichAi;]:
National Socialist Party has sedulously fostered into a
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legend and an attainable ideal. For the ideology which
actuated the dictation of the treaty has not been replaced
by any other set of ideas, and has become the conviction of
a large part of the German people. The present German
generation—the generation of Nazi Germany—regards the
principles of Brest-Litovsk and the motives lying behind it
as an actual political programme.! None has been more
eloquent in this view than the Fiihrer himself, in his com-
parison of the treaty with the Peace of Versailles. “ I placed
the two Treaties side by side, compared them point by
point, showed the positively boundless humanity of the one
in contrast to the inhuman cruelty of the other ”’, he wrote
in Mein Kampf. “ In those days I spoke on this subject
before audiences of 2000 at which I was often exposed to
the gaze of 3600 hostile eyes. And three hours later I had
before me a surging mass filled with righteous indignation
and boundless wrath.””2 With this as a pointer it is not
surprising to find Hitler stating somewhat later in his work :
“ We [the National Socialists] stop the perpetual migration
towards the south and west of Europe and fix our gaze on
the land in the East . . . when we talk of new lands
in Europe, we are bound to think first of Russia and
her border States”.® And again: “We must not forget
that the international Jew, who continues to dominate
Russia, does not regard Germany as an ally, but as a State
destined to undergo a similar fate. The menace which
Russia suffered under is one which perpetually hangs over
Germany ; Germany is the next great objective of
Bolshevism.”

Here then is combined in one political philosophy the
doctrine of pre-war Pan-Germanism, the all-pervading

1 Cf. “ Germany’s Present Eastern Policy and the Lessons of Brest-
Litovsk ”, by “ Pragmaticus ”, Slavonic and Eastern European Review,
xv. No. 44.

2 Adolf Hitler, Mein Kampf (Munich, 1938), i. 523-525.

3 Ibdd. ii. T42. 4 Ibid. pp. 750-751.
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hatred of the Jew, and the ideological opposition to Bol-
shevism, and the only means by which this phjlos9phy may
be given practical application is through a reversion to the
German mentality of Brest-Litovsk. It is not unimportant
that political writers of 1917 talked as freely of German
equality (Gleichberechtiqung) as do the Nazi pundits to-day,
but they were more frank in their interpretation of it. *“ The
issue between us and England constitutes not so much
isolated problems as the conflict between England’s world
domination hitherto and our endeavour to obtain Gleich-
berechtigung in the world. That is why the war is being
waged ”, wrote Professor Hettner in his book, Der deutsche
Frieden und die deutsche Zukunft; and years later Hitler
epitomised this statement in a single sentence : Germany
will be a World Power or nothing at all . He admits that
England will not tolerate Germany as a World Power, but
says that this is not for the moment an urgent question, for
Germany is first concerned with uniting the German race
and fighting for territory in Europe.!

Reverting to the Ludendorff thesis that  German
prestige demands that we should hold a strong protecting
hand, not only over German citizens but over al] Germans ”,
Hitler aims first at the realization of a Deutschtum stretch-
ing from Jutland to the Brenner and from Strasburg to
Riga, and later at securing for Germany enough territory
to accommodate 200,000,000 Germans, This expansion,
according to the views expressed in Mein Kampf, the un-
disputed Bible of the Third Reich, is to take place in the
east and south-east of Europe, in those territories to
which German colonization during the Middle Ages was
directed—* We begin again where we left off six centuries
ago “—and to the Ukraine and Southern Russia ag a
whole.

Read in this light the attitude assumed by Nazi Ger-
many towards Austris and Czechoslovakia, towards the

! Hitler, Mein Kampf, ii. 699.
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Baltic States and Poland, and towards Hungary and
Rumania takes on a new significance. The expansion of
Germany thus conceived envisages the readjustment of
existing conditions in Central and Eastern Europe corre-
sponding to the political system which the Pan-German
Party and the Supreme Command planned during the war,
the skeleton structure of which was completed under the
Treaties of Brest-Litovsk and Bucharest ; that is to say, the
political hegemony of Germany over all remotely Germanic
States and a meditated acquisition of Russian territory. The
methods employed differ in each case. Austria was first
terrorised and then annexed to the German Reich. Czecho-
slovalkia is subjected to threats and propaganda calculated
to stimulate * spontaneous revolt ”’. Poland and the Baltic
States, as in the days of Brest-Litovsk, are offered com-
promises and the expectation of security—though it may be
recalled that in Mein Kampf the Poles are not only dis-
missed as “ inferior *’, but Polish children are classed on the
same low level as Jews, negroes, and Asiatics. Towards
Hungary, Yugoslavia, and Rumania a policy of blandish-
ment and flattery is adopted in the hope of winning away
the first from Italian, and the two latter from French
influence.

With the Drang nach Siid-Osten well under way,! the
first steps have already been taken to direct the political
thought of Germany towards the possible advantages of
expansion into Russia. German “ colonization > in Russia
was proposed by Dr. Schacht at a conference in Rome in
November 1932, even before the advent of Hitler to power,
and the subject was revived in Herr Hugenberg’s famous
memorandum to the World Economic Conference in June
1933. The Fiihrer himself made plain reference to it during
his speeches against Communism at the Niirnberg Partevfest

1 For good accounts of this movement see Hitler's Drive to the East,

by E. Elwyn Jones (1937), Germany Pushes South-east, by Dr. Gerhard
Schacher (1937), and The German Octopus, by Henry C. Wolfe (1938).
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of 1936. “If the Urals with their incalculable wealth of raw
materials, the rich forests of Siberia, and the unending
cornfields of the Ukraine lay within Germany,! yndfar
National Socialist leadership the country would swim in
plenty. We would produce, and every single German would
have enough to live on ”, he told representatives of the
Arbeitsfront on September 12. No purer example'of ]?:rest-
Litovsk psychology could be required than this virtual
incitement to plunder. The speech might well have been
inspired by the Press Department of the Great General
Staff in the early weeks of 1918.

The nearing of the completion of German rearmament
brings to a close the first stage of the Nazi development
towards Gleichberechtiqung. The second, which overlaps the
first, has already begun, and Germany is well on the way to
the establishment of her desired hegemony. With each step
forward the burden of the psychology of Brest-Litovsk
weighs more heavily upon Germany’s mentality and makes
more inevitable the ultimate effort to fulfil her destiny.
Europe has been treated to one display of the effects of this
psychosis, and, should Germany succeed in re-establishing
the situation which existed for a brief moment after Brest-
Litovsk, the results would be even more threatening than
they were then. For an industrialized Russis, exploited by
the organizing genius of Germany conjures up & vision which
no Western European can contemplate with equanimity.
But in 1918 the will-o’-the-wisp of ambition lured Germany
fnto a slough of dilemma from which extrication proved
m}possible, and the rest of Europe remembers, what Herr
Eﬂa may have forgotten, that disaster followed in the
train of transient glory.

t A-B reparted in the British press of September 14-15, this sentence
was variously translated as follows - If he could command (The Times),

“If we had at our disposal ”’ (Daily Telegraph), “ It we had » Man-
chester Guardian), Fn the official version of the speech, published (in the



INTRODUCTION xix

In the pages which follow, it has been my object, first, to
tell the story of the peace negotiations of Brest-Litovsk and
of Soviet-German relations up to their rupture in November
1918 ; secondly, I have aimed at explaining the motives
behind the diplomatic moves made by either side; and
thirdly, I have endeavoured to establish the very prominent
place which the Forgotten Peace holds in world history.

I have used the official documents published by the
Governments concerned, together with the contemporary
press of Germany, Austria-Hungary, and Russia, and of
certain Allied countries, and, in addition, the diaries,
memoirs, and biographies of the principal actors in the
drama. But I have also tried to supplement the written
word by personal conversation with all those participants
in the story of Brest-Litovsk who were still alive. With the
exception of Joffe, on the side of the Soviets, and Dr. von
Rosenberg on that of the Central Powers (both of whom
died before I had an opportunity of meeting them), I have
been able to discuss the treaty with almost all the
leading figures both at the Conference and in the various
capitals; with members of the Russian Provisional Govern-
ments, and of the Rada and Skoropadsky Ukrainian
régimes ; with officers of the former German and Austrian
High Commands, and also with a number of those who
played less prominent réles, but who have since risen to
positions of importance in the services of their countries.

My researches involved numerous visits to Germany,
Austria, the U.S.S.R., and further afield, and have left
me with many pleasant recollections : conversations with
Baron von Kiihlmann, a memorable walk with Karl Radek
in the woods outside Moscow, and one unforgettable after-
noon with Trotsky in Mexico City ; to all those who gave
me the benefit of their recollections I am deeply grateful.
I have thought it wise to refrain from mentioning by name
those to whom my thanks are due for assistance given me
in Germany and Russia, where, despite much advertised

£ s
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divergences in ideological outlook, similar diﬂiculi_;ies aTe
encountered by the individual citizen. But my gratitude is
none the less sincere.

T wish to express my very sincere thanks to those c.>f my
friends who, either by criticism and advice, or by assisting
me in obtaining material, have contributed to the making
of the book. First amongst these are Professor Bruce
Hopper, of Harvard University, and Professor L. B.
Namier, of Manchester University, to whose great know-
ledge, trenchant criticism, and friendly encouragement,
both I and my work owe so much. In addition, I am deeply
indebted to Mr. Bruce Lockhart for allowing me to use his
diaries of the period ; to Mr. Nicholas M. Oushakoff, of the
Harvard Law School Library, for his invaluable assist-
ance in translation work ; and to Miss Elizabeth Monroe,
Baroness Budberg, Sir Frederick Whyte, Mr. De Witte
Clinton Poole of Princeton University, Mr. Alexander
Gumberg, Mr. Max Eastman, Dr. Kurt Rosenfelt, Professor
William Adams Brown, Jur., of Brown University, Rhode
Island, Mrs. P. E. Baker, and to my secretary, Miss
Margaret Dunk, .all of whom have given me welcome aid
at some time during the writing of the book, and to whom
I am deeply grateful.

I wish also to acknowledge the generosity of the United
States Department of State for allowing me to make use
of their library and to reprint, in Appendices II, IV, V,
VII and IX, documents from certain of their publications,
to thank Messrs. James Bunyan and H. H. Fisher, and
the Stanford University Press, California, for permission. to
reprint the texts in Appendices I and III, and to acknow-
ledgfe the great kindness and assistance which I have
received from the Widener Library of Harvard University

and the Information Department and Library of the R
Institute of International Affairs, 7 o the foyel

April 1938 JOHN W. WHEELER-BENNETT
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I
EXITS AND ENTRANCES

1

At Imperial General Headquarters at Moghilev an officer
of the Russian Army was writing to his wife. The room was
bare, its only decoration a jewelled ikon and some photo-
graphs of children. The writer had that morning come back
from a brief visit to Petrograd, and wrote in affectionate
terms to his family of his safe return to duty. The letter
was filled with tender and intimate details. He had had
a little cough, but it was better now. He was terribly
distressed at the news that two of the children had con-
tracted measles, there was much of it at Moghilev, too ;
among the boys of the 1st and 2nd Cadet Corps it was
increasing steadily. He was particularly anxious about his
little son who was not robust, and was concerned for the
inconvenience to his wife. “ In any case, it is very tiresome
and disturbing for you, my poor darling ”” ; and he added
that it would be much better if all the children fell ill at
the same time. “I greatly miss my half-hourly game of
patience every evening. I shall take up dominoes again
in my spare time”; and he concluded: ““Good-night. May
God bless your dreams.” *

He signed the letter “ Your little hubby ”, and turned
to make the day’s entry in his diary ; details of his journey
from Petrograd, and of his routine work at headquarters.
“In all my spare time I am reading a French book on
Julius Caesar’s conquest of Gaul.” 2

1 The Letters of the Tsar to the Tsaritsa (London, 1929), p. 313.

2 Journal intime de Nicholas I1, juillet 1914—jurllet 1919 (Paris, 1934),
p. 93.

2
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£ tranquil spirit, it may be thought ; his 1.1fe
mtiﬁ]:HZd by a;llght Else than the everyday difficulties
of his duties and the dark shadow of war which resf:ed over
the Russian nation; an undistinguished though conscientious
officer—and it would have been .true: but the man was
Nicholas II, Tsar of All the Russias, the date was Margh
8, 1917, and his Empire was crumbling around him while
he wrote of dominoes and patience. .
No greater disaster could have overtaken the Empire
which he ruled, the dynasty which he represented, ar_ld,
indeed, himself, than that Nicholas II should have occupied
the throne at a time of crisis. No man was less fitted to
face the responsibilities and bear the burdens of an autocrat
in time of war. No man was less suited to guide the destinies
of 8 hundred and fifty million people who were gradually
but irresistibly emerging from the aftermath of serfdom.
He was not what historians of a certain school would have
called “a bad man”, but, which was infinitely worse, he
was weak, with all the inevitable obstinacy of weakness.
Power in his hands was “ not power but its pale shadow ,
for he was the slave of influence and pressure, yet un-
receptive of advice and counsel. Deeply religious, he had
the bigotry of a zealot, and his unswerving faith brought
him not spiritual comfort, but a detached and stubborn
passivity, a fatalism which sapped his better judgement
and surrounded him with an impenetrable barrier. More-
over, he was married to an adoring but dominating consoxt,
one who was even more susceptible to things mystio, yet
convinced of her qualification and her duty to supply her
husband with that militant masculinity in which his
sirange nature was lacking. Repeatedly in her letters
to him the Tsaritsa referred 4o herself ag « wearing the
trousers ”, imploring him not to be persuaded by the
counsels of moderation and half-measures, Only fools
and cowards could have proposed that to you ”, she wrote
bo him on one occasion with reference to the Stavka at

4
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Moghilev. “T see that my black trousers are needed at
headquarters.” !

There was about Nicholas II some strange quality
which both repelled and attracted. Some of the terrorists
who assassinated his Governors and officials died upon the
scaffold with a plea to “ his kind heart and noble inten-
tions”’, not for mercy for themselves, but for an examination
of ¢ the bad conditions of affairs in Russia ”’. The would-be
assassin of Louis XV declared that he had stabbed the
king in order to discover “ whether he had a heart ”’, these
murderers of Nicholas II’s representatives died proclaiming
themselves his faithful subjects. “ What sort of a man
is he 2’ wrote his cousin, the Grand Duke Nicholas
Mikhailovitch. ““ He is repulsive to me and yet I love him,
for he is not naturally a bad sort, and is the son of his father
and mother. Perhaps I love him by reflection, but what a
vile little soul he is! 2

The first weeks of the World War had sent a blaze
of enthusiasm through Russia, as through every other
country. The Tsar, “the Little Father of his People ”,
became a revered and honoured figure to his millions of
subjects, the mysticism inherent in the Slav mind was
centred upon the Emperor in a renewed devotion. But the
enthusiasm and the devotion soon waned. The crushing
defeats inflicted upon the Russian armies in East Prussia,
the growing shortage of food in urban districts, and the
increasing incapacity of administration throughout the
Empire produced signs of war-weariness in Russia earlier
than in any other belligerent state. To the strain on the
population was added the effect of the secret propaganda
which had circulated throughout the country since the
collapse of the abortive revolution of 1905. The Russian
masses stirred again under the stimulus of additional
hardships and revolutionary exhortations. The army,

1 Letters of the Tsaritsa to the T'sar (London, 1923), p. 122.
2 Krasni Arkhiv (Moscow, 1922), xlix. 102.
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though it fought with the greatest gallantry, resented the
peculation and corruption v_vhmh deprived it of equipment
and the very necessities of life. The morale of the rank fa,nd
file steadily deteriorated after the first autm campaign,
and by December 1914 General Kuropatkin was noting
in his diary: “They are all hungry for peace ... whole
battalions, instead of counter-attacking, came up to the
German trenches and raised their weapons in token of
surrender. They were weary of the hardships of War.’f v

The desire for peace manifested itself even earlier in
certain higher Government and Court circles. On September
10, 1914, Count Witte, recently returned from France,
expressed to Maurice Paléologue, the French Ambassador,
his conviction that the wisest course for Russia was to
“liquidate this stupid adventure as soon as possible ”’,
since & victory for the Allies would mean the triumph of
democracy and the proclamation of republics throughout
Central Europe. “ That means the simultaneous end of
Tsarism. I prefer to remain silent as to what we may expect
on the hypothesis of our defeat.”® This attitude was
shared by the ultra-conservatives of * The Union of the
Russian People ” (the organization of the Black Hundreds)
and the pro-German element about the Court,

Thus, by the beginning of 1915, the Tsar was faced
from all sides with g growing desire for Peace : from the
Left because of sheer war-weariness and an increagin
eagerness for constitutional reform, and from the Right
because of a desire to suppress that tendency while this
was still possible. A dynastic peace was urged upon the
Tsar for the Preservation of the autocratic principle. The
problfzm of peace had become dominant in Russia,

Nicholas IT wag himself loyal to the cause of the

. llsg’ic‘wr Chernov, The Greq Russian Revolution (New Haven, 1936),
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Entente, and he had it within his power to renew the war
enthusiasm of the masses. A concession to the moderate
elements of the Left and Centre during 1915 or 1916 would
have had the effect of restoring confidence between the
people and the throne; but the Tsar’s besetting sin of
weakness, combined with a lack of confidence in his own
judgement, caused him to listen to the counsel of the ex-
treme Right rather than to that of the would-be reformers.

The result was a series of desultory and unrelated
attempts to negotiate a separate peace with Germany,
carried on through financial and commercial agencies,
through the King of Sweden, and through the Grand Duke
of Hesse, brother of the Tsaritsa.! These attempts were
aided and abetted by the German agents who poured into
Russia and sought to foster the cause of peace by play-
ing upon the nervous sensibilities of the Conservatives,
emphasizing the danger of revolution from within and of
the betrayal of Russia by her Allies. Britain, it was alleged,
was planning to deprive Russia of her legitimate spoils
of war by keeping Constantinople for herself and creating
a new Gibraltar at the Dardanelles. France and Japan were
said to have agreed to this move, the latter at the price
of the promise of expansion into Manchuria. This so
disturbed the Russian Government that at the Inter-
Allied Conference at Chantilly, in November 1915, the
Russian representative advised most earnestly the abandon-
ment of the Gallipoli campaign. Moreover, the antumn of
1915 had seen an important step towards a Russo-German
understanding. The Tsar, against his better judgement
and under pressure from the Empress and her circle,

1 No German account of these secret negotiations has been published
(so far as the present writer is aware) but the Russian sources of informa-
tion, taken largely from the archives of the late Tsar, have been used
by V. P. Semmenikov in two works, Monarkhia pered Krusheniem, 1914—
1917 (Moscow, 1927) and Romanovyi germanskie vliyania, 1914-1917
(Moscow, 1929).
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removed from the position of Commander-in-Chief the
Grand Duke Nicholas Nikolayevitch, w!mm the German
Crowri Prince has described as the chief obstacle to a
separate peace,* and himself took the supreme command
of his armies. , -

Despite the forebodings of the Tsar’s more m_oderate
counsellors and their opposition to his replacing 1?15 uncle
as Commander-in-Chief, fortune smiled upon Russm_n arms
in the summer campaigns of 1916. General.Brussﬂov, in
his drive to the Carpathians, achieved a vmtory second
only to that of the summer of 1914. The Austrian army
dissolved like “ thin clouds before a Biscay gale ”, but the
Russian sacrifices were appalling, and when the German
divisions, hastily summoned to the support of.their allies,
appeared upon the broken fromt, the Russian attacks
became increasingly costly and barren. Brussilov strove
to make flesh and blood achieve the function of the
artillery which he lacked. In certain divisions only three
men out of ten went into action with rifles. Wire entangle-
ments, which there were no shells to cut, were traversed
on the heaps of dead which the German machine-gunners
piled upon them. The Russians fought with desperate,
heroic courage, but, when this last effective military opera-
tion undertaken by the Tsar's armies ended in September,
the losses involved were little short; of 5 million, and, despite
the gallantry of the troops, the will to victory had forsaken
them, to be replaced by an aching, overwhelming desire for
%eat:i. “Peace and Bread ”, became the slogan, ““ Peace and

read.”
] Meantime the peace party of the Right had not been
idle, and their activities Provide one more of thoge baffling
contradictions which are go striking a factor in this
Phase of tortuous diplomacy. Tn the middle of July, at the
moment when the troops under the Supreme command of
Nicholas IT were Winning victories, he, at the behest of the
! Memoirs of the German Crown, Prince (London. 19929). v, 134,
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peace party, dismissed his pro-Entente Minister for Foreign
Affairs, Sazonov, and concentrated power in the hands of
the President of the Council, Stiirmer, a friend of the
Empress and a creature of the “ Man of God ”, Rasputin.

The appointment at this juncture of a reactionary with
pro-German sympathies, who had always opposed the idea
of an alliance with the democratic governments of the West
for fear that it might serve as a channel through which
liberal theories might penetrate into Russia, had the most
profound cffect both at home and abroad. To the civilians
and the army, the substitution of Stiirmer for Sazonov
meant the elimination of one of the last moderate influences
among the Imperial advisers, and the determination of the
Tsar to persist in an administrative system which, through
incompetence and corruption, had deprived the civil popu-
lation and the troops of the necessaries of life.

The representatives of the Entente in Petrograd felt
the new appointment as a severe blow to the Allied interests.
“I can never hope to have confidential relations with a
man in whose word no reliance can be placed, and whose
only idea is to further his own ambitious ends ”, wrote the
British Ambassador of Stiirmer. “ Though self-interest
compels him to continue the foreign policy of his pre-
decessor, he is, according to all accounts, a Germanophil
at heart.” The French Ambassador, Maurice Paléologue,
was even more emphatic in warning his Government of the
new spirit in the Russian Foreign Office : “ We must expect
that the secrets of our negotiations will not long be a secret
to certain persons who, by their pro-German leanings,
indirect relations with the German aristocracy or German
finance, and their hatred of liberalism and democracy,
have been completely won over to the idea of a reconcilia-
tion with Germany ”.!

The Central Powers in turn hailed the appearance of

1 Qir George Buchanan, My Mission to Russia (London, 1923), ii. 18;
Paléologue, ii. 306.
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Stiirmer in control of affairs in the same sense bl}t with
different emphasis. “He was undoubtedly w‘e‘]l-dlsposed
towards us 7, writes the German Crown Prince. “ I reg_a.rded
that appointment as an indisputable sign of a desire to
open negotiations for peace.” * . _

Too astute to make an obvious break in policy by
opening direct negotiations with Germany, Stiirmer never-
theless made every effort to advance the cause of a Russo-
German rapprochement. He delayed publishing b_oth the
agreement which had been reached with England in order
to banish all fear of the British designs on Constantinople,
and also the manifesto on Poland which Sazonov had
wrung from the Tsar on the day before his dismissal. His
efforts succeeded so well that, by November, German
political circles were strongly of the opinion that a separate
peace with Russia was now to be regarded as a matter of
course, and that this chance could be let slip only by the
most clumsy diplomacy.?

But diplomacy of the clumsiest was forthcoming. Led
away by the mirage of a Polish army under German
officers contributing & much needed addition to the man-
power of the Central Powers, the Supreme Command of the
German army insisted upon the proclamation of a Kingdom
of Poland under the joint protection of the German and
Austrian Emperors. The move was opposed by the Govern-
ment and the Foreign Office and by many elements in the
General Staff. But, blinded by the flickering brilliance of
th-el.r own delusions, the Supreme Command ignored their
crtics and persisted in their own policy, a policy which led
nevitably to the destruction of a]l hopes of peace. Where
Stii.rmer had been silent—becauge of the fact that Sazonov’s
Polish plan envisaged the possible cession of territory by
Germany and Al.lstria-Hindenburg and Ludendorff were
supremely vocal in advocating a Poland which congisted of

1 Memoirs of the German Crown Prince, Pp. 136-137,
? Chernov, p. 38.
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Russia’s share of the country. Matthias Erzberger, who
had taken an active part in pressing negotiations from the
German side, declared that the Polish proclamation was
“ & positive political catastrophe "’ undermining the “ only
chance for peace .

The collapse of Stiirmer’s plans coincided with a certain
knowledge of them reaching the moderate leaders of the
Left and Centre. Prince Lvov, the President of the Zemstvos
Organization, declared that “ tormenting, horrible sus-
picions of treason, of secret forces working for Germany
and striving to prepare a shameful peace . . . have now
passed into clear realization ”’. Paul Miliukov, the Cadet
Party leader, went even further, and in a historic speech
denounced Stiirmer before the Duma as guilty of high
treason. Under the irresistible pressure of events, the Tsar,
with a glimmering of enlightenment, dismissed Stiirmer, and
would have got rid of his infamous colleague, Protopopov,
but for the protest of the Empress, who visited G.H.Q.
“in her black trousers ” and fought fiercely for the man
whom Rasputin had selected to save the destinies of the
Empire. Thus, though the new Government was headed
nominally by Trepov, a pronounced supporter of the
Entente, the real control of affairs still remained in the
hands of the same clique.

By the close of 1916 the position in Russia, exacerbated
by the murder of Rasputin in December, had been clarified
to the extent that a clash between the forces of the Right
and the Left had become inevitable. Revolution was being
planned both from above and from below, and the watch-
word of both revolutionary parties was Peace—Peace to
save autocracy, or Peace to hasten the “ dictatorship of the
proletariat .

In deadly earnest the champions of autocracy were
preparing to end the struggle at the front and transfer it
to the rear. At the beginning of February 1917 “ The
Union of the Russian People >’ advised the Tsar to ‘‘ restore
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order in the state, af whatever cost, and be certain of the
victory over the foe within, who long since has become both
more dangerous and more relentless than. the fore.zgn
enemy .t The economic situation was rapidly deterior-
ating, food became increasingly scarce, and it was openly
stated in Petrograd that the Government was del1_beratgly
causing the shortage in order to ma.ke_the contlpuatlon
of the war impossible, and to provoke strikes and dlsorc_lers
which would provide an excuse for strong measures against
the Socialist organizations.? To meet this situation peace
was essential.

Equally desirous of peace was the extreme Left, who
realized that the final battle with autocracy was near and
wished to be free for the coming struggle. Revolutionary
Propaganda was widely distributed, inciting the workers
to strike and demand peace, and the soldiers to refuse to
fight further. An addition was made to the slogan of
revolution, which now read, “ Peace, Bread, and Land ” ;
but peace came first, Commanding generals on all fronts
received anonymous letters through the field-post de-
claring that the men were exhausted, that they would
fight no more, and that an immediate conclusion of peace
was imperative.?

Between these two groups stood the moderates of the
Left, the liberal elements represented by Lvov, Miliukov,
and Rodzanko, President of the Duma, who remained
loyal to the cause of the Entente, and desired to see
Nicholas IT save himself and his country by the adoption
of constitutional reform before it was too late. In vain
they inveighed against the Camarilly which surrounded
the Tsar, and besought him to listen to wiser counsellors,
Their pleas were shattered against the lifeless detachment
of the Emperor, and, in the face of impending disaster,

! Chernov, p- 36. 2 Paléologue, 1. 65.

N 2’8 2General A. A. Brussilov, 4 Soldier’s Note-Book (London, 1930),
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they returned to the political salons of Petrograd, where,
among civilized individuals, statesmen, soldiers, and
nobles, the question was continually discussed as to who
should be “removed ”—the Emperor, the Empress,
Protopopov, or all three.

The Grand Duke Alexander Mikhailovitch added his
words of warning. * Disaffection is spreading very fast ”,
he wrote. ‘‘ Strange though it may seem, the Government
itself is the organ that is preparing the revolution.”?
Finally the British Ambassador, transgressing the rules of
diplomatic etiquette, spoke out bluntly : ““ You have, Sire,
come to the parting of the ways, and you have now to
choose between two paths. The one will lead you to
victory and a glorious peace, the other to revolution and
disaster.” 2

Enwrapped in his impenetrable mantle of apathy,
Nicholas IT foiled every attempt to save him from himself.
Those around him at this final crisis were amazed at his
“cold, stony calm ”’, which contrasted sharply with the
prevailing depression. ““ What is this ? ” asked General
Danilov in these fatal days. “Is it a tremendous, almost
incredible restraint, achieved in training, or faith in
divine predestination, or is it lack of intelligence ? ”?*
This spiritual pachydermity enabled the Tsar on his return
to Moghilev in March 1917 to write of dominoes and
patience. Later (March 16) when the storm burst, and he
was confronted with the unavoidable necessity of abdica-
tion, he performed the act with a lack of emotion which
embarrassed both the friends and enemies who witnessed it.

Nicholas II passed into the oblivion of exile and
martyrdom, and with him vanished the Romanov dynasty

1 Arkhiv Russkoi Revoliutsii (Berlin, 1922-1934), v. 333. Later, in
conversation with General Brussilov, the Grand Duke confessed: “1I
have no influence and I am of no consequence. My cousin . . . is the
slave of influence and pressure that no one is in a position to over-
come.” (Brussilov, p. 286.)

2 Buchanan, ii. 43. 3 Chernov, p. 10.
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with a tradition of three hundred years of absolu@sm
behind it. The old order fell by reason of its own Welght
and because of the inner weakness and decadence which
had undermined it. It gave way to & popu.lar movement,
vague and confused in thought, but having three pre-
dominant desires,  Peace, Bread, and Land ™. '_l‘he curtain
had risen upon the greatest drama of modern history.

2

But the principal actor in the drama was still' in
obscurity. At Zurich, in & room rented from a working-
class family, themselves tenants in a sombre _su;cteen?h-
century house in the Spiegelstrasse, lived Vladimir Ilyich
Ulianov, known to his revolutionary brethren, and later
to the world at large, as Lenin.

The outbreak of the war had found Lenin and his wife,
Krupskaya, in exile in Austrian Poland. After a bricf period
under arrest as a spy, he was allowed to proceed to Switzer-
land, where for a while they had settled in Berne. They
were very poor. (“ No-money, no money, that is our
chief misfortune ”’, wrote Lenin; and again: ““ This diabolical
cost of living—it has become devilishly hard to live ”.)
For personal funds they had one hundred and sixty
pounds which Krupskaya’s mother had left them, and they
lived on it for three years. Now finally they had moved to
Zurich.

The room was small and inconvenient, the courtyard
on which it opened was smelly and sti fling in summer, smelly
and dank in winter; the Spiegelstrasse itself is but a narrow
alley. But one of Lenin's most fortunate attributes was his
Imperviousness to externals. It mattered not to him that
his coffee was served in a cup with a broken handle, that
the food, eaten in common in the kitchen, was simple to
the point of poverty, that the sole furnishings of the room
consisted of & table, two beds, two chairs, and s sewing



EXITS AND ENTRANCES 15

machine ; these matters might irk the housewifely mind of
his loving Krupskaya, but Lenin’s whole soul and mind
were bent upon his struggle for the soul of international
Socialism.

He worked with that same untiring zest which later
was to achieve the miracle of bricks without straw in Soviet
Russia. His waking hours were filled with his efforts to
encourage his supporters inside and outside Russia, and
with literary work which aimed at the destruction of the
Second International and the building up of a Third, based
upon what to him was the true proletarian movement.

It was impossible to work at home. The courtyard of
the house in the Spiegelstrasse adjoined a sausage factory,
and its intolerable stench forced them to live with closed
windows. Lenin reverted to his old battle-ground of the
public library. (Had not the greater part of the plans for
the creation of the Bolshevik Party been conceived in the
peaceful atmosphere of the reading room of the British
Museum ?) Here in Zurich the library authorities exacted
a respectable appearance from their readers. Some of
Lenin’s fellow Bolsheviks had been refused admittance on
account of their mud-spattered shabbiness, but he still
owned a decent coat and a pair of sound shoes, and the
haven was therefore open to him. Few frequenters of the
library took much notice of this bald little Russian with
his snub nose, and his big mouth and square chin covered
by his red moustache and short beard, who, day after day
from nine in the morning till six at night, laboured with the
fierce unquenchable zeal of the revolutionary. With a pen
dipped in vitriol he inveighed against the Majority Socialists
in both camps of belligerents, who, in allying themselves
with capitalist governments for the purpose of prosecuting
the war, had betrayed the proletariat to * Imperialism .

At the Conferences of Zimmerwald (1915) and Kienthal
(1916) Lenin and his followers of the Left, a forceful

minority with a definite end in view, had castigated
o
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unmercifully their fellow Socialists of the Right and Cent’r’e
d had openly declared for “ Civil war, not civil peace ”.
;‘1}11 ir manifesto at Zimmerwald had called for  the
uti]eization of every movement (_)f t}_le people caused by tt?le
results of the war for the organization of streefo demo?.s mi
tions against the governments, propaganda of 1nter1?a 1om?,l
solidarity in the trenches, the encouragemenif of ecorl1_m.mc1,
strikes and the effort to transform jhem into po 1t1cla
strikes under favourable conditions . For L.enm the
European War had but one pu.rposg——the desta‘l:uqt1on of tl}e
capitalist system and the substitution of the “ dictatorship
of the proletariat . It must be the funeral procession of
Im}')l(.‘alrxloalil;}?numeﬁcaﬂy an impotent minor'ity, Leni}l and
his group exercised an influence altogether dlgproportlon ate
to their size. Lenin’s doctrines, though re]ect.od by.t}_le
International Socialist Conferences, found a fruitful soil in
the extreme Left of the German Social Democrat Party.
As early as January 1915, Karl Liebknecht in a speech at
Neukoln had adopted the thesis of ““ Class War against the
War ” which Lenin had enunciated from Zurich, and a
year later, in conjunction with Rosa Luxemburg, he 'began
the underground circulation of the famous serics of
* Spartacist ” letters exhorting spiritedly to revolutionary
action.® Nor were their efforts without result. In the
month of May 1916, three German officers and thirty-two
privates were shot for distributing copies of these letters
and of the Zimmerwald Manifesto in the trenches.®
In the bitter struggle in which they were involved
Lenin’s followers did not always share their leader’s
unwavering faith and singleness of vision. During 1916
there developed in Zurich the basis of those differences

* Collected Works of Lenin (London, New York, 1930), xviii. 477-478.
* Merle Fainsod, International Socialism and the World War (Cam-
bridge, Mass., 1935), pp- 49, 79.

3 N. K. Krupskaya, Memories of Lenin (London, 1930), ii. 184.



Pluset Newx Lt Photagraple. Copyright reserved

LENIN



EXITS AND ENTRANCES 17

of opinion within the group which were to have such
tremendous consequences later. Lenin and Trotsky were
already in conflict. Trotsky’s formula, “True national
self-defence consists in the struggle for peace,” seemed to
Lenin mere sermonizing, and he wrote furiously in reply:
“ To assume that the imperialist war will end in a demo-
cratic peace . . . is to mislead the masses by concealing
from them the essential truth that a democratic peace is
impossible without a series of revolutions. Away with the
parson.ical sentimental, absurd dreaming about ‘ peace at
any price ’.”

To Lenin the fundamental of revolution was the
dictatorship of the proletariat, a seizure of power which
should ensure the leading rdle of the worker and peasant
in the reconstruction of the entire social fabric, and there
again he met with wavering support among his followers.
His letters of the period to his friends Sklyapnikov and
Alexandra Kollontai are full of protests against vacillation.
“ Who is wavering ? ’ he wrote in March 1916. ““ Not only
Trotsky and Co. but also Pyatakov. ... Radek is the
best among them . . . but Radek is also wavering. . . .
Pyatakov and Bukharin did not want to understand and
could not understand.” *

These men, obscure and unknown as yet, were to
make history, and were later to be arrayed against Lenin
again.

In these years, too, occurred the Battle of the
Pseudonyms. Writing in the Socialist press both Bukharin,
as ‘“ Nota-Bene ”’, and Radek, as ““ Parabellum *, incurred
Lenin’s vituperative wrath and castigation for their mis-
understanding of the rdle of democracy in the struggle for
Socialism. Lenin tore to pieces the arguments of his lieu-
tenants, demonstrating his own thesis that economics were
only the foundation and premise of Socialism, but that the

1 Letters of Lenin, edited by Elizabeth Hill and Doris Mudie (London,
1937), p. 386.
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crux lay in the fundamental rebuilding of society on the
si volutionary democracy.

bw;g'f I:vhjle thesfayrevolutionary theorists clashed and
battled in the realm of ideology, not one qf them—not even
Lenin—was aware of how soon their theories quld l?c put to
the acid test of practical application. Communication wn’gh
the comrades in Russia was slow and faulty. The Bolshevilk
members of the Duma had been arrested in NoYember 1914
and the party organization had suffered accord.mgly. Ou_t of
touch with immediate happenings and steeped in theorctical
work, Lenin himself confessed in a letter from Zurich that
he felt “as if T had come here to lie down in my grave ™,
Unflaggingly he kept up the fight against the Sccond
International, but it was weary work waiting for the world
revolution, so long dreamed of, to happen. Though he had
gauged far more correctly than any one else the enormous
forces of social upheaval which unsuccessful war would
release in Russia, he was unable to estimate the degree to
which that upheaval had already progressed. Up to the
eve of the March Revolution he was not sure whether he
would live to see the realization of that fond ambition
upon which his whole being was so intensely concentrated.

In January 1917, when the proximity of the Palace
Revolution was & common conversational topic at the
dinner table of the British Ambassador in Petrograd, the
only uncertainty being whether both the Emperor and the
Empress would be killed, or only the latter,! Lenin was
dejectedly informing a youth meeting at the Zurich
Volkshaus that “ we of the older generation may not live
to see the decisive battles of this coming revolution .2
Beyond the disciplining of his followers in their doctrinal
wanderings there was no preparation for the great Day;
1o thought had even been given to a possible return to
Russia in the event of revolution. Lenin, in Zurich, was as
completely unexpectant of the March Revolution as was

* Buchanan, ii. 41, * Krupskaya, ii. 198.
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Lord Milner after four weeks’ sojourn in Petrograd, for, at
the moment when the latter was reporting to his colleagues
in the British Cabinet: “ I have formed the opinion that
there is a great deal of exaggeration in the talk about
revolution ”’ * (February 1917), Lenin was writing to his
sister : “ Our life goes on as usual, very quietly . . . itisstill
very cold. . . . News from you comes very slowly.” ?

The days dragged on in weary sameness. Lenin com-
pleted the draft of a book on education which a Swiss
publisher had commissioned. He needed more money. . . .

Suddenly the monotony of the exiles’ life was broken.
On the afternoon of March 16, 1917, Krupskaya was wash-
ing the dishes after their frugal meal, as Lenin gathered
the papers into his portfolio preparatory to returning to
the library. There was a sound of hurrying feet upon the
stair ; their friend Bronsky broke, breathless, into the
room, waving the small thin sheets of a special newspaper
edition. “ Haven’t you heard the news ?’ he panted.
“ There is Revolution in Russia ! ”

“I don’t remember how we finished the day ”, writes
Krupskaya.

1 David Lloyd George, War Memoirs. (London, 1933-1936), iii. 468.
2 Letters of Lenin, p. 407.
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KERENSKY, LENIN, AND PEACE

1

It is ironical, in view of the general desire for peace which
permeated Russia at the moment of the Revolution, that
the power should have fallen into the hands of the one
group which was in favour of continuing the war. Had
the Tsar’s Government been successful in suppressing the
March Revolution, a peace with Germany on practically
any terms would have followed immediately. Alternatively,
had the Bolsheviks been sufficiently well-organized to seize
the power at once, the policy which led to the peace of
Brest-Litovsk would have been launched nine months
earlier. It so happened that, when the sceptre of Russia
fell from the Imperial grasp on March 16, the only people .
who were prepared to pick it up were those Liberal con-
stitutionalists who favoured the prosecution of the war
for democracy and freedom, regardless of the fact that the
vast majority of the Russians yearned for peace and had,
in fact, made the Revolution in its name.

The muddled period between the Revolution of March
and the Revolution of November was complicated by this
misconception on the part of the Provisional Government
and the realization, too late, that it was impossible to
reconcile loyalty to the Allies with acquiescence in the cry
for peace at home. It was this futility of delusion which
enabled the Bolsheviks to capitalize the general desire for
peace and transform it into a weapon with which to destroy
the Liberal-Socialist Revolution.

Of sheer political impotence and well-meaning in-
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eptitude history has few more striking examples than
that of the Provisional Government which took oflice on
the abdication of the Tsar. Composed of ten Liberals and
one Socialist (“Ten capitalists and one hostage of
democracy ”, wrote Lenin) it endeavoured, pathetically
and with ever diminishing success, to walk the tight-rope
between loyalty to the Allies and the alleviation of
Russia’s war-weariness. It was lacking both in all means
of enforcing its authority and in those supports of tradi-
tion which had so long buoyed up the monarchy, and it
failed signally to create any new supports of its own. Tt
was not so much revolutionary as idealistic, and proved
utterly incapable of interpreting or controlling the vast
forces of unrest which had brought it into power. In com-
position and qualifications the Provisional (Government
would have been best suited to govern a long-established
democracy which had earned a period of weak govern-
ment. It was entirely unequal to handling a revolution.
The majority of its members were monarchists at heart,
not revolutionaries.

The Prime Minister, Prince Gregori Lvov, well esteemed
for his work as President of the Zemstvos organization,
had long urged constitutional monarchy under the Tsar,
and was the obvious leader of a democratic, constitutional
régime. The study of foreign policy and international
affairs which had for so long engaged Paul Miliukov,
leader of the Cadet (Constitutional Democrat) Party in
the Duma, singled him out for the portfolio of foreign
affairs, but his intellectual gifts, brilliant though they
were, were rather those of a pedagoguc than a statesman,
and the impression created by his speeches was that of
a schoolmaster lecturing a rather backward and un-
enlightened form. Alexander Guchkoff, to whom fell the
Ministry of War, was a representative of the well-to-do
business class of Moscow. His idealism had led him to
fight for the Boers in the South African War, and he had



KERENSKY, LENIN, AND PEACE 25

become prominent as leader of the Octobrist (Conservative)
Party in the Duma. To the very young and ardent Michael
Tereschenko—one of the wealthiest men in Russia, a sugar
king and a great philanthropist, who in the autumn of 1916
had been involved with Guchkoff in an abortive révolution
du palavs—ifell the thankless task of Finance Minister in
a virtually bankrupt and creditless state. And there was
Kerensky.

Of the many strange figures thrown up by the war,
Alexander Kerensky is among the strangest. The son of
Lenin’s former schoolmaster, he had achieved, partly by
sheer ability and partly by the capitalization of nuisance-
value, a position of considerable prominence on the Left
benches of the Duma. Turgid and hyperbolic of speech,
impetuous of character, he was a man of extravagant
ambition and strange spiritual force. ““ He filled his
sails with the breath of his own restless fantasy, letting
it bear him where it would,”” wrote one of his former
colleagues, “and at times he came very near to genuine
hysteria !

Such was the man who arose in a few short weeks from
the position of “a hostage of democracy ” in Prince
Lvov’s cabinet to be nominal ruler of All the Russias,
publicly hailed by Mr. Lloyd George as * that brilliant
young statesman ”’, and, finally, after a brief and uncom-
fortable sojourn upon the points of unstable bayonets,
to be plunged into more complete obscurity than that
from which he had emerged.

Yet there was something remarkable about that strange
young man with his square head and pallid face, forever
delivering his high-falutin speeches and fighting a not un-
gallant rear-guard action with fate. Now, in middle age,
there still lingers about him a vestige of that histrionic
fervour which held his audiences spell-bound but failed
to bind them to him. The Girondins are inevitable in

1 Chernov, p. 173.
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revolutions. They burn with idealistic love of national
resurgence, and with the best will in the world they start
the avalanche which they cannot hope to control in its
descent. They are most fortunate when they become the
victims of the force of destruction which they themselves
have loosed, for martyrdom is infinitely preferable to life
in the limbo of historical “ might-have-becns ™.

That the Provisional Government had failed to grasp the
gravity of the situation with which it was faced was clearly
demonstrated in its early moves in foreign policy. One of the
principal causes of the overthrow of the Tsarist régime had
been a deep-seated revulsion against the prolongation of an
intolerable war. The whole tone of the carly days of the
March Revolution had been a glad revolt against the war,
a grateful relief from the nightmare of two and a half
years. “ Peace, Bread, and Land ”’, had been inscribed upon
the banners which the crowds carried through Petrograd.
“ Peace, Bread, Land ” had become the answering cry
from the returning soldiery—no longer soldiers, but armed
civilians, militant revolutionaries. But the anxicty for peace
was even more dominant than the craving for bread and
the hunger for land.

All now looked to the Minister for Forcign Affairs to
vocalize this nation-wide fecling in some official statement
to the Allies which might at once acquaint them of Russia’s
desire for a speedy peace and, if possible, exert influcnce
upon them to follow suit.

This was precisely what Miliukov did not do.

In his first statement on March 18 to the Russian diplo-
matic corps abroad, acquainting them officially with the
change of government at Petrograd, Miliukov showed
clearly that he had failed to interpret the spirit of the Re-
volution and that, at least as far as he was concerned, the
foreign policy of the new Government would be that of the
old. “ The Cabinet will remain mindful of the international
engagement entered into by the fallen régime. and will
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honour Russia’s word . . . faithful to the pact® which
united her indissolubly to her glorious Allies. Russia is
resolved, like them, to assure the world, at all costs, an era
of peace among the nations, on the basis of stable national
organization guaranteeing respect for right and justice. She
will fight by their side against a common enemy until the
end, without cessation and without faltering.” *

Although this statement of policy was most gratifying
to the Allied Governments, who were anxiously awaiting
news from Russia, and still more anxiously speculating as
to whether the Eastern Front was to collapse entirely, it
in no way represented the general will of either the Russian
army or the Russian people.

There was, however, in session in Petrograd another
body of great importance and exercising, even at that time,
amazing influence. This was the Soviet of Workers’,
Soldiers’, and Peasants’ Deputies, which had been elected
on March 10, before the final crash of the imperial régime.
From the very outset the Petrograd Soviet was the only
body the authority of which was acknowledged by those
who had supplied the element of physical force in bringing
about the Revolution, that is to say, the garrison and
factory hands of the capital. This body was at the moment
under the control of Prince Tseretelli and the Menshevik
Party. As yet the Bolsheviks were a very small and
uninfluential faction in the Soviet, suffering greatly from
lack of intelligent leadership. Stalin and Kamenev, lately

1 This is in reference to the secret Treaty of London signed in
September 1914 by Great Britain, France, and Russia, pledging them-
selves not to enter into any separate peace negotiations with the Central
Powers.

2 See Russian-American Relations, by C. K. Cumming and Walter W.
Pettit, pp. 3-4. This indispensable collection of documents on Revolu-
tionary Russian diplomatic history from 1917-1920 was published in
1920 by Harcourt, Brace Co., New York, for the League of Nations

Association, now the Foreign Policy Association. The book is now out
af nrint
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returned from Siberian exile, were their chiefs at this
moment, but in these early days the future dictator of
Russia showed no capacity to rule or lead.

There can be little doubt that the Petrograd Soviet
represented the feelings of the great masses of the organ-
ized wage-earners far more than did the Provisional Govern-
ment, or that it was trusted in a far greater degree by
workers and peasants alike. But it refused to co-operate in
the organization of the Government, limiting its relations to
the presenting of definite political demands, and reserving
to itself the réle of critic. Morcover, in its revolutionary
zeal, it added the final touch to the destruction of discipline
in the army by issuing the notorious Prikaz No. 1, which
among other things absolved the Russian soldier from the
necessity of saluting his superiors.

How completely the Government realized its own help-
lessness and its degree of dependence upon this powerful
external agency may be judged from a letter written by
the Minister of War to General Alexeciev, on March 22.
“ The Provisional Government possesses no real power,”
Guchkoft confessed, ““ and its orders are exccuted only in so
far as this is permitted by the Soviet of Workers’ and
Soldiers’ Deputies, which holds in its hands the most imn-
portant elements of actual power, such as troops, railroads,
postal and telegraph services. It is possible to say directly
that the Provisional Government exists only while this is
permitted by the Soviet of Workers’ and Soldiers’ De-
puties. Especially in the military department it is possible
now only to issue orders which do not basically conflict
with the decisions of the above-mentioned Soviet.”

Sitting independently the Petrograd Soviet carried on its
own foreign policy, and interpreted to the world the Russian
workers’ great desire for peace. The Soviet developed its
foreign policy along two distinct lines : on the one hand,
it impressed upon the Provisional Government the immedi-

! W. H. Chamberlin, The Russian Revolution (London, 1985), i. 101.
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ate urgency of a general democratic peace, negotiated
between all the belligerent Governments, while, on the
other, it appealed over the heads of all governments to
the peoples. Herein lies the germ of all ensuing Soviet
foreign policy and is found the explanation of the close
relation which has hereafter existed between policy and
propaganda.

On March 27 the Petrograd Soviet issued its Pro-
clamation to the Peoples of the World appealing to the
labouring classes to take steps to bring to an end the san-
guinary struggle. “ The time has come to start a decisive
struggle against the intentions of conquest on the part of
the governments of all countries ; the time has come for
the peoples to take into their own hands the decision of the
questions of peace and war. . . . The Russian democracy
calls upon the peoples of Europe for concerted decisive
actions in favour of peace.” The proclamation continued
with a special appeal to the “ brother proletariats of the
Austro-German coalition and first of all to the German
proletariat ’ ; it declared at the same time, however, that
Revolutionary Russia would defend her freedom against
any attack from any quarter, and ended with the revolu-
tionary exhortation of 1847: “ Proletarians of all Nations,
unite ! 7 *

This was the first intimation the world received of the
new force behind the Revolution and of the existence of
internal conflict.

The position of the Provisional Government was
further complicated by an interview given by Miliukov
to the press, in which he championed the annexation of
the Dardanelles as a necessary safeguard for the outlet to
the Mediterranean which Russian economic development
needed. This interview revealed clearly the gulf which ex-
isted between official foreign policy and public opinion, and
produced a storm of criticism in the Soviet. Bolshevik

1 Cumming and Pettit, p. 8.
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and Menshevik alike joined in condemning this flag-
rant espousal of the old imperialist policy. Prince Lvov
hastened to explain away the contretemps. The Foreign
Minister had, he said, given his purely personal views as
regards the annexation of Comstantinople, views with
which the Government, as a whole, were not in accord. He
promised a statement on foreign policy at an carly date.

But before this promise could be fulfilled an event had
taken place, which, though it attracted comparatively little
attention either at home or abroad, was destined to over-
shadow all else in importance—Lenin had returned to
Russia.

2

The March Revolution was hailed by the Allies with
satisfaction and relief. Though they appreciated the loyal
personal efforts of the Tsar, they could not but welcome the
disappearance from power of those pro-German and corrupt
elements about the Imperial Court which had played so
important a part in the breakdown of the military machine
and, indeed, of the very life of the country. It had long
been realized that there was no one in authority who had
the capacity to handle the critical situation, and that those
who were alleged to be competent were refused power by
the prejudices of the Tsar. Under these circumstances, wrote
Mr. Lloyd George, “ the Revolution was not ouly inevit-
able—it was imperative . It was not yct appreciated—
not even apparently by the usually so astute Sir George
Buchanan—that Russia had exchanged one form of inept
government for another which, by the very nature of
things, could not long endure. For the moment the hopes
of the Allies were concentrated on a keener participation
of Russia in the eastern theatre of war.

There was a further consideration which endeared the
Provisional Government to the Allies. The appearance of

1 Lloyd George, iii. 505.
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Russia as a neophyte in the ranks of democracy at this par-
ticular moment was of very real importance. It removed
the last obstacle to the participation of the United States
of America in the war on the side of the Allies, and, within
the Allied countries themselves, it secured an even firmer
degree of support from organized labour and Socialism,
which had never felt entirely happy in being allied with
Russian despotism. That the Revolution played an im-
portant part in President Wilson’s calculations is clearly
indicated in his Message to Congress recommending the
declaration of war upon Germany : “ For the United States
the possibility that a new and liberal government in Russia
may now develop is a welcome factor in removing previous
American hesitation at associating with a Russian Govern-
ment which we rightly judged to be tyrannical and
corrupt .

Mr. Lloyd George wrote in his telegram of congratula-
tion to Prince Lvov on March 24 :

Much as we appreciate the loyalty and steadfast co-operation
which we have received from the late Emperor and the Armies of
Russia during the last two and a half years, yet we believe that
the Revolution, whereby the Russian people have placed their
destinies on the sure foundation of freedom, is the greatest service
which they have yet made to the cause for which the Allied peoples
have been fighting since August, 1914.1

The Governments of the other principal Allied Powers
also sent messages of felicitation couched in similar terms,
and all hastened to accord de jure recognition to the
Provisional Government and to despatch their Socialist
colleagues to observe a modern revolution on the spot and
to watch over Allied interests under the new régime.
Arthur Henderson from England, Albert Thomas from
France, Emile Vandervelde from Belgium, and Charles
Edward Russell from America, all hurried to Petrograd
bearing fraternal greetings and urging on the unfortunate

1 Lloyd George, iii. 507.
D
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Provisional Government to the impossible feat of a more
active prosecution of the war. The Allied Socialists returned
to their respective countries convinced of the many reasons
which, in spite of everything, justificd young democratic
Russia’s belief in her future, but it is noteworthy that
Emile Vandervelde closed the account of his own mission
with a quotation from Nietzsche : ““ There must be chaos,
that out of chaos may come forth new stars; there must
be chaos that new worlds may be born ”.!

If the March Revolution was hailed with relief hy the
Allies, it was correspondingly a source of anxicty to the
Central Powers. Though hopes of a separate peace with
Russia by direct negotiation had vanished with the pro-
clamation of the Kingdom of Poland in November 1916,
the corruption and inefficiency of the Imperial régime,
together with the pro-German influences at the Court,
had proved an indirect but by no means a useless ally. The
war on the Eastern Front had been brought virtually to
standstill, and the Supreme Command, already oceupied
with its preparations to meet the Allied spring offensive
on the Western Front, were loath to sce the Russian
armies regalvanized into action.

Far better informed as to the actual state of affairs in
Russia than were the Allics, the Supreme Command at
once divined that the weakest spot upon which to work was
the war-weariness of civilians and soldicrs alike. * Orders
were given for propaganda to be set on foot at once 1o
encourage a movement for peace in the Russian Army ”,
writes Ludendorff;* and the Russians were accordingly
exhorted to desert their Allies and sue for peace. “ What is
it that the free Russian people desire ? enquired one of
the leaflets distributed in the trenches. “Ts it the attain-

! Emile Vandervelde, Three Aspects of the Russian Revolution (New
York, 1918), p. 241,

? Lieutenant-General Erich Ludendorff, My War Memories, 1914 -
1918 (London, 1919), ii. 414.
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ment of the aims of the Allies, which Russia has not yet
repudiated, or is it the conclusion of peace, murmurs of
which we seem to hear from the Russian Army ¢ . . . If
the new Russian Government, prompted by its Allies,
wishes to make sure whether the German divisions and
German heavy artillery are still intact upon your Western
Front—let them try. Oh, when will you come to realize
that your grave-digger is England ? 7 ?

But this direct method of approach was too slow in
producing results. The Allied attack against the new
Hindenburg Line might develop any day now. Something
more vital must be found to sabotage the Russian Revolu-
tion which the Allies were working so hard to bolster up.
The Supreme Command cast about for some more subtle
weapon and quite unexpectedly they found one ready to
their hand. It was not until a year later that they discovered
it to be a boomerang of the most deadly nature.

3

In Zurich Lenin was almost demented with anxiety and
impatience. The Revolution, for which he had worked and
waited, had come and had taken him by surprise. He was
chained to these sordid surroundings while revolutionary
history was being made in the streets of Petrograd. The first
three days after he received the news were passed in a
frenzy. His waking hours were spent in desperate planning,
his nights in fevered delirium. He read every paper he could
lay his hands on, English, French, and German, scanning
them avidly for the least scrap of news from Russia. Every
telegram from Petrograd tore his soul with a fierce nostalgia,
a yearning to be released from these long years of labour in
the vineyard of theory and to return to the field of action.
At all costs he must escape from Switzerland ; that was his

1 Alexander Kerensky, The Crucifizion of Liberty (London, 1934),
p. 281.
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dominant thought, and he knew well enough that both the
Provisional Government and the Allied Secret Service
would go to any lengths to stop him. Ile planned fantas-
tically : he would take an aeroplanc ; he would wear a wig
and travel under a forged passport as a dumb Swede.

“ You might talk in your sleep ”, said his practical wife.
“If you dream of the Mensheviks you will start swearing
and shout ‘ scoundrels and traitors *.”

Very well, then, he would learn Swedish, Lenin replied.t

But after three days he regained his normal sense of
proportion. His letters to the faithful Kollontai in Sweden
displayed his old fierce analysis of the situation, showing
that he was under no illusion as to the ability or durability
of the Provisional Government. To her he despatched for
circulation in Russia his first theses on the Revolution,
adjuring the comrades not to be misled by the Provisional
Government into believing that it was not as imperialistic
and capitalist in its aims as the old régime it had replaced.
It could not, he declared, give the masses what they
expected from revolution—peace, bread, and freedom.?
“ Our tactics : complete contempt, no support of the new
Government,” he telegraphed to the Bolshevik faction in
the Petrograd Soviet. “ Kerensky especially suspicious.
Armed proletariat, only guaranteo.” 3

In the three weeks which followed (March 20--April 8)
Lenin elaborated this theme in his five  Letters from
Afar ” written to the Bolshevik faction for their guidance.s
These letters, in which he touched upon all the funda-
mental problems of the Revolution and charted the course
of its further development towards the desired sccond
stage—the dictatorship of the proletariat—-provide an out-
standing example of Lenin’s revolutionary genius. His

* Letters of Lenin, p. 416 ; Krupskaya, ii. 200-201.

? Lenin, Collected Works, xx. Book 1, pp. 19-26.

® Leon Trotsky, History of the Russian Revolution (London, 1932~
1933), i. 307. # Lenin, Collected Works, xx. Book 1, pp. 27-63.
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clarity of judgement, his acute perception of weakness and
strength, and his abounding belief in the masses are dis-
played, the more remarkably when it is considered how
imperfect were his sources of information and his channels
of communication.

With devastating accuracy he demonstrated the
inability of the Provisional Government to satisfy the
fundamental desire of the Russian people for peace, and
proclaimed as basis of the * proletarian ’ peace programme
the publication and repudiation of the secret treaties
which bound Russia to the Allies, and the immediate
proposal to all. belligerent parties of an armistice on all
fronts. This would be the first task of the workers’ and
peasants’ Government after it had seized power.

His advice and tactics were not wholly intelligible to
his followers in Petrograd, who regarded all talk of a second
revolution and the seizure of power by the proletariat as
a Utopian dream. When Lenin was striving to communi-
cate the tensity of his will to Petrograd across Europe,
Kamenev, with the co-operation of Stalin, was turning
sharply towards social patriotism.

Sensing this tendency amongst the Bolshevik faction,
partly by instinct and partly from articles which appearcd
over Kamenev’s name in Pravda, Lenin redoubled his
efforts to seek a means of escape from Switzerland. At a
meeting of the representatives of Russian political parties
in Geneva on March 19, it was proposed by Martov, the
Menshevik leader, that, since the Allied Powers were
adamant in their refusal to allow passage to the exiles, per-
mission should be requested for political emigrants to return
to Russia via Germany in exchange for interned German
civilians. Other members of the Menshevik Party hesitated
at so bold a plan, frightened at the interpretation which
would inevitably be placed upon it in Russia. Lenin, how-
ever, grasped at it without a moment’s hesitation. If the
alternative lay between a return to Russia via Germany and
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remaining in Switzerland, there was for him no question
at all. He would travel through Hell, with the personal
guarantee of the Prince of Darkness, if it would take him back
to Petrograd. With bitter contempt he mocked the waver-
ings of the Mensheviks and forced the adoption of the plan.

The first tentative approaches were unsuccessful. In
reply to the request of Robert Grimm, the Scerctary of the
Swiss Social Democratic Party, that the Swiss Government
should act as intermediary with Berlin for the procuring of
a permit of passage, the Iederal Councillor, Iloffman, who
had charge of the political department, refused to take any
such action, on the ground that the Entente Powers would
regard it as a violation of neutrality on the part of Switzer-
land. The political exiles must make formal application to
the Minister of Justice in the Provisional Government (at
this time Kerensky) for official permission to return.
Chafing at the delay, Lenin agreed faute de micux and the
formal application was accordingly made.

A week went by, two weeks, still no reply came from
Petrograd. Lenin was again in a frenzy of impatience. At last
he could wait no longer. Against the advice of the Menshe-
viks and others, he directed Fritz Platten, Secretary of the
Swiss Socialist Party, to open dircct negotiations with the
German Government. Platten placed himself in com-
munication with Dr. Helphand, known to the revolutionary
world as “ Parvus ”, a Russian political emigrant who at the
end of the ’nineties had become a member of the German
Social Democratic Party. Without consulting the party
executive,! Helphand began to explore the situation in
Berlin. He sounded the Foreign Office. The Kastern
European experts, Mirbach and Maltzan, were definitely
interested, and an approving report was forthcoming from
Brockdorff-Rantzau, then Minister in Copenhagen. He
spoke a word in the Bureau of the Imperial Chancellor ;

! Philip Scheidemann, The Making of New Germany (New York,
1929), i. 365,
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more important still, he talked with Erzberger and through
him made contact with the Supreme Command. The success
or failure of the scheme turned upon the approval or veto of
Hindenburg and Ludendorff.

To them Helphand explained that if they really wanted
Russia out of the war, Lenin was the man to achieve it.
He would sweep away mealy-mouthed idealists, such as
Kerensky and Tchkeidze, and be ready for an immediate
armistice ; it would then only depend on Germany to make
a reasonable peace with Russia.!

To the Supreme Command the game with Lenin was
worth the candle. They gave their approval willingly, little
realizing that in so doing they were preparing for them-
selves the weapon which should later effect that famous
“ stab-in-the-back ”. As a short-term policy the Supreme
Command were amply justified in their decision. The dis-
integration of the enemy’s army by means of propaganda
was entirely feasible as an indirect method of attack.
What is astonishing is the confident belicf of the General
Staff that German troops and civilians would be immune
from infection by the same political virus which they
were prepared to use against the Russian military and
civilian population. ““ At that time nobody could foresee
the fatal consequences that the appearance of those men
would have for Russia and for the whole of Europe ”,?
wrote General Hoffmann ; and again : “ We ncither knew
nor foresaw the danger to humanity from the consequences
of this journey of the Bolsheviks to Russia. At that time
we weighed the matter with as little consideration as the
Entente does now.”* In the days to come Ludendorff
was anxious to transfer the onus of responsibility from his
own shoulders and Hindenburg’s to those of Bethmann
Hollweg. ““ By sending Lenin to Russia our Government

1 Scheidemann, pp. 365-367.
% Major-General Max Hoffmann, War Diaries and other Papers
(London, 1929), ii. 177. 3 New York Times, December 24, 1920.
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had assumed a great responsibility ”, he wrote in his
memoirs. ““ From a military point of view his journcy was
justified, for Russia had to be laid low. But our Govem-
ment should have scen to it that we also were not involved
in her fall.”* Later, in an article written for a military
journal, he was even more explicit : ““ In sending Lenin, the
Chancellor promised us more rapid development of the
Russian Revolution and an increase in the desire for peace
which was already noticeable in the Russian army and
navy. Headquarters considered that in this way the
defences of the army would be weakened. No one at
Headquarters knew who gave the Chancellor his idea of
sending Lenin. The Chancellor himsell scarcely knew his
name ; but nevertheless events proved that our acceptance
of the Chancellor’s proposals was justified.”

If conditions of government in Germany at the moment
be considered, this meck acceptance by the Supreme
Command of the Chancellor’s view on so important a
subject is entertaining. IHindenburg and Ludendor(f held
Bethmann Hollweg in that supreme contempt, which the
Prussian military caste reserved for the civilian politician.
A few weeks before, they had forced acceptance by the
Kaiser of unrestricted U-boat warfare over the objections
of the Chancellor. Within three months they were to
engineer his dismissal from office and the appointment of
their own creature, Michaclis. They, and not he or the
Emperor, were the final arbiters of (erman destinies, and
on them rests the onus for this historic step.

The die was cast. Instructions went forth to the (erman
Legation in Berne to respond amicably to Fritz Platten’s
advances. As a result, on April 4 a most remarkable
“ treaty ” was drawn up between the FEmpire of the
Hohenzollerns and the editorial staff of a Swiss revola-
tionary paper. Lenin, in preliminary conversations with

1 Ludendorf, ii. 510.
* Militir Wochenblait, No. 35, (Bodin, February 206, 1921).
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Platten, had worked out the details of the agreement
with extraordinary care. He demanded complete extra-
territorial rights for the train during the period of transit,
and absolute freedom from supervision for the personnel
of the party, their passports, and their luggage. Platten
should accompany the party for the whole journey and
he alone would communicate with German authorities
and officials ; in addition, no one could leave the train
during the journey, nor enter it, without Platten’s per-
mission. (From this last provision grew the legend of the
“ sealed train ”.) The sole obligation which the émigrés
undertook was to agitate on their arrival for the exchange
of a corresponding number of Austro-German civilians
interned in Russia.!

On April 6 word came that this agreement had been
approved and “ratified "’ in Berlin, and two days later the
train-load of political dynamite, a party of thirty-two
including Lenin, Krupskaya, Zinoviev, Sokolnikov, and
Radek, steamed out of the Central Station of Berne.

The Mensheviks stayed behind, condemning to the last
the action of the Bolsheviks in negotiating independently
with the German Government without awaiting an answer
from Petrograd. Martov and Axelrod feared the accusation
of their comrades in Russia that, in obtaining the consent
of the German Government to pass through Germany, they
would put themselves under an obligation to the General
Staff and become ‘‘ German agents .2 This in effect was

1 Lenin, Collected Works, xx. Book 1, pp. 91-94, 360-361; Book 2,
pp- 381-386. A further regulation, which proved of considerable irksome-
ness to the returning Bolsheviks, was that smoking in the compartments
was forbidden. The German railway officials strictly enforced the rule
and the Russians, to whom a cigarette was practically a fifth finger,
were forced to retire to the toilet at the end of the coach when the
craving for tobacco became irresistible, much to the annoyance of those
of their companions who had other legitimate uses for this convenience.

2 A few months later both Martov and Axelrod, together with nearly
900 Mensheviks, also returned to Russia by way of Germany.
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the accusation which Lenin and his companions had to
face on their arrival, not only from the Allied countries and
from the Provisional Government (which was perhaps
natural enough), not only from the Mensheviks and the
Social Revolutionaries, but from their fellow Bolsheviks
in the Petrograd Soviet. And their first action had to he to
dispose of such an allegation.

The suggestion that Lenin in travelling through Ger many
to Russia was acting in any sensc as a (icrman agent is
ridiculous. No two partics ever entered into an agreement
with more brutal cynicism than did Ludendorfl and Lenin.
The attitude of the German General Staff was admirably
described by General Hoffmann, Chief of Stafl on the
Eastern Front, who incidentally had had no part in the
agreement and did not even know of its conclusion until
Lenin was back in Russia. ““ In the samec way as 1 send
shells into the enemy trenches, or as I discharge poison gas
at him,” he wrote, “ I, as an encmy, have the right to use
propaganda against him. . . . I personally knew nothing
of the transport of Lenin through Germany. However, if
I had been asked, I would scarcely have made any objection
to it.”* Nor was Lenin lacking in realism. “If Karl Licb-
knecht were in Russia now, the Provisional Government
would certainly allow him to return to Germany ”, he wrote
at the moment of his departure. ““ The internationalists
of all countries have a right and a duty to utilize this
gamble of the imperialist governments in the interests of
the proletariat without changing their course and without
making the slightest concessions to the governments.” 2

If any pact existed between Ludendorff and Lenin
it was one of mutual mistrust and deception. In the game
they were playing, the German under-estimated the calibre
of the man opposed to him. For whereas Ludendorfl was
saying to himself, “Lenin will overthrow the Russian

1 Hoffmann, ii. 176-177.
? Lenin, Collected Works, xx. Book 2, p. 385.
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patriots, and then I will strangle Lenin and his friends ”,
Lenin was thinking, “I shall pass through Germany in
Ludendorff’s car, but for his services I shall pay Luden-
dorff in my own way ”. His farewell letter to the Swiss
workers, written on the day of his departure, leaves no un-
certainty as to his intentions towards Germany. “ We will
be forced to carry on a revolutionary struggle against the
German—and not only the German—bourgeoisie. This
struggle we will carry on. We are not pacifists. . . . The
future [in Germany] belongs to that tendency which has
given us Karl Liebknecht and which has created the
Spartacist Group. . . . The German proletariat is the
most trustworthy, the most reliable ally of the Russian and
the world proletarian revolutions.”?

It so happened that Lenin’s particular brand of poison
coincided with the interests of Germany ; it also so hap-
pened that the interests of Germany coincided with Lenin’s
overwhelming desire to return to Russia. Either side was
prepared to betray the other. In this Machiavellian battle
of wits, Lenin was the more subtle.

It was, however, not unnatural that the Entente
countries and the Provisional Government should spread
the story that Lenin was a German agent, that he carried
with him, not only the goodwill of the German High Com-
mand and the Imperial Government, but also bulging money-
bags of gold (as well as a transfer account on the Deutsche
Diskontogesellschaft) wherewith to do the bidding of his
masters. It was the obvious Allied counterblast to the
German move of the “ sealed train ”’, and the propaganda
service did excellent work. What those who were willing to
believe this story did not realize was that Lenin’s promises
of peace and bread were infinitely more corrupting to the
Russian army and workers than any amount of German
gold could have been. To the very end the Allied Powers
failed to realize the war-weariness of Russia.

1 Lenin, Collected Works, xx. Book 1, pp. 85, 87,
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The story travelled more quickly than Lenin himself.
It was in Petrograd to greet him and, in fact, 1t partially
facilitated his return ; for, when the Provisional Govern-
ment debated the question of his arrest, according to the
memoirs of Vladimir Nabokov, the Sceretary-(ieneral of
the Provisional Government, the Ministers were convineced
that the very fact of his having appealed to (ermany would
so undermine the authority of Lenin that they need have
no fear of him.?

The publication by the United States Government at
a later date of the famous “ Sisson Documents ” greatly
assisted the circulation of the story,? and similar *‘ circum-
stantial evidence ” convinced many people in all parts of
the world of its truth. Amongst the converts were both
Kerensky and the American Ambassador in Petrograd,
Mr. David Francis.?

But Lenin, speeding northwards across Jurope to
Malmd, was not greatly concerned by the prospect of the
accusations. He had weighed all that in the balance before
negotiating with Germany. He knew that his Russian
opponents would throw mud at him, but he knew also that
the masses would finally follow his lead.

The terms of the Berne Agreement were scrupulously
adhered to. Lenin rebuffed with scorn an attempt of some

1 Quoted by Trotsky in The History of the Russiun Revolution, i.
309-310.

2 The “ Sisson Documents ”* were a collection of material obtained
by Mr. Edgar Sisson, of the U.S. Committee for Public Information,
then in Russia. The documents purported to prove conclusively the
connection between the Bolshevik leaders and the German High Com-
mand, and their accuracy was vouched for by prominent Slavonic
scholars in the United States. Some months before Mr. Sisson had
acquired it, the collection had been offered to and refused by the
British Foreign Office, who rightly suspected its authenticity. Mr.

Sisson’s own account of the affair is contained in his book One Hundred
Red Days (New Haven, 1931).

3 Kerensky, pp. 278-294; also Hon. David Francis, Russia from
the American Embassy (New York, 1922), pp. 222-226.
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German Social Democrats to enter into conversation with
him while the train stood at a siding in Berlin. To him
Kautsky, Scheidemann, and Ebert, who had voted war
credits in the Reichstag, were as much anathema as were
Ludendorff and the Kaiser. He would have no truck with
those who, in his view, had betrayed international Socialism.

At the Russian frontier the police refused admission to
Fritz Platten and to Karl Radek—the latter on the ground
that he was still an Austrian subject and a member of the
German Social Democrat Party'—but allowed the re-
mainder to proceed. As the home-coming exiles crossed the
border into Finland to change trains, they were wel-
comed by members of the Bolshevik Party who had come
from Petrograd. ‘“ What’s all this you’ve been writing in
Pravda ? ” was Lenin’s first greeting to Kamenev after a
separation of several years. “ We saw scveral issues and
gave it to you hot and strong.”

As the train approached Petrograd on the evening of
April 16, Lenin became convinced that he would be arrested
on arrival. He was not afraid, but the idea of a sojourn in
the Fortress of Peter and Paul irked him. He had lost so
much time already. There was so much to do. But his fears
were groundless. As they steamed into the station a great
throng swept on to the platform, and as Lenin stepped
down he was engulfed by it. Some one thrust a bouquet
of roses into his arms and, surrounded by his comrades,
he was rushed into the Tsar’s waiting-room. Lenin in the
Tsar’s waiting-room ! Here was an irony of history, but
there was more to follow. The head of the reception com-
mittee was Tchkeidze, the President of the Petrograd

1 Radek had settled in Germany after the abortive Revolution of
1905 in which he had played a part in Poland. He had joined the
left wing of the Social Democrats and was not an original Bolshevik,
though in close friendship with Lenin. He returned to Russia immediately
after the November Revolution (1917) and at once became a member of
the Communist Party.
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Soviet | Tchkeidze, the Menshevik, of whom the kindest
thing Lenin had ever said was ““ scoundrel and traitor |
Lenin stopped dead on seeing him; Tclkeidze looked
abashed. In hurried tones he repeated his speech of wel-
come—with its note of warning :

Comrade Lenin, in the name of the Petrograd Soviet and the
whole Revolution, we welcome you to Russia . . . but we consider
that the chief task of the revolutionary democracy at present is to
defend our Revolution against every kind of attack both from within
and without. . . . We hope you will join us in striving toward this
goal.

The whole situation must have appealed to Lenin's ever
lively sense of irony. The bouquet—the Tsar’s wuiting-
room—T'chkeidze’s speech. On his words of reply might
depend many things. He determined to make his position
clear from the start. He waited for a few moments in
silence, quite composed, a little amused, and scemingly
concerned with the rearrangement of his bouquet. Then,
with a gesture as it were of dismissal, he turned (rom
Tchkeidze to the crowds outside, from the Government to
the masses ; it was symbolic of his whole policy :

Dear Comrades, Soldiers, Sailors, and Workers, T am happy to
greet in you the victorious Russian Revolution, to greet you as the
advance guard of the international proletarian army. . . . The hour
is not far when, at the summons of Karl Licbknecht, the German
people will turn their weapons against their capitalist exploiters. . . .
The Russian Revolution created by you has opened a new epoch.
Long live the world-wide Socialist revolution !

Here in a few words was a declaration of war against
Miliukov and Kerensky on the one hand, and Ludendorft
and Kautsky on the other. It was a forecast of Lenin’s
fature policy.

And he was right in his psychology. The appeal had
its instantaneous effect. The crowd took Lenin to its
bosom, this strange, bald-headed little man, forty-seven



KERENSKY, LENIN, AND PEACE 45

years old, whom few of them had ever seen before, but
whose name already meant so much to them. Sweeping
aside the committee of welcome, in the early dusk of a
rainy evening, they brought Lenin riding triumphantly
and ominously upon an armoured car to the luxurious
home of the fashionable ballerina, Kshesinskaia, head-
quarters of the Bolshevik Party. (This incongruity, too,
must have tickled Lenin’s sense of humour !) Russia was
paying its first salute to its future ruler.

A few days before, at a cabinet meeting, Kerensky had
exclaimed petulantly, impatient with his colleagues :
“ Just you wait, Lenin himself is coming, then the real
thing will begin ”.

4

It was, indeed, a strange Petrograd to which Lenin had
returned. Life had become a tremendous gamble and an
air of uncertainty overhung the events of cach day. No
one now believed in the stability of the Provisional Govern-
ment, but they did not yet know what would take its
place. Demonstrations and counter-demonstrations filled
the streets, often leading to opcn fracas and death. Yet
the night life of the capital went on as usual. Theatres and
cabarets remained open ; at the “ Europe ”’, Jimmy, the
barman from the old New York Waldorf-Astoria, continued
to purvey his famous concoctions. The ballet season was
in full swing, with Karsavina enchanting her public, while
at the opera Chaliapin had never been in better voice.
There was even an appearance of a sufficiency of food in
the city, though reports of scarcity still poured in from
the provinces. A strange sense of unreality permeated
everything.

In the political field all waited with anxiety for the
Prime Minister’s statement on foreign policy which should
disavow Miliukov’s imperialist views regarding the acquisi-
tion of Constantinople. The people hoped for, and expected,
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a declaration which should abandon territorial aggrandize-
ment once and for all, and which should pave the way
for the negotiation of that peace for which they longed
so ardently. The impossibility of reconciling peace with
loyalty to the Allies did not trouble the Russian people at
this moment. They desired peace above all things, and they
regarded it as the primary duty of the Provisional Giovern-
ment to give it to them.

The promised statement was made by Prince Lvov on
April 27 and bore traces of grave searchings ol heart on
the part of the Government to achieve the impossible. 1t
stated that the vital interests of Russia required the

defence by all means of our own inheritance and the liberation of
the country. . . . Leaving to the will of the people in close union with
our Allies the final decision of all questions connected with the war
and its termination, the Provisional Government considers it it
right and duty to declare that the purpose of free Russia is not
domination over other peoples, nor spoliation of their national
possessions, nor the violent occupation of forcign territories, but, the
establishment of a permanent peace on the basis of the sell-deter-
mination of peoples. The Russian people are not aiming to increase
their power abroad at the expense of other peoples. . . . These prin-
ciples will be made the basis of the foreign policy of the Provisional
Government, which will firmly carry out the will of the people and
will protect the rights of our fatherland, at the same time fully
observing all obligations made in regard to our Allies.

This statement, which in tone was in marked contrast
with Miliukov’s note of March 18, was a victory for the
Soviet and was in accordance with its principles of foreign
policy. On all sides it was acclaimed as a sign that at lagt
the Provisional Government would take steps to persuade
the other Allied Governments to restate their war aims as
a preliminary to a general and an early peace.

It was in transmitting this statement to the Russian
diplomatic corps in the Allied countries on May 1 that

1 Cumming and Pettit, p. 10.
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Miliukov made his final blunder. In a covering Note to
each diplomat he took it upon himself to interpret the
statement of Prince Livov as being in the nature of a sop
to the Soviet and purely for home consumption, his purpose
being to allay the suspicions and fears which had arisen
in Allied countries as a result of the Soviet proclamation
of March 27. “ The declaration of the Provisional Govern-
ment,” he wrote, “ being imbued with the free spirit of
free democracy, naturally cannot afford the least pretext
for assumption that the demolition of the old structure
had entailed any slackening on the part of Russia in the
common struggle of all the Allies. On the contrary, the
nation’s determination to bring the war to a decisive
victory has been accentuated, owing to the sense of
responsibility which is shown by all in common and each
one of us in particular.”?

At once a storm of fury and criticism broke out against
the Foreign Minister, and in a less degree against the War
Minister, Guchkoff, who was also suspected of “imperialist”
leanings. Monster anti-war demonstrations filled the streets,
and clashes with the police and troops occurred. All the
bitter class-hatred of revolution secured an outlet, and
Lenin fanned it with an ardent zeal. Daily, almost
hourly, he addressed the crowds from a raised platform
before the home of Kshesinskaia, directly opposite the
British Embassy, where the Troitsky bridge spans the Neva.
Quietly, without the arm-waving hysteria of Kerensky,
his hands buried in the side pockets of his old double-
breasted blue jacket, Lenin talked with absolute assured-
ness of purpose. He asked one question only of the crowds:
“What do you get from war ¢ ” and he gave them the
answer they knew so well—*“ Wounds, suffering, hunger,
and death.” “ Will you go back to the factories and the
land to work under the capitalists again”’, he taunted them,
“ —those of you who are left alive ? ” And back came the

1 Cumming and Pettit, p. 11.
E
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roar of thousands, “ We will go back to the factories and
the land to take them for ourselves ! Dolg) boorjooiev !

Within the Soviet, Lenin, who had now brought his
own faction to heel, establishing his dominance over them,
took occasion to point out that Miliukov’s * duplicity ”
demonstrated how impossible it was to co-opcrate with the
bourgeoisie as represented by the Provisional Government.
In this he received the support of the Menshcviks, but the
Soviet as a whole was not yet ready for the break. They
were still scared by the ruthlessness of Lenin’s ideas.

The Provisional Government bowed before the storm.
On the evening of May 4 it presented to the Soviet an
“ explanation ” of the Miliukov Note, endeavouring to
bring it more into line with the Soviet Manifesto of March
27. It declared that “ free Russia does not aim at the domi-
nation of other nations or at depriving them of their patri-
mony, or at occupying by force foreign territories, but that
its object is to establish a durable peace on the basis of
the rights of nations to decide their own destinies.”! This
explanation was accepted by the Soviet late in the evening,
and a motion of confidence in the Provisional (Government
was carried, after a stormy and acrimonious debate, by a
majority of only 35 in a vote of 2500. In view of this
Guchkoff resigned on May 18 and Miliukov on May 17. On
this last date Leon Trotsky arrived in Petrograd from
America.

The part played by the Petrograd Soviet in the Miliukov
affair clearly illustrated to all the amazing increase in its
power, and the corresponding diminution in that of the
Provisional Government. Prince Lvov, in reconstructing
his Cabinet, had the choice of either following the advice of
the military circles and suppressing the Soviet by force, or
of allying himself with it. He chose alliance, and opened
negotiations for a coalition. Participation in the Provisional
Government was bitterly opposed by Lenin and the Bol-

! Cumming and Pettit, p. 12.
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sheviks ; Trotsky, though not himself a member of the
party, allied himself with them on this and subsequent
issues, utilizing the occasion to make his first public speech
after his return. He advocated the handing over of all
power to the revolutionary people and voiced for the first
time the slogan which was later to sweep the Bolsheviks
into power, ““ All power to the Soviets ™.

But, on May 18, the Soviet agreed to the entrance of
Socialist Ministers into the Cabinet, and a new Govern-
ment was formed under Prince Lvov, consisting of six
prominent Socialists—Chernov, Tseretelli, and Skobelcv,
from the Soviet, among them—and nine Liberals and
Radicals. Kerensky became Minister for War, and Teres-
chenko succeeded Miliukov as Minister for Foreign Affairs.
In its ministerial declaration issued on the samec day, the
Government declared that “ in full harmony with the entire
people 7 it rejected the idea of a separate peace, but that its
aim was ““ to bring about at the earliest possible moment a
general peace ” based upon a policy of non-annexation and
self-determination. Having thus endcavoured to ecet all
parties, the declaration added that the question of transfer
of land to the workers—the point with which Lenin had
made so much play in his harangues—would be left to the
Constituent Assembly, whose convocation they would make
every effort to secure ““ as soon as possible . The postpone-
ment of this vital point was an added weapon to Lenin’s
armoury, and one which he did not hesitate to use.

Three days previously, on May 15, the Petrograd Soviet
had issued a Manifesto to the “ Socialists of all countries ”,
in pursuance of its original declaration of March 27. It
definitely declared against a separate peace, which “ would
free the hands of the Austro-German Alliance ”, but urged
the Socialists of the world to force their respective govern-
ments to adopt a “ platform of peace without annexations
or indemnities, on the basis of the self-determination of
_ peoples.” This appeal included also the Socialists of the
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Central Powers, and, in order to co-ordinate their cfforts
with those in Allied countries, the Pctrograd Soviet de-
clared its intention of calling an International Socialist
Conference at the earliest opportunity.*

This declaration by the Soviet had a disastrous cffect
on the way in which the Ministerial Statement of
the new Provisional Government was received in Allied
countries. British and French statesmen, unwilling to
differentiate between the two bodies and falling victims
to the force of their own propaganda, ended by mistrusting
both Government and Soviet alike. Neglectful of the
reports which were reaching them from their Embassies
in Petrograd and obsessed by the idea that German influ-
ence was rampant there, Great Britain and France
chose to suspect both declarations as being inspired by the
evil one. “The formulae of all these declarations are
ambiguous catches and cleverly laid traps, not invented in
Petrograd but imported from abroad, their origin being
clear ”’, Mr. Bonar Law informed the House of Commons
on May 30.

The Allied Governments did not want to believe that
Russia was out of the war, and ignored the continually
increasing volume of evidence which pointed to this fact.
For now both the Bolshevik and the Menshevik press were
clamouring for peace. “ The passionate desire for peace,
peace of whatever kind, aye, even a peace costing the loss
of ten governments [4.e. provinces] is growing ever more
plainly evident ”, wrote a military correspondent in the
Rabochaya Gazeta, the leading Menshevik daily, at this
time. “ Men dream of it passionately, even though it is

1 It was largely due to this resolution that the Dutch Socialist leader
Troelstra took the initiative, in April 1917, in summoning the so-called
Stockholm Conference. This gathering was barren of any concreto
result, chiefly owing to the fact that the Socialists of the Allied countries
were forbidden by their governments to attend it. There were present
only representatives of Socialist parties of the neutral States, Germany,
Austria, and Russia.
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not yet spoken of at meetings and in resolutions, even
though all enlightened elements of the army fight against
this movement.” *

There was only one way to counteract the growing
demoralization within the army, and that was to let the
soldiers know that the Provisional Government was doing
everything in its power to end hostilities and to bring about
the conclusion of peace. This, of course, the Provisional
Government could not do as long as it remained bound
by the Tripartite Agreement of September 1914, by which
Great Britain, France, and Russia undertook not to make
a separate peace with the Central Powers. Lacking the
courage to face facts and to request the Allies for release
from pledges which Russia could no longer honour, the
Provisional Government staggered from disaster to disaster
in a desperate and futile attempt to save its face. Thus,
when Tereschenko suggested on June 16 to the Allies the
summoning of an Allied conference “ for the revision of
the agreements concerning the final objects of the war 7,
he specifically stated that the agreement of September 5,
1914, “ must not be a subject of discussion at this con-
ference ” ;2 and on the followmg day the Duma passed
a resolutlon in favour of carrying out the military offensive
which had been agreed upon at the Inter-Allied Conference
of January. Tereschenko’s suggestion received no sym-
pathetic response in London and Paris, the Allied Govern-
ments merely intimating that the summer offensive was
still expected of Russia and should be launched as soon
as possible. A further blow was thereby inflicted on the .
Provisional Government, to some extent a self-inflicted
blow.

Probably the wisest course, both for the Western
Powers and the Provisional Government, would have been
to release Russia from her obligations, a course which was

1 Rabochaya Gazeta, May 26, 1917.
? Cumming and Pettit, p. 26.



52 KERENSKY, LENIN, AND PEACE

actually proposed by Sir George Buchanan after the
November Revolution. For practical purposes Russia was
already out of the war, and the July offensive, when
launched, added nothing to the success of Allied arms
but merely opened the way for a substantial German
advance. Peace with Germany at this moment and the
convoking of the Constituent Assembly would have removed
one of the highest trumps from Lenin’s hand, and would
have done much to restore the confidence of the people in
the Provisional Government. As it was, the Provisional
Government treated the world to a performance of political
suicide.

The new offensive was bitterly opposed by the
Bolsheviks, and Kerensky, in his attempt to reorganize
the army, had to contend with their well-organized pro-
paganda along the whole front. He put forth the whole
of his turgid eloquence. He wept in his exhortations,
pled with the troops to fight for the defence of de-
mocracy, and begged for their confidence. It was during
this campaign for reorganization that Kerensky and Lenin
met for the only time in their political carcers. Before the
first All-Russian Congress of Soviets they spoke from the
same platform and Kerensky taunted his opponent with
favouring a separate peace. Lenin indignantly denied the
accusation. “It is a lie”, he cried."“ Down with 4 separate
peace ! We Russian revolutionaries will never stand for it.
To us separate peace means entering into an agreement
with the German robbers, who are quite as predatory
as the others. But an agreement with Russian capital in
the Russian Provisional Government is also a separate
peace.”* For Lenin the only cessation of hostilitics was

1 Lenin, Collected Works, xx. Book 2, pp. 210-211. According to
German military sources, the Provisional Government, to hide its
military weakness and divert attention from its preparation for an
attack, initiated a “ peace offensive ” in the spring and ecarly summer
of 1917. Conversations took place in Stockholm between Erzberger and
Russian agents which Erzberger at least took very scriously, for on
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one brought about by, and based upon, the assumption
of power by the “ proletariat’’ in all countries.

The offensive was duly launched on July 1, and the
Russian troops fought with their customary courage,
despite their acute war-weariness and lack of equipment.
Few events in the war were more tragic than this last
Allied offensive on the Eastern Front, carried out by men
whose one desire was for peace and a return home, and of
whom, in many cases, only one in six or eight possessed a
rifle. By sheer impetus they achieved a not inconsiderable
advance, and, within the first twenty-four hours, had
captured more than 36,000 prisoners.

Yet there were many units who would not attack, who
flung down their rifles and stood sullenly with folded arms,
while their officers, threats and prayers alike proving use-
less, spat at the silent men and went towards the enemy
alone. The poison was already at work.

The offensive neither surprised nor discouraged the
German High Command, and when they began their
counter-attack on July 19 it was apparent how greatly
the Russian morale had suffered. Bolshevik agents ap-
peared in every division and the success of their work was
only too clear; regiment after regiment revolted, murdered
its officers, and then hesitated, not knowing what to do next.
The front was paralysed. The German advance gave the
last touch to the disintegration which the Bolshevik agita-
tion had initiated. The effect was ghastly. A panic spread
in the ranks of an army already in a state of dissolution.
There was scarcely any question of resistance. The retreat
paralysed even the will of those individual units which were -
June 11 he wrote to Ludendorff that the moment had arrived for the
conclusion of an armistice. Both the Foreign Office and the General
Staff were warned to be in readiness for the formal opening of negotia-
tions, but when the final preparations for the July offensive were com-
pleted these tentative feelers were speedily withdrawn. (Cf. Hoffmann,

ii. 169-170 ; Mathias Erzberger, Erlebnisse vm Weltkrieg (Berlin, 1920),
Pp. 237-239.)
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prepared to take up fighting positions. The troops melted
away before the eyes of their commanders. “ The army
voted for peace with its legs ”’, Lenin afterwards declared.

Tarnopol was captured at the end of July, and on
September 2 the German armies crossed the Dvina,
taking Riga on the following day. Only the difficulty of
transport prevented a more rapid advance, and hostilities
on the Eastern Front were virtually brought to an end by
the middle of October with the occupation of the islands
of Moon, Dagd, and Oesel, in the Gulf of Riga.

In Petrograd the Provisional Government was rocked
by one catastrophe after another. On July 17, when the
offensive had shot its bolt and had failed to reach its ob-
Jectives, and the Cadets in the Cabinct, including the
Premier, had resigned on the issuc of the rccognition of
¢ Ukrainian autonomy’, the Bolsheviks engineered their first
coup d’état, an abortive movement, lacking in preparation
and proper organization. It grew spontancously out of a
mass meeting of disgruntled machine-gunners in Potrograd.
Lenin was out of town, recuperating in the country after
a slight-illness, and in his absence his more spirited licu-
tenants considered that the combination of a Cabinet crisis,
the meeting of the first All-Russian Congress of Sovicts, and
a revolt of troops was a suitable moment for a political
uprising.

For two days fierce street-fighting took place and then
the forces of the Provisional Government gained the upper
hand, due more to the unpreparedness of the Bolsheviks
than to their own efficiency. The repressive methods which
followed were characterized by the vacillation of a govern-
ment anxious to stamp out its enemies but uncertain of its
power to do so, and were in marked contrast with those
ruthless but efficient methods which Noske employed
against the Spartacists in Berlin in 1918 and 1919.
The Bolshevik press was silenced; Trotsky, Krupskaya,
Kollontai, and others were arrested and condemned to
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death, but their sentences were commuted and they were
subsequently rcleased. Lenin, disguised as an engine-
driver, escaped with Zinoviev to Finland, where he
remained in hiding for the next three months, though
kecping in constant touch with the party by means of
secret letters.

Kerensky, relieved for the moment from the Bol-
shevik menace, devoted his attention to the reorganization
of the Government, and on July 22 was able to form
a Cabinet based upon all parties with the exception of
the extreme Right and Left, the Monarchists and the
Bolsheviks. General Kornilov was appointed to succeed
Brussilov and was to try to check the German advance, and
on August 1 Kerensky issued a further pathetic assurance
to the Allied Powers that Russia would continue in the war
to the best of her ability.! But this statement struck the
first note of that hopeless fatalism which was beginning to
envelop the Social Revolutionary movement in Russia.
Kerensky, now Premier, realized only too well that his
only chance of success depended upon an immediate peace
move by the Allies and the calling of the Constituent
Assembly ; he realized, too, the impossibility of achieving
either.

The attitude of the Allies towards the Provisional
Government had changed considerably from the bene-
volent expectation with which they had greeted the March
Revolution. The gravity and despondency of the reports
from the Embassies and missions in Petrograd, describing
the continued and increasing confusion which surrounded
the Government, had given rise to grave disillusionment
mingled with irritation and resentment. The fact that the
approval of the British Foreign Office had been requested
and given for the appointment of three different indi-
viduals as Ambassador to the Court of St. James’, none of
whom had taken the trouble to come to London, had

1 Cumming and Pettit, pp. 33-34.
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soured the outlook of Downing Strect not a little, and the
sole reply vouchsafed to Kerensky's latest assurances,
which arrived in London at the moment of an Inter-
Allied Conference, was ““ a stern protest against the con-
tinuation of disruption and anarchy in Russia ”, a protest
on the despatch of which, oddly enough, the Russian
Chargé d’Affaires was asked to express his views.!
Meanwhile the Kerensky Government continued its
dismal course towards the inevitable débdcle. Disasters
multiplied during the autumn. The capture of Riga by the
Germans on September 3 brought Petrograd within raiding
distance for Zeppeling. The front had virtually collapsed.
In desperation at the inability of the (fovernment to deal
with the situation cither at home or in the face of the enemy,
the Commander-in-Chief, General Kornilov, *“ the man on
horse-back ”, attempted a military coup d'état (September
9-15), as fantastic as it was ill-organized. In essence it had
the makings of a great patriotic movement --Lenin de-
scribed it as a “formidable and a really unbelievably
dramatic stroke "—but because of its immaturity of con-
ception and inefficiency of exccution, it became, in cffect,
an opéra bouffe affair, since Kornilov’s Cossacks casily
surrendered to the armed workers’ battalions of Petro-
grad. Kerensky showed himself as barren of judgement in
this matter as in the rising of July. Then he had had the
chance of suppressing the Bolsheviks once and for all, but
he had failed to take it; now, instead of reaching an under-
standing with the one man whom the army showed any
sign of following, Kerensky antagonized him to the point
of open insurrection, and to quell this it was necessary to
play into the hands of the Bolsheviks by arming the popu-
lace. Once the workers had arms in their hands they would
not surrender them. From this moment the fate of the
Provisional Government became a matter of wecks.

! Constantin Nabokoff, The Ordeal of a Diplomat (London, 1921),
Pp- 128-130.
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Despite the failure of the Kornilov adventure, the
Cabinet fell and Kerensky was established at the head of a
directorate of five. A Democratic Conference on a widely
representative basis was called at Moscow on September 27.
But little came of it save a further reorganization of the
Government. Events now gained such momentum that the
Provisional Government was hurtling to its fall. On October
3 and 8, respectively, the Moscow and Petrograd Soviets
came under the control of Bolshevik majorities, with Trotsky
as president at Petrograd. Meanwhile, Kerensky, in a des-
perate cffort to evolve some temporary substitute for the
Constituent Assembly, proclaimed thecreationof the Council
of the Russian Republic (also known as the Preliminary
Parliament) in which all classes of the population were
represented. This body, a consultative assembly without
any legislative power, held its first session on October 20,
when the Bolshevik delegates withdrew after a demon-
stration, proclaiming their refusal to participate in a
“ Government of Treason to the People ” and announcing
their intention of summoning the All-Russian Congress
of Soviets to meet in Petrograd in the first week of Novem-
ber “ to take over the government of Russia .

This was the situation at the moment when it was
announced that the Inter-Allied Conference on War Aims,
for which Kerensky and Tereschenko had prayed so long,
was to meet in Paris on November 10. It came to the dis-
tracted Government like an eleventh-hour reprieve, and it
was at once proposed that Tereschenko and old General
Alexeiev should represent Russia. But the Petrograd Soviet,
jealous of its vastly increased power and still profoundly
suspicious of the ¢ imperialistic” aims of the Government,
insisted that their representative Skobelev should be in-
cluded in the delegation, and issued to him the now famous
Nakaz for a peace based upon the principles of “No an-
nexation, no indemnities, and the right of self-determination
of peoples .
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The Provisional Government objected to Skobelev, and,
on the appearance of the Nakaz, the Allicd Governments
protested vehemently through their Ambassadors against
his being sent as a delegate. Finally Mr. Bonar Law ad-
ministered the crowning disappointment to Russia. ““ As
far as I know,”” he said, in answer to a question in the House
of Commons, “ the Paris Conference will not discuss the
aims of the war at all, but only the methods of conduct-
ing 1t.”

Meanwhile, General Verkhovsky, the Minister for War,
declared, in a statement to the Government, that in the
state of chaos prevailing in the Russian army the only
hope for the Republic was to press the Allics to offer
peace. At once his statement was scized upon by the
Bolshevik press as a proposal for a separate peace independ-
ently of the Allics, and a vchement attack was launched.
The Minister was given indefinite leave of absence, and
Kerensky, for a last brief moment, hecame supreme
military dictator of Russia.

On October 23, Lenin, who since the July rising had
been in hiding in Finland, returned sccretly to Lesnoye,
near Petrograd. Throughout his period of exile he had
poured forth letter after letter to his party, encouraging
them, guiding their actions, and directing a torrent of
cold and reasoned arguments against the Provisional
Government. At no other time does Lenin’s amazing
genius for propaganda show as clearly as in these letters,
classical examples of revolutionary literature.*

The headquarters of the Bolshevik Party had been
transferred from the palace of the prima ballerina to cqually
incongruous surroundings in the former fashionable school
for young ladies, the Smolny Institute, in a northern
suburb of Petrograd. Here, in the rooms where, in other
and happier days, had been taught deportment and the
technique of the drawing-room, the party tacticians per-

! Lenin, Collected Works, xxi. Book 1, pp. 219-279.
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fected their plans for that armed uprising which, they felt,
alone could save the Revolution from the bourgeois in-
fluence of Kerensky and his fellow doctrinaires.

The first meetings on October 23 and 29 of Lenin with
his comrades were at Lesnoye, it still being too dangerous
for him to come to the capital. Here, to Trotsky, Zino-
viev, Stalin, Sverdlov, Kamenev, Dzerzhinsky, Kollontai,
Sokolnikov, and three others, Lenin declared that the time
had come to reap the harvest of propaganda which the
Bolshevik agitators had been sowing ever since the July
rising. Now was the moment for the Bolsheviks to seize
the power. There could be no further delay. It was now or
never.

All agreed save Kamenev and Zinoviev. They considered
the Issuc too great a gamble, too uncertain of success. They
preferred to wait until their programme and their exposure
of the Mensheviks and the Social Revolutionaries had
become more widely known to the masses. They feared a
repetition of the July days and the consequent success
of counter-revolutionary movements such as Kornilov’s.

Failing to make their views prevail in the Central
Committee, they resigned on October 29 and took the
drastic step of attacking Lenin’s policy in the non-party
paper, Novaya Zhizn (October 31). For this breach of faith,
Lenin branded  this little pair of comrades ” as “ strike-
breakers ”’, subjecting both them and their doctrines to
annihilating criticisms, and demanded their exclusion from
the party. This threat of excommunication was not enforced,
and both Kamenev and Zinoviev continued their opposition
to the policy of an armed uprising until the very eve of the
November Revolution, but they did not again carry their
dissension beyond the party circle.*

Meanwhile the Government, though declaring that they
were fully informed of the preparations of the Bolsheviks,
continued their plans for the forthcoming Allied Conference.

1 Lenin, Collected Works, xxi. Book 2, pp. 106-137, 325-341.
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Tereschenko in the Council of the Republic demanded the
withdrawal of the Nakaz to Skobelev.

The combination of forces which unites us to the Allies is favour-
able to the interests of Russia. . . . It is therefore important that
our views on the question of war and peace shall be in accord with
the view of the Allies as clearly and as precisely as possible. . . . To
avoid all misunderstanding, I must say frankly that Russia must
present at the Paris Conference one point of vicw.

Yet, while the Council wrangled petulantly over words
and phrases, the structure of the Provisional Government
was already being undermined. This was October 29, and
on that day the Petrograd Soviet had created its Military
Revolutionary Committee. The day following, the first
prop was struck from beneath the ramshackle administra-
tion sitting in the Marinsky Palace. The regiments of the
Petrograd garrison unanimously adopted the following
resolution : “ The Petrograd Garrison no longer recognizes
the Provisional Government. The Petrograd Soviet is our
Government. We will obey only the orders of the Petrograd
Soviet through the Military Revolutionary Committer.”

A third party meeting was held at Lesnoye on November
8. Lenin, who had constantly urged the necessity of swift
action, still met with opposition from those who, though
converted to the principle of an armed uprising, were yet
hesitant as to the ripeness of the moment. Plans for the
revolt were discussed on November 8, but even then Lenin
was unable to get agreement on a date. The Sccond Congress
of Soviets was due to meet on November 7, and he was
convinced that they must strike before that body had had
time to organize itself, preferring the certainty of seizing
power by force to the uncertainty of achieving it by popular
vote. On the evening of the 6th he wrote to the Central
Committee his final appeal for action : ““ It is as clear as
can be that delaying the uprising now really means death.
. « . History will not forgive delay by revolutionists who
could be victorious to-day, while they risk losing much
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to-morrow. . . . It would be disaster to wait for the un-
certain voting of November 7. The people have a right and
a duty to decide such questions not by voting but by force.
. . . To delay action is the same as death.”?

Later that same evening, Lenin came disguised from
Lesnoye to Smolny to take direct charge of the operations.
His presence, though concealed, destroyed the last remnants
of uncertainty, and the death-blow to the tottering pro-
vigional régime was dealt on November 7.

The Kerensky régime perished, as it had lived, in-
gloriously and with infirmity of purpose. Red guards had
been organized on a large scale in expectation of fierce
opposition, but the Provisional Government simply melted
away. Kerensky on the morning of the 7th left Petrograd
to look for an army. He neither found one, nor returned.
A few hours later the remaining members of the Govern-
ment, betrayed by their own guards, were arrested during
their last session at the Marinsky Palace. Their final
defenders were bewildered old Palace servants, a handful
of army cadets, and some singularly ineffective military
amazons.

1 Lenin, Collected Works, xxi. Book 2, pp. 144-145.
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III

FROM THE DECREE OF PEACE TO
THE ARMISTICE

1

In the problem of peace the Bolsheviks faced a crucial
test. As it had been a vital issue in the struggle against the
Provisional Government, so now it was a vital issue in the
activity of the Soviet régime. The great masses of the
people yearned for peace, yet this was not a simple problem.
Peace had to be considered in relation to the Revolution,
and its negotiation had to be in accord with the new
revolutionary policy. First, however, it was necessary to
abandon the former policy of the Provisional Government
of attempting through diplomatic channels to influence
the Entente Powers. That policy had collapsed, and
collapsed miserably. Vigorous action for a general peace
was demanded by circumstances.

The Bolshevik Party had never included a separate
peace in its platform. It was in fact completely outside
the scope of the party programme, which declared for
a general European peace based upon the dictatorship of
the proletariat. The party had, however, from the very
first, advocated an immediate peace on the lines of the
Manifesto issued by the Petrograd Soviet on March 27.2

This had ever been uppermost in Lenin’s mind during
his weeks of exile between the abortive rising of July and
the coup d’état of November. In his instructions to his
followers, written from his hiding-place, he stressed the need
for peace. It is precisely in the war against the Germans

1 See above, p. 29.
66



66 THE DECREE OF PEACE

that action is now necessary : 4 us necessary immediately and
unreservedly to propose peace to them on definite terms. If
that is done there will be either an early peace or else a
revolutionary war” (August 1917); and again: “ the
Bolsheviks if they take power can offer the people an
immediate proposal of peace.” Finally, in his article,
“ The Aims of Revolution ”, published in mid-September,
Lenin declared :

The Soviet Government must smmediately formulate proposals to
all belligerent countries (that is simultaneously to their Governments
and to the masses of workers and peasants) to negotiate a general
peace on the spot on democratic terms, and to conclude an armistice
at once if even for only three months . . . such a peace will not have
the good fortune to please the capitalists, but it will receive such a
warm welcome from the people, will evoke such an explosion of
enthusiasm in the whole world, such indignation against the inter-
minable war of plunder waged by the bourgeoisie, that very probably
we shall obtain at one slide both an armistice and the opportunity to
broach peace negotiations. For the workers’ revolt against the war
grows everywhere with undiminished vigour.!

It was upon this basis, therefore—a complete mis-
conception of Western European psychology—that the
first diplomatic actions of the Soviet Government took
form. The theory was that only the declaration of the prin-
ciples of a general peace was needed for the peoples to rise
and compel the Governments to enter into the necessary
negotiations. Clear from the first, this attitude became
even more marked as the Brest-Litovsk Conference drew
near,

Buoyed up by the memories of the German naval
mutiny at Kiel in July, Lenin allowed himself to believe
that the proletarian revolution in Germany was only
““ around the corner ”—an error of judgement for which
Russia had later to pay dearly. “As soon as ever the
Bolsheviks are in power,” he declared, ““the German

1 Lenin, Collected Works, xxi. Book 1, p. 259.
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proletariat will compel the Kaiser to start negotiations for
peace.”

Little time was lost in putting Lenin’s peace theories
into operation. At a quarter-past five on the morning of
November 8, there arrived at Smolny a telegram from
the Northern Front bringing the greetings of the army to
the new régime and thereby setting a seal of recognition on
the coup. Pandemonium broke loose, men weeping and
embracing each other. The burden of fatigue and tension
of the past twelve hours was forgotten in this moment of
success. But the breathing-space was only a brief one. A
crushing anxiety descended again upon Smolny, enveloping
it as though in a shroud. The Bolsheviks had seized the
power ; the Petrograd Soviet had overthrown the Govern-
ment and the army had felicitated the new revolution, but
the Congress of Soviets, who as yet had not even seen
Lenin, had still to ratify the establishment of the dic-
tatorship. And then, what of the rest of Russia? What of
the world ? '

Throughout November 8 Lenin stamped with cold
contempt and fierce invective on the waverings of those
amongst his followers, who, like Kamenev, frightened by
the very magnitude of their success, favoured the sharing
of power with the Mensheviks and the Social Revolution-
aries, thereby broadening the basis of the Revolution. To
these hesitants Lenin replied that he would co-operate
with any one who would accept the Bolshevik programme.
“ We won’t give way an inch ”, he declared.

His intransigence was justified. As evening drew on,
word came that the Social Revolutionaries would not leave
the Petrograd Soviet and would continue to co-operate
with its Military Revolutionary Committee.

“ See, they are following ”, said Lenin.

All attention was now centred upon the meeting of the
Soviet Congress which, since one o’clock in the afternoon,
had been waiting to receive Lenin’s report on the coup. It



68 THE DECREE OF PEACE

became known that he would place his peace policy im-
mediately before the delegates. Excitement ran high, the
air was alive with expectancy and speculation.

It was nearly nine o’clock before the Bolshevik leaders
reached the Congress hall, staggering with fatigue, having
neither slept nor eaten, their faces drawn and grey, yet
exultant. Here it seemed was sheer fantasy ; while the
success of the coup d’éfat was by no means yet assured,
they were about to discuss the question of world peace.

John Reed, eyewitness of these events, left a vivid
record :

A thundering wave of cheers announced the entrance of the pre-
sidium, with Lenin—great Lenin—among them. A short, stocky
figure with a big head set down on his shoulders, bald and bulging.
Little eyes, a snubbish nose, wide generous mouth, and heavy chin ;
clean-shaven now but already beginning to bristle with the well-
known beard of his past and future. Dressed in shabby clothes, his
trousers much too long for him. Unimpressive, to be the idol of a
mob, loved and revered as perhaps few leaders in history have been.
. . . Now Lenin, gripping the edge of the reading stand, let his little
winking eyes travel over the crowd as he stood there waiting, appar-
ently oblivious to the long-rolling ovation, which lasted several
minutes. When it was finished, he said simply, “ We shall now pro-
ceed to construct the Socialist order ! ” Again that overwhelming
roar.

- “ The first thing is the adoption of practical measures to realise
peace. . . . We shall offer peace to the peoples of all the belligerent
countries upon the basis of the Soviet terms—no annexations, no
inderonities, and the right of self-determination of peoples. At the
same time, according to our promise, we shall publish and repudiate
the secret treaties. . . . The question of War and Peace is so clear
that I think that I may, without preamble, read the project of a
Proclamation to the Peoples of All the Belligerent Countries. . . .”

His great mouth, seeming to smile, opened wide as he spoke ;
his voice was hoarse—not unpleasantly so, but as if it had hardened
that way after years and years of speaking—and went on monoton-
ously with the effect of being able to go on forever. . . . For emphasis
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he bent forward slightly. No gestures. And before him, a thousand
simple faces looking up in intent adoration.!

The Decree, a lengthy document,® proposed an im-
mediate opening of negotiations for a “ just and democratic
peace ’, without annexations and without indemnities.
It declared the intention of the Government to put an end
to secret diplomacy and to publish all secret treaties of
the Tsarist régime. It advised the concluding of an im-
mediate armistice for three months on all fronts to facilitate
the negotiations.

When the thunder of applause had died away, Lenin
spoke again. He asked that the Congress approve the
Decree immediately, leaving it to the Constituent As-
sembly to ratify the peace treaty which should result there-
from. But he left them under no illusions :

This proposal of peace will meet with resistance on the part of
the imperialist Governments—we don’t fool ourselves on that score.
But we hope that revolution will break out in all the belligerent
countries. . . . Probably the imperialist Governments will not answer
our appeal—but we shall not issue an ultimatum to which it will be
easy to say no. If the German proletariat realises that we are ready
to consider all offers of peace, revolution will break out in Germany,
but to agree to examine all conditions of peace does not mean to
accept them.

For an hour the Congress, faction by faction, recorded
its approval of the Decree in varying measure. Finally
Kamenev put it to the vote of the whole. For approval ?
A sea of hands was raised, waving enthusiastically. Against ?
For an instant a single hand rose in disapproval, but a
sudden outburst of protest quickly brought it down again.
The vote was unanimous.

As by a common impulse the delegates found them-
selves upon their feet, breaking into a hurricane of sound

1 John Reed, Ten Days that Shook the World (New York, 1919),
pp. 125-127. 2 For text see Appendix I, p. 375.
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which developed into the chorus of the * Internationale . A
grizzled old soldier was sobbing like a child, a young work-
man, his face shining with sweat and exaltation, repeated
over and over, “ The war is ended ! The war is ended ! ”

So peace came to Russia.

But things did not long remain in this idyllic state.
The Revolution had been made but not consolidated, and
the Bolsheviks had to overcome both armed and passive
resistance before they could claim to be masters of the
situation.

When, on the morning of November 10, Trotsky, as
Commissar for Foreign Affairs, went to take possession
of the Foreign Office and ordered the Decree of Peace to be
translated into foreign languages, six hundred officials
resigned and walked out of the Ministry. His colleague,
Uritsky, who demanded the texts of the secret treaties
for publication, was literally thrown out of the Archives
.Department, and of the Administrative Staff only one
member of the Economic Section remained. The employeces
of the State Bank refused to pay out money to the new
Government. Meanwhile, on November 11-14, occurred
the Cadet Rising and Kerensky’s military adventure at
Gatchina.

But within a few days these efforts had been suppressed,
and both Moscow and Petrograd were definitely in the
hands of the Bolsheviks. Gradually the machinery of
government, thrown out of gear by the coup d’état, was made
to resume its usual functions, and, on November 20, Trotsky
circularized the Allied Ambassadors, acquainting them
formally with the change of government and calling their
attention to the Decree of Peace. This note was to be
considered in the nature of a * formal proposal for an
immediate armistice on all fronts and the immediate
opening of peace negotiations ”.! On the following day a
similar letter was addressed to the diplomatic representa-

! Cumming andfPettit, p. 44.
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tives of neutral States requesting their assistance in
bringing the peace proposals “in an official manner to
the knowledge of the enemy Governments .

The Allied Ambassadors and Ministers agreed among
themselves, at a conference on November 22, to take no
notice of Trotsky’s advances and to advise their respective
Governments to make no reply to the communication “ as
the pretended government was established by force and
not recognized by the Russian people .2 This advice was
generally followed, and the Allied Governments neither
recognized the existence of the new régime nor its proposals
of peace.? They went even further, and transferred their
recognition from the Council of Commissars in Petrograd
to the Stavkae (G.H.Q.) at Moghilev.

Meanwhile a very definite step towards peace had been
taken on November 21, when Krylenko, the Commissar
for War, had authorized troop fraternization on all fronts,
and had instructed General Dukhonin, Commander-in-
Chief since the arrest and disappearance of Kornilov, “ to
address to the military authorities of the hostile armies
a proposal immediately to cease military operations with
a view to opening peace negotiations .4

General Dukhonin gave no indication either that he
had received the orders of the Council of Commissars or
that he had any intention of carrying them into effect.
When taxed directly on the night of the 22nd, he declared
that he could only obey the order of “a government
sustained by the army and by the country ”. He was
at once dismissed by telegraph, Krylenko being appointed

1 Cumming and Pettit, p. 45.

2 U.8. Foreign Relations, 1918 : Russia, i. 245.

"8 Buchanan, ii. 223 ; and Mr. Balfour’s statement in the House of
Commons, November 26, 1917 (Hansard, col. 1614).

¢ U.8. Foreign Relations, 1918 : Russia, i. 247 James Bunyan

and H. H. Fisher, The Bolshevik Revolution, 1917-1918, Documents and

Materials (Stanford University, California, 1934), p. 233; 8. A. Piont-
kovsky, Khrestomatiia po istorii oktobrskos revoliutsis, p. 265.
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to succeed him, with Dybenko at the Commissariat for
War.! Lenin, in a broadcast wireless message to all troops,
made public the circumstances of the change of command :

The matter of peace is in your hands. You will not suffer counter-
revolutionary generals to destroy the great cause of peace. You will
surround them with a guard in order to prevent lynching unworthy
of the revolutionary army and to prevent these generals from avoid-
ing the court that awaits them.

The election of regimental plenipotentiaries was formally
authorized and the armistice negotiations left for the
moment in their hands.?

But Dukhonin did not leave Moghilev, nor was he
immediately arrested by his own troops. With his Head-
quarters staff and certain of the corps of officers he stuck
to his guns, and met invective with invective. Leaflets
were printed at the Headquarters press and distributed
amongst the troops; they even found their way into
opposition papers in Petrograd. Confident in the knowledge
that he had the support of the Allied Military Missions
and, tacitly, of the diplomatic corps, Dukhonin appealed
widely for support from workers and peasants for a popular
government ‘‘ knowing neither violence, nor blood, nor
bayonets. Lose no time. The Army awaits your word.””3

The Allied Governments gave the Siavke a certain
negative support. They had ignored the Revolution, they

1 Bunyan and Fisher, pp. 233-235; Dyelo Naroda (Petrograd),
November 23, 1917.

2 U.8. Foreign Relations, 1918 : Russia, i. 247 ; Izvestia, November
23, 1917. When criticized in the Central Executive Committee for the
wording of this proclamation, which was interpreted as a proposal for a
separate armistice, Lenin denied this and declared : “ Our Party never
promised that we would give peace immediately. What we said was that
we would immediately offer an armistice and publish the secret treatics.
This we have done. Now begins the revolutionary struggle for peace
(Dyelo Naroda, November 24, 1917).

3 U.8. Foreign Relations, 1918 : Russia, i, 251. A proclamation was
also issued to the army [Bunyan and Fisher, p. 240].
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had snubbed Trotsky, but they could not disregard the
definite order of the Council of Commissars to cease
hostilities. Over the heads of the de facto Government in
Petrograd, they addressed themselves to Dukhonin. Between
November 23 and December 1, the General Headquarters
Staff received protests first from the Allied Military
Attachés ““ against the violations of the terms of the
Treaty of September 5th, 1914 ' then from - General
Berthelot, head of the French Military Mission, to the
effect that ““ France will not recognize a government of the
Council of People’s Commissars ”’ and trusted that the
Russian Supreme Command would “hold the Russian
Army at the front facing a common enemy *’; 2 and finally
from the American Military Attaché, who protested
“ categorically and energetically against any separate
armistice which may be made by Russia 7.2

It was generally hinted by all that the most serious
consequences would ensue from any such separate action,
and this hint was interpreted to mean that the Allies were
about to call upon Japan to attack Russia in the rear. The
policy of protests and veiled threats was unfortunate and
ill-advised—a fact which was certainly appreciated by a few
of the Allied diplomats in Petrograd *—and nothing could
illustrate more abundantly the ignorance of the Entente
concerning the Russian situation.

Dukhonin circulated these protests to the army and
thereby drew at once an energetic reply from Trotsky, who
characterized the efforts of the Allied military representa-
tives as an attempt “to force by threats the Russian
army and the Russian people to continue the war in
execution of the treaties concluded by the Tsar .5 At
the same time he issued an official warning to the heads
of the Allied Military Missions that “ the Government

1 Cumming and Pettit, p. 49. 2 Jbid. p. 50.
3 Ibid. p. 53. ¢ Buchanan, ii. 224.
& Cumming and Pettit, p. b4.
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cannot permit Allied diplomatic or military agents to
interfere in the internal affairs of our country and attempt
to incite civil war .2

The full force of the propaganda machinery of the
Smolny Institute was used to combat the effort of the
General Staff. The troops were exhorted: “ Do not obey
Dukhonin ! Pay no attention to his provocations ! Watch
him and his group of counter-revolutionaries carefully.”
They were told that around the Stavka at Moghilev was
gathering a group of Kerenskyists who * obey the orders
of the French, English, and American financiers . Above
all, the General Staff were *responsible for the offensive
of July 1st and the prolongation of the war ”.2

It was this final argument which influenced most
strongly a discouraged, disorganized, and defeated army.
In any event, the effect was swift and terrible. On December
2, the garrison at Moghilev mutinied and arrested Dukhonin
and his staff, imprisoning them in their own special train.

Next day Krylenko arrived with a reinforcement of
Bolshevik sailors. The mutinous soldiery, intoxicated with
revolutionary propaganda, first demanded Dukhonin’s
epaulettes, and having secured these, through the media-
tion of Krylenko, dispersed for a while. But in half an hour
they were back again, this time intent upon murder.
Krylenko made a half-hearted attempt to block the
entrance to the railway-coach but was swept aside. The
General was dragged out, surrounded by the mob, and
beaten. He fell on his face on the platform, but the beating
went on. Finally one of the sailors fired two shots into his
body. The crowd cheered.?

1'Reed, p. 260. ' 2 Ibid. p. 261.

% See Krylenko’s Report in Novaya Zhizn, December 13, 1917, and
also an eyewitness’ account published in Russkoe Slovo, December 6,
1917; Reed, p. 261 ; Bunyan and Fisher, pp. 267-268; and Ariadna
Tyrkova-Williams, From Laberty to Brest-Litovsk (London, 1919), pp.
811-312. Despite the fact that John Reed refers to Dukhonin as the “old
General ”, he was only 41 at the time of his murder. Dr. Masaryk, who
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Meanwhile, on November 26, Trotsky had made formal
application to the German High Command for an immediate
armistice for the purpose of concluding a democratic peace
without annexations and indemnities; to the Allied
diplomats he declared that the Soviet régime had never
desired a separate peace and still hoped for a peace that
would embrace all belligerent parties. But peace they
were determined to have, and the onus would lie upon the
Allies if Russia were forced to sign a separate agreement.
Two days later (November 28), Krylenko carried out the
original orders issued to his predecessor and ordered
“ firing to cease immediately and fraternization to begin
on all fronts ”.

The collapse of the attempts of the Allied Military
Missions to prevent the Russian army from declaring an
immediate armistice had convinced the British Ambassador,
Sir George Buchanan, that to faire bonne mine & mauvais
jew was the only course now open to the Entente Powers.
The situation was now so desperate that a reconsideration
of the Allied attitude was essential. Though they were not
prepared to accept the Soviet proposals as a basis for
general peace negotiations, they must recognize that sooner
or later a separate peace between Russia and Germany
was inevitable. Much advantage would accrue therefrom
to Germany, who hoped undoubtedly to establish an
economic protectorate, and it was a matter of vital
importance to checkmate this latest move. German-
Russian relations must be exacerbated at all costs, even
though peace existed officially between the two countries,
for a Russo-German Alliance after the war would constitute
a perpetual menace to Europe in general and to Great
Britain in particular.

was in the neighbourhood of the Stavka, organizing the Czech legions,
speaks of the General as “ a young and vigorous officer ”’. He adds that
the body was “ barbarously profaned at Moghilev for days ” (Masaryk,
The Making of a State (London, 1927), pp. 163-164).
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Sir George Buchanan therefore proposed that the
Allies should formally release Russia from her obligation
under the agreement of September 1914, thereby at one
stroke recognizing a fast accompli and making a bid for
continued good relations with the Soviet Government.
In the separate negotiations which would follow, national
resentment in Russia would turn against Germany if peace
were delayed, or had to be purchased on too onerous
terms.!

This eminently sound advice arrived in London on
the eve of that fateful inter-Allied conference for which
Kerensky had yearned so despairingly and which was now
to meet in Paris on November 30. Mr. Lloyd George was
sufficiently impressed by Buchanan’s despatch to place
the proposal formally before the meeting. Both he and
Mr. Balfour were fully alive to the dangers of a potential
Russo-German rapprochement. “ No policy would be more
fatal,” wrote the Foreign Secretary in a memorandum for
the Cabinet, ““than to give the Russians a motive for
welcoming into their midst German officials and German
soldiers as friends and deliverers.” Colonel House also
supported Buchanan’s views, though the United States

had not adhered to the inter-Allied agreement of
1914.

But the Continental Allies would have none of it. Baron
Sonnino violently opposed Buchanan’s suggestion, and M.
Clemenceau declared that if M. Maklakoff (Kerensky’s
Ambassador in Paris) and all the celestial powers asked
him to give Russia back her word, he would refuse . When,
however, M. Maklakoff was sent for, he concurred more
definitely with the views of Clemenceau and Sonnino than
with those of Lloyd George and Balfour. He opposed
the acceptance of Buchanan’s proposal and suggested as
substitute a declaration that the Allies would “ proceed
to a revision of war aims together with Russia, 80 soon as

1 Buchanan, ii. 225-226.
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there shall be a government aware of its duties to the
country and defending the interests of the country and not
of the enemy .2

This resolution entirely begged ‘the point raised by Sir
George Buchanan, which was the necessity of keeping
some modicum of goodwill for the Allied Powers in Soviet
Russia. Maklakoff’s proposal, slightly modified by Colonel
House, was accepted by the Conference and the last
opportunity was missed of retaining any basis of co-
operation with the Bolsheviks. Had the Buchanan policy
been adopted, the subsequent history of the Brest-Litovsk
Treaty might well have been very different.

2

In the dismal cold and stark discomfort of the Brest-
Litovsk citadel, Major-General Max Hoffmann sat and
waited. Beneath him lay the blackened ruins of the city
emerging from their blanket of snow, and beyond them the
interminable white landscape stretched out to meet the
grey November sky. The city had been burnt at the time
of its evacuation by the Russians in July 1916, and when
that greatest of all military combinations, HLH (Hinden-
burg, Ludendorff, and Hoffmann), had first set up their
headquarters there, they lived in the greatest discomfort
in their special train. The summer sun beat down pitilessly
on the steel roof and made the cramped space unendurable.
There was little room to work, and such as there was, was
encumbered by the big Staff maps. The citadel, the only
part of the city to survive the fire, was quickly made
habitable, and it was from there that HLH fought their
final engagements in the struggle for the downfall of

1 Lloyd George, v. 108-109 ; Charles Seymour, The Intimate Papers
of Colonel House (New York, 1928), iii. 283-290. Maklakoff was formally
dismissed by Trotsky on the following day for his part in the con-
ference deliberations.
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Falkenhayn and the succession of Hindenburg to the
supreme command of the German armies.

This end had been achieved at the close of August 1916,
and from that time, for a year and three months, Hoffmann,
separated from his great partners, had been in virtual
command of the Eastern Front; for the actual Commander-
in-Chief, Field-Marshal Prince Leopold of Bavaria, was
little more than a figurehead.

In a man more highly strung, the waiting and inaction
of the Eastern Front might have produced an intolerable
nervous tension. But Hoffmann, composed of equal parts
of steel and whalebone, was not troubled with nerves.
(Had he not proved that at Tannenberg when Ludendorff
had cracked under the strain ?) Within that great shaven
skull reposed the most brilliant brain of the German General
Staff, and patience had always been his strong suit. Ever
since the March Revolution in Russia he had known that
his r6le was to hold the Russian Front immobile and to
allow & free hand to his colleagues in the West. This he had
done with success, greatly aided by the disinclination of
the Russian army to give battle, and the result had been
that, in the West, Hindenburg and Ludendorff had been
able to withstand the assaults of Haig and Nivelle upon the
Siegfriedstellung and to repel them with heavy losses. * Had
the Russians attacked in April and May and met with only
minor successes,” Ludendorff confessed later, “I do not
see how GLH.Q. could have mastered the situation.” 2

When the Kerensky offensive was launched in July,
Hofimann met it with determination and success. Once
the first shock of the assault had spent itself, it was not
difficult to counter-attack, and before the German advance
the Russian army had collapsed like a house of cards.
From the beginning of October the front was quiet, and
Hofimann was content to await the effect of the virus

1 J. W. Wheeler-Bennett, Hindenburg, the Wooden Titan (London,
1936), pp. 69-71. ? Ludendorff, ii. 427.



Imperial Wur Juscwm Photograph, Copyright reserved

MAJOR-GENERAL MAX HOFFMANN
Chief of Staff to the Commander-in-Chief in the East



THE DECREE OF PEACE 79

which the return of Lenin had injected into the body-
politic of Russia.

Of what was happening beyond the now silent front
line, Hofimann had little knowledge during these November
days. The fall of Kerensky and the advent of the Bolsheviks
to power were facts that so far could not be fitted into the
general picture. Hoffmann could not know of the chaos
which raged behind the Russian lines and within the
Russian capital. He only knew that the front had become
sufficiently quiet for troops to be taken out of the line and
transferred to the West, to be trained and equipped for the
new task awaiting them. Beyond this elementary fact
General Headquarters at Brest-Litovsk were at a loss to
know what to make of the situation.

Their mystification wasincreased when wireless operators
began to pick up messages addressed ““ To All ”, sent out
by an unknown individual called Trotsky, and declaring
the desire of the new Soviet Government for peace. “ We
cannot get a clear view of what is happening,” wrote
Hofimann in his diary on November 21 ; yet he urged the
Chancellor to declare Germany’s willingness to negotiate.

The uncertainty persisted until November 26. * Whether
they will [declare an Armistice] I cannot yet say ”, recorded
Hoffmann on the morning of that day. * We have no clear
picture of what is likely to happen in the interior of Russia
in the immediate future.”

But in the afternoon there arrived Trotsky’s formal
proposals for an armistice and Krylenko’s wireless message
proclaiming the actual cessation of hostilities. At last
something definite had happened, and Hoffmann reported
by telephone to Ludendorff at Kreuznach.

“ Is it possible to negotiate with these people ? ** asked
Ludendorft.

“ Yes, it is possible ”’, was the reply. “ Your Excellency
needs troops and this is the easiest way to get them.” ?

1 Hoffmann, i. 203-204. 2 Ibdd. ii. 190.
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That the Quadruple Alliance must gain by a separate
peace with Russia was obvious. The military, political,
and economic position of the four countries was any-
thing but satisfactory. The warlike fervour of Germany
had fallen to a disquietingly low level, and the spirit which
was to cripple the German people in the summer of 1918
and in 1919 had become apparent. The naval mutiny at
Kiel in July had given the authorities grave anxiety and
had already affected the internal morale of the country.
The influence of the Independent Socialists had been realized
for the first time and the result was not heartening. The
food supply had sunk to a low ebb and many people went
hungry. Forage had become very scarce : the oats harvest
had been bad, and the hay crop scanty. The stocks of
oil were alarmingly low, and it was urgently necessary
to increase the supply from Rumania. Lightless winter
evenings were in store for the country districts.

Yet the national spirit of Germany was better than
that of her Allies, and indeed the Quadruple Alliance was
only held together by the hope of a victory by German
arms. “ Peace at the earliest moment is necessary for our
own salvation and we cannot obtain peace until the Germans
get to Paris—and they cannot get to Paris unless their
Eastern front is free,”” wrote Count Czernin, the Austrian
Foreign Minister, to a friend on November 17.! The Austro-
Hungarian army was worn out. It had lost 1,800,000 in
prisoners. It was short of recruits, and its fighting value
was slight, but if Russia were eliminated that army might
be equal to its task.

The war spirit of Vienna was at an end, indeed it had
not lasted long. The shock of the assassination of the heir
to the throne at Serajevo had momentarily kindled a flame
of anger and resentment, but three years of war, much of
it unsuccessful so far as the Austrians were concerned, had
caused the flame to flicker and burn low. Now at the close

1 Count Ottokar Czernin, In the. World War (London, 1919), p. 217.
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of 1917 there began to settle over Vienna that air of
fatalistic melancholy which has never really lifted again.
An amazing apathy prevailed. Other capitals of Europe
were passionately demanding the return of territory and
the more eager prosecution of the war; certain national
centres within the Dual Monarchy were yearning for
independence ; in the midst of this clamour Vienna
remained silent and hungry, asking only for peace and
bread ; une ville sans dme, awaiting the end.

Moreover, by publishing the secret treaties concluded
by the Entente Governments, Trotsky had dealt the
Austro-Hungarian Government a staggering blow. Czernin
now knew that the Allies were aiming at nothing less
than the dismemberment of the Dual Monarchy. Peace
at any price became his motto, and while he pressed
for negotiations with Russia, he connived at the secret
conversations which Prince Sixte of Bourbon and Count
Mensdorfi-Pouilly were carrying on with Allied emissaries
for a separate peace. If Austria reached the end of her
military power, her political structure was doomed.
Nothing but the army held the Dual Monarchy together.

In Bulgaria the situation was slightly better. But
Bulgaria had occupied all the territory she wanted to keep
when peace came, and both the people and the army were
tired of war. Germany could only count on Bulgaria
remaining faithful to the Quadruple Alliance so long as
all went well with the German armies. ““ I could believe
in the steadfastness of the Bulgarian Army for just so long
as I could believe in the faith of the Bulgarian nation ”,
wrote Ludendorff cryptically.*

Turkey was faithful to her Allies, but at the end of her
strength. Her man power was greatly reduced and part
of her army existed on paper only.

All therefore depended upon Germany, the king-pin
of the Quadruple Alliance, and in that country it was

1 Ludendorff, ii. 541.
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admitted on all sides that a speedy end to the war was an
imperative necessity. To bring this about there were two
alternative methods : the favourable military position of
Germany could be used either for concluding a peace of
conciliation or for an attack in the West. The peace policy
was warmly favoured by the Foreign Secretary, Baron von
Kiihlmann, and by Prince Max of Baden, and had the
secret support of the German and Bavarian Crown Princes.
But the High Command would have none of it.

Ludendorff had become convinced, even before the
Bolshevik armistice proposals, that the sole hope of Ger-
many’s victory lay in ‘“ a gambler’s throw ”’, a blow in the
West, swift and terrible. At a Staff Conference at Mons on
November 11, while the echo of Lenin’s Decree of Peace
still resounded in the corridors of Smolny, the First
Quartermaster-Geeneral had taken a fatal decision. ““ It will
be an immense struggle,” he wrote to Wilhelm II, “ that
will begin at one point, continue at another, and take a
long time ; it is difficult, but it will be successful.” The
Emperor, against his better judgement, agreed.

For this new manceuvre three factors were essential :
speed, troops, and, above all, tangible success at an carly
stage. The unrestricted U-boat warfare, upon which
Hindenburg and Ludendorff had gambled so disastrously,
had reached its height and had begun to wane. The pressure
of the Allied blockade had established a strangle-hold on
the German people ; American troops, fresh and young, were
being landed in France, despite the proud boast of the
Chief of Naval Staff in February that not one American
soldier should reach the Continent. The blow in the West
could not fall too soon. Time was the essence of the
contract.

Reinforcements were a vital necessity. The termination
of hostilities on the Eastern Front was a godsend. By the
end of November troop trains were pouring incessantly from
east to west. It was no longer a case of replacing tired



THE DECREE OF PEACE 83

divisions by fresh ones, but of adding to the number of
combatants on the Western Front. The collapse of the
Rumanian Front—recognized by the Armistice of Foscari
on December 8—released further troops, and divisions were
withdrawn from the Italian and Salonika Fronts.

Success, above all, was essential for German arms. The
fate of the Quadruple Alliance hung upon this final effort.
Failure now would mean the beginning of speedy dis-
integration and ultimate débdcle. Victory might silence the
ticking of the death-watch already audible in the structure
of the Alliance.

A fresh lease of life was therefore granted to the Central
Powers by the November Revolution in Russia, and it may
be imagined with what emotions Hoffmann’s telephone
message must have been received at Kreuznach on Nov-
ember 26. If negotiations in the East were successful, all
would be ready in the West by the middle of March. With
thankful satisfaction the Supreme Command authorized
Hoffmann to treat for an armistice.

3

In the early-morning darkmess of November 27 three
muffled and blindfolded figures crossed the German lines
before Dvinsk and were conducted to the divisional head-
quarters of General von Hofmeister. They were empowered
to make preliminary armistice arrangements. All day they
waited while authority was sought from Brest-Litovsk, and
at midnight the answer came. The German armies would
negotiate. Official conversations should open on Decem-
ber 2.

In Berlin and in Vienna the Imperial Governments
formally declared on November 29 that the Russian pro-
posals constituted a suitable basis for armistice negotiations,
which, it was hoped, would soon assume the more concrete
shape of a general peace. Both the German Chancellor and
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the Austrian Prime Minister couched their acceptances in
terms nicely balanced to proclaim their readiness to
negotiate, while concealing their anxiety to secure peace
at the earliest possible moment.

In Petrograd, Trotsky, on November 30, acquainted the
Allied diplomsts with the fact that an agreement for a
preliminary truce was about to be declared, and again re-
quested them to state whether they wished to take part in
the forthcoming negotiations.* A complete silence was the
sole reply.

Meantime in Brest-Litovsk two hastily collected delega-
tions were in process of assembling. For the Central Powers
a composite group had been formed under Hoffmann, with
Baron von Rosenberg representing the German Foreign
Office, and, as military assistants, Major Brinckmann of
the Headquarters Staff, and a young lieutenant of cavalry,
Bernhard von Biilow, a nephew of the former Chancellor
and himself destined in later years to become permanent
Secretary of State at the Auswdrtige Ams. Colonel Pokorny
for Austria-Hungary, General Zekki Pasha for Turkey, and
General Gantcheff for Bulgaria, completed the delegation
of the Quadruple Alliance.

The Bolsheviks had had more difficulty in composing
their group. It had to be representative of the Revolu-
tion, and yet capable of negotiation, a difficult combination
in these early days of Soviet rule. Consequently the party
which finally left by special train from the Warsaw station
at Petrograd was both strange and varied. The head of the
delegation was Adolf Joffe, a typical revolutionary in-
tellectual, not unpolished in manner and with a soft
pleasant voice. Long hair and beard framed his Semitic
face, and pince-nez perched. upon his Semitic nose. A
similar type, though less obviously Hebraic, was Leo
Kamenev, Trotsky’s brother-in-law, whose tired, dreamy

1 Proceedings of the Brest-Litovsk Peace Conference (U.S. State
Department, Washington, D.C., 1918), p. 8.
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eyes seemed always about to close in reflection or slumber.
In strong contrast was Leo Karakhan, Secretary-General of
the delegation. A typical Armenian, almost a cartoon type
of Levantine, he was capable of changing with feline swift-
ness from sleepy laziness to noisy active agitation. With
Sokolnikov, a man of very considerable ability, these three
provided the orthodox revolutionary element of the delega-
tion. In addition, out of compliment to their somewhat
unwilling allies and in conformity with their theories of sex
equality, the Bolsheviks had included the famous Social-
Revolutionary assassin, Mme. Anastasia Bitsenko, but
lately released from a seventeen-years’ sentence in Siberia
for the murder of the former Minister for War, General
Sakharov.

But since the Revolution had nominally been made in
the name of the soldiers, sailors, workers, and peasants,
representatives of all these categories had to be included
in the delegation. By an irony of fate these lesser fry were
more colourful than their more revolutionary colleagues.
They were produced for ““ window-dressing ”’ and had no
other duties than to create an atmosphere of revolutionary
democracy ; the whole affair was for them an extraordinary
experience which they could not entirely comprehend.
Here was the soldier, Nicholas Bieliakov, a sullen old
badger, short, strongly built, middle-aged, and silent, the
“Qld Bill ” type found in all armies; here, too, Fedor
Olich, the sailor, tall and good-looking in his neat naval
uniform, but seeming cramped and ill at ease in his new
surroundings. In no way out of his element was the young
worker, Obukhov. He appeared to look upon the whole
thing almost as a joy-ride ; his dark, impish face, beneath
its curly hair, was insolent and yet humorous as he lay
sprawling in his railway seat, an open waistcoat over his
black shirt, arrogantly unconcerned.

Lastly there was the peasant delegate, old Roman
Stashkov, a good-natured, simple old fellow with yellowish-
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grey hair and beard, and deep wrinkles in his brick-tanned
face. He was utterly and completely bewildered by the
whole proceeding, and still—despite the times—addressed
his revolutionary colleagues as barin (master). He had been
a last-minute addition to the party. Not until they were on
their way to the station did the leaders of the delegation
realize that the peasant class was unrepresented among
them, and, as their motor sped through the dark and
deserted streets of Petrograd, there was consternation
among them at this omission.

Suddenly they turned a corner and came upon an old
man in a peasant’s coat plodding along in the snow and
carrying a bag. The car stopped.

“ Where are you going, tovarish ? ”’

“To the station, barin—I mean tovarish ”, replied the
old man.

“ Get in; we'll give you a lift ”—and they sped on.

The old man was mildly pleased at the unusual attention
he received from his new friends, but as they ncared the
Warsaw station he showed signs of worry.

““ This is not the station I need, Comrades ; T want the
Nikolaevsky station. I've got to go beyond Moscow.”

This would never do, thought Joffe and Kamenev, and
they began to question the old peasant about his politics.

“ What party do you belong to ?

“I'm a Social Revolutionary, Comrades ”, was the
slightly disconcerting reply ; everybody in our village is
a Social Revolutionary.”

“ A left or a right one ? ”’

Something warned the old man, perhaps it was the
tone of his questioner, that he had better not say “ right .

“ Left, Comrades, of course, the very leftest.”

No other requirements were needed for a mandatory
representative of the Russian peasantry ”, and it was
getting near train time.

“ There’s no need for you to go to your village ”, the
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old man was told. “ Come with us to Brest-Litovsk and
make peace with the Germans.” A little more persuasion,
a little money promised, and thus, incredibly, the lacuna
in the delegation was filled. Stashkov departed for Brest-
Litovsk, where later he was to be a social towr de forcel

In addition to the “ mandatory representatives ” there
were attached to the delegation nine naval and military
officers, headed by Admiral Vasili Altvater, and including
Lieutenant-Colonel Fokke, whose published recollections
are a valuable source of information. These unfortunates,
placed by fate in a false and humiliating position, were in a
purely advisory capacity, and had no voice or power of
voting. Plucked arbitrarily and suddenly from their com-
mands, they were compelled to give their technical advice
to a Government which they were convinced was ready to
barter away Russia’s territory in pursuit of a policy of
peace at any price. Like sheep to the slaughter, they came,
with death in their souls, to the betrayal of their country.
Subsequently the front which Joffe and Kamenev put up
during the armistice negotiations brought about a change
of attitude and a warmer degree of enthusiasm among
these officers. Trotsky even spoke of Admiral Altvater as
becoming “ plus bolchévik que les bolchéviks sur cette ques-
tion de la pasz ”, but this new loyalty did not save the
Admiral from a cruel death during the Red Terror which
followed the attempted assassination of Lenin in August
1918.2

Lumbering southward in their war-worn train, this
strange menagerie, as Fokke called them, came at last to
the Russian front lines at Dvinsk. Here they were greeted
with wild applause by the troops, to the gratification of the

1 Lieutenant-Colonel Ivan Grigoreyevitch Fokke, “ Na stsene i sa
kulisami brestskoi tragikomedii ”, in Arkhiv Russkoi Revoliutsii (edited
by I. V. Hessen, Berlin, 1925-1934), xx. 15-17.

% Captain Jacques Sadoul, Notes sur la révolution bolchévigue (Paris,
1920), pp. 140-141 ; Fokke, p. 13.
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revolutionaries and the despair of the officers. With peace
at last in sight, a new enthusiasm had awakened in the
men, and a deputation from the Congress of the Fifth
Army assured the delegation that while they carried on
the negotiations the troops would “ destroy every wasp-
nest of counter-revolution .

. Accommodation was already crowded in the citadel of
Brest-Litovsk ; G.H.Q. was itself housed in a collection of
huts, and two of these were set apart for the Russians,
both delegations eating together in a common mess-room.
The problem of feeding these additional visitors was one
which taxed the commissariat department very consider-
ably, and for the first day or two the delegates lived on
short commons, but German efficiency and organization
soon surmounted this difficulty and comparative plenty
was restored.

The armistice terms which the Central Powers were
prepared to offer to Russia had been prepared by Luden-
dorff as early as May and had received the approval of the
Imperial Chancellor and the other Chiefs of Staff.! They
were clearly dictated by the German desire to end the war
on one front, and contained no conditions that were unjust
or humiliating to the Russians. Hostilities were to cease,
and each side was to retain the position they held. On such
a basis it was hoped to settle the whole matter in a few
hours; but it was not quite so simple as that.

The Soviet delegation had come for propaganda as
well as for negotiation. They therefore opened with a
request for entire publicity of the negotiations, and, when
this had been agreed to, Joffe delivered a long address
setting forth the Bolshevik principles of peace and con-
cluding with & demand to all belligerents to end the
struggle and conclude a general agreement. He was
succeeded by Kamenev, who talked for an hour of his

! Lieutenant-General Erich Ludendorff, The General Staff and its
Problems (London, 1920), ii. 517.
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sorrow that in the declaration of the German and Austrian
Governments no evidence was shown of a real desire for a
general peace on the unshakable basis proclaimed by the
Russian Revolution.

After this preliminary broadside Joffe made three
proposals :

(1) An armistice of six months’ duration.

(2) The evacuation by German military and naval
forces of the Islands of the Moon Sound in the
Gulf of Riga.

(3) No German troops to be transferred from the
Eastern Front to other fronts, or even to be with-
drawn to rest quarters.

The first of these proposals Hofimann countered with
an offer of an armistice of twenty-eight days automatically
prolonged unless a week’s notice of termination was given.
The second point he dismissed with the remark that ““ such
terms could be addressed only to a conquered country ™.
But to the third he had no difficulty in agreeing, since,
before the negotiations had begun, orders had already been
given to send the bulk of the Eastern army to the Western
Front. “ Consequently I was able to concede to the Russians
that, during the Armistice that was about to be signed, the
Germans would not send away any troops from the Eastern
Front, except those that were already being moved, or that had
already recetved orders to go.”’ *

On the third day of the negotiations (December 5) the
Soviet delegation declared categorically that they were
“ treating for an armistice on all fronts with the view to
the conclusion of a general peace on the basis already
established by the All-Russian Congress of Soviets . But,
replied Hoffmann, had they the authority of their Entente
Allies to make such proposals ? He was ready to negotiate
an armistice with Russia alone or with her Allies, but, as

1 Hoffmann, ii. 194 (author’s italics).
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the Allies had not chosen to participate, should they not
proceed to arrange a separate armistice with Russia ?

Thus cornered, Joffe lost his nerve. Though forced to
admit that he had no authority to negotiate for the
Entente, he confessed to Hofimann at luncheon that he
could not sign a separate armistice without further con-
sultation with Petrograd. He must return to confer with
Lenin and Trotsky. A separate agrecment was utterly
opposed to the scheme of things as visualized at Smolny,
and he knew the cold fury of Lenin’s wrath. The fear of
every revolutionary diplomat lest he pay for an error with
his head, was upon him. He must return.

Hoffmann agreed to the face-saving formula that the
delegations concerned should “ transmit to their respective
Governments the proposal made by the Russian delegation
to invite all belligerents to take part in the negotiations ,
and the arrangement was reached to interrupt the negotia-
tions for a week, until December 12. Thereupon the
Bolsheviks departed for Petrograd, leaving Karakhan to
hold the diplomatic fort.

Throughout these preliminary negotiations, and indeed
eversince Krylenko’s orderto begin fraternization, Bolshevik
agents had not ceased to make use of the time for propa-
ganda purposes. Copies of the Decree of Peace, together
with a special proclamation to the German army, were
not only smuggled into the trenches but dropped by
aeroplanes far behind the lines. One of Trotsky’s earliest
innovations in the Foreign Office had been to institute a
Press Bureau under Karl Radek and a Bureau of Inter-
national Revolutionary Propaganda under Boris Reinstein,
among whose assistants were John Reed and Albert Rhys
Williams, and the full blast of these power-houses was
turned against the German army.

A German newspaper, Die Fackel (The Torch), was
printed in editions of half a million a day and sent by
special train to Central Army Committees in Minsk, Kiev,
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and other cities, which in turn distributed them to other
points along the front.!  Brother Soldiers of Germany!”
cried the first issue. “ The great example of your leader,
Liebknecht, the struggle which you are conducting through
your meetings and through the press, and finally the revolt
in your navy, is a guarantee to us that among labouring
masses, the struggle for peace is ripe.”

Armed with this and similarly inflammable material,
Zinoviev, at the head of a delegation, was despatched to
the frontier to foster revolt in Central Europe. As might
have been expected, they were turned back at the German
lines and a car-load of Die Fackel and of Lenin’s appeals
was burnt. ““ The further demand for free admission into
Germany of all Bolshevik propaganda and literature, I was
obliged to refuse,” writes Hoffmann, “but I said I was
quite willing to assist in the export of this to France and
England.” 2

Meanwhile, in Petrograd, Lenin still harboured the
illusion that the proletarian masses would respond to the
bait of a general peace. But whether they did or did not
do so, peace had been promised to Russia and peace must
be achieved, whether as a separate treaty or as part of a
general agreement. But even if a separate armistice was
signed, the Entente might still participate later in the
peace negotiations which would follow, and Joffe was there-

1 The German Headquarters Staff had itself published a propaganda
sheet, Russky Vyestnik (The Russian Messenger), for prisoners of war,
but they were as children in this business by comparison with the
Bolsheviks.

? Hoffmann, ii. 194. This willingness to make use of the new
weapon of Bolshevik propagands against the enemy was not confined
to Germany. William Hard, in his record of Colonel Raymond Robins’
mission to Russia, recounts that on one occasion Robins offered
seventy-five thousand roubles to certain Bolshevik agents, who were
about to leave for Germany and Austria, on the ground that it might
do them some good and might do the Kaiser some harm” (William
Hard, Raymond Robins’ Own Story (New York, 1930), pp. 85-86).
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fore instructed to return to Brest-Litovsk and pursue the
conversations.

Trotsky took the opportunity, on December 6, of inform-
ing the Allied Governments of the course of the armistice
negotiations. He drew their attention to the interval
designed to give them an opportunity to define their
attitude, “ to express their willingness or their refusal to
take part in the negotiations for an armistice and peace.
In the case of a refusal, they must declare clearly and
definitely, before all mankind, the aims for which the
peoples of Europe may have to lose their blood during the
fourth year of the war.” !

At the same time, the first hint of a threat made its
appearance in the press. An inspired leading article declared
that the Soviet Government might have to resort to a
repudiation of Russia’s debts as a means of forcing the
Allies to participate in the forthcoming negotiations.?

No reply having been received by the morning of
December 12, Trotsky issued a further declaration * throw-
ing the responsibility for Russia’s concluding a separate
armistice on the Governments which refuse to present con-
ditions for an armistice and peace ”’. The final paragraph
of the declaration contained a warning of what was to come
—though Trotsky himself was always opposed to such a
policy—* a separate armistice is not yet a separate peace,
but it means a danger of a separate peace. Only the peoples
themselves can avert this danger.” ®

The Soviet delegation returned to Brest on December 12,
and the formal negotiations for a separate armistice began
next day. The main subjects of controversy were the
transfer of troops, naval matters, and fraternization be-
tween the opposing armies. In the first of these the Quad-
ruple Alliance insisted on their own terms, but they were

1 Proceedings, p. 35.
% Pravda, December 6, 1917.
3 Cumming and Pettit, p. 56.
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inclined to be conciliatory in relation to naval matters. It
was agreed to “ organize ” fraternizations.

Thus when the armistice agreement was finally signed
on December 15, the duration was to be until January 14,
1918 with automatic prolongation unless seven days’
notice of rupture was given by either party. Article 2 pro-
vided that, until January 14, no removal of troops should
take place between the Black Sea and the Baltic, “ that is
to say, such removals as had not been commenced before
the time when the armistice agreement was signed . Naval
matters were governed by a proposed special agreement to
be entered into after mutual consultation (Article 5). For
the ““ organization ” of fraternizing it was agreed that there
should be two or three intercourse centres in every sector
of a Russian division, but that * there must not be present
at any one time more than 25 unarmed persons from each
side . The exchange of views and newspapers was per-
mitted.?

It was in this provision that the Central Powers made
a fatal error. Hoffmann, with his astuteness and knowledge
of the Russian mind, should never have permitted the
article on propaganda to be included. Admittedly it was
difficult to prevent the infiltration of Bolshevik ideology,
but to permit the organizing of fraternization was to play
into the Soviet hands. As one historian has commented
somewhat grimly, “ twenty-five men was enough for the
Russian anti-war propaganda purposes ~.2

Tt became impossible to check the activities of the
Bolshevik agents. At the official fraternization points
bundles of Die Fackel and its successor, Der Volkerfriede
(The Peoples’ Peace), were ostentatiously carried, and
were frequently confiscated by German officers. There

1 For text see Appendix II, p. 379.

2 Tegts of the Russian  Peace” (U.S. Department of State, Wash-
ington, D.C., 1918), pp. 1-8.

3 Louis Fischer, The Soviets in World Affairs (London, 1930), i. 30.
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were many secret meetings at isolated spots at which
bundles of propaganda literature were put into the hands
of German soldiers. At other points such material was buried
by Russians in agreed places and dug up later by Germans.
The virus was spreading rapidly.

A supplement to the armistice agrcement provided for
“ the immediate exchange of civil prisoners and prisoners
of war unfit for further military service ”. Therc were
thousands of these throughout the country, and they
provided a fertile field for propaganda. Through the
Bureau of War Prisoners, attached to the Ministry of
Foreign Affairs, emissaries were despatched to visit all
prison camps in Russia and Siberia to encourage the
formation of Socialist organizations. In Moscow alone, ten
thousand German and Austrian prisoners were organized
along Bolshevik lines and began an active propaganda
among their countrymen. So effective was the work that
when the prisoners of war were eventually repatriated
they were confined for thirty days in “ political quarantine
camps "’ and mentally “ deloused *’ with patriotic literature
and Majority Socialist propaganda.

Hoftmann protested furiously to Krylenko and threat-
ened to denounce the armistice, and Krylenko publicly
ordered that revolutionary propaganda should cease, but
privately sent word urging that the efforts should be re-
doubled.

Already the Germans were beginning to reap the
whirlwind. The Frankenstein monster which they had
helped to create was no longer responding to their control,
and would never return to it. Nor would they take warning.
“ The influence of Bolshevik propaganda on the masses is
enormous ”, said Admiral Altvater, in a burst of confidence
to Hoffmann. “I was defending Oesel and the troops
actually melted away before my eyes. It was the same

_ ! John Reed, * How Soviet Russia conquered Imperial Germany *,
in Liberator, New York, January 1919.
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with the whole army, and, I warn you, the same thing will
happen in your army.”
“I only laughed at the unfortunate Admiral ”’, records
Hoffmann.!
1 Hoffmann, ii. 196.
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“ PEACE WITHOUT INDEMNITIES OR
ANNEXATIONS ”

1

TEE actual signing of a separate armistice between the
Central Powers and Russia translated the whole question
of affairs on the Eastern Front from the military sphere to
the field of international politics. The Entente Powers
preserved their attitude of aloofness and washed their
hands of all further responsibility. “ Since Russia has
entered into separate negotiations,” said Mr. Lloyd George
in the House of Commons on December 20, * she must of
course alone be responsible for the terms in respect of her
own territories ”—and this may be taken to represent the
general Entente attitude.

For the Central Powers, however, the position was of
considerably greater importance. They now were pledged
to negotiate peace with the Entente and with Russia on a
basis of ““ no indemnities, no annexations, and the principle
of self-determination . Superficially, at least, this coincided
with the terms of the Peace Resolution which the Reichstag
had adopted in July 1917. “ We are not animated by any
desire for conquest ”’, it had declared, and had demanded
a peace “ by mutual agreement and reconciliation ”’; it had
protested against all possible “acquisition of territory ”
and “all political, economic, and financial oppression .
But in every document of this nature it is the spirit rather
than the letter which ranks foremost in importance, and
more important than either is the interpretation of both.
For every man is free to interpret a principle for himself,

99
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and this freedom had been emphasized by the Imperial
Chancellor, Dr. Michaelis, who, in giving his support to
the Resolution, had made use of the sinister qualifying
phrase, “ as I interpret it ™. '

Fully to appreciate the significance of this qualification
—and indeed of the German attitude throughout the
negotiations of Brest-Litovsk—it is necessary to under-
stand the changes which had taken place in the govern-
mental situation in Germany since August 29, 1916.

On that date Hindenburg and Ludendorff had been
appointed to the Supreme Command, under the Kaiser,
of the German armies in the field, and from that date a
change, at first subtle but later starkly blatant, had come
over the political structure of Germany. For the new High
Command demanded a free hand even in the control of
internal and foreign policy. In pressing this demand the
leading spirit was always Ludendorff. The strangely intimate
relations between the Marshal and his second-in-command,
which Hindenburg himself described as “ those of a happy
marriage ”’, had already resulted in the merging of the
older man’s identity with that of the younger. In this
strange “ marriage of minds ”’ Ludendorff was the brilliant,
dominating husband, Hindenburg the placid, acquiescing,
dependable wife. On the Eastern Front, in conjunction
with Hoffmann’s organizing genius, this combination had
proved, militarily, vastly effective. Transferred, minus
Hoffmann, to the West, it was still effective until applied
to political problems, when it became highly unfortunate.
For Hindenburg despised politics, which he did not under-
stand and which frankly bored him. He was only too glad
to leave all that to Ludendorff, who made use of his chief’s
name and position in the most unwarrantable manner.

The Supreme Command became an imperium in tm-
perio, with Ludendorft negotiating independently with the
Emperor, with the Chancellor, with the Foreign Office,
with the party leaders in the Reichstag, with industrial
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magnates and trade-union officials, in fact with everyone
who had to be subordinated to the will of G.H.Q. Gradually
a complete dictatorship was built up on the interpretation
which Ludendorff put upon the word “ responsibility .
For example, when any policy was mooted of which Luden-
dorft disapproved, or which he considered injurious to the
conduct of the war, he declared that the Supreme Command
could not assume ‘ responsibility ’ for such action, and
asked leave to resign. By exercise of this method of * per-
suasion ”’, the First Quartermaster-General forced everyone
to give ' way to him, from the Emperor downwards. Some-
times he obtained Hindenburg’s approval for his proposals,
frequently he made use of his name; always his final
argument was, “ The Field-Marshal and I will resign ”.

Thus, in November 1916, the Supreme Command wrecked
Bethmann Hollweg’s efforts for a separate peace with Russia,
and in February 1917 forced the adoption of unrestricted
U-boat warfare against his opposition. In July they insisted
upon his complete elimination, and secured as his successor
a poor colourless creature, George Michaelis, the former
Prussian Food Controller, who was merely their mouth-
piece.

With their nominee at the head of the Government,
Hindenburg and Ludendorff felt in a position to dispose
of the Peace Resolution which they had failed to prevent
the Majority Parties from bringing before the Reichstag.
Michaelis’ sinister phrase ““as I interpret it ’ was nothing
less than a reservation on behalf of the Supreme Command,
to whose dreams of conquest and annexation the terms
of the Resolution were sharply opposed.

But the Reichstag had missed the significance of the
Chancellor’s phrase and had adopted the Resolution, iron-
ically enough, at the same time that they passed huge addi-
tional war-credits. With justifiable pride could Michaelis
write to the German Crown Prince on July 25, 1917 : ““ The
hateful Resolution has been passed by 212 votes to 126,
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with 17 abstentions and 2 invalid votes. I have deprived it
of its greatest danger by my interpretation. One can, in fact,
make any peace one likes, and still be in accord with the
Resolution.”

Indeed one could. ““ You see, Your Highness,” explained
the egregious Erzberger, in discussing the Resolution with
Prince Max of Baden, “ this way I get the Longwy-Briey
Line by means of negotiation.” At a later date it was even
asserted that the Treaty of Brest-Litovsk accorded with
the terms of the Peace Resolution, ““ as the High Command
interpreted it ”.

Such, then, was the position in Germany at the opening
of the negotiations with Russia. In September the Supreme
Command had sabotaged a not unpromising peace offer on
the part of the Pope, and Michaelis, the Chancellor of a
Hundred Days, had been replaced in the last week of
October by the aged Bavarian Prime Minister, Count von
Hertling. Had the new Chancellor been younger, he might
have put up a better fight against the daily incrcasing
encroachment of the military upon the civil sphere. But
though his ripe experience and high character rendered it
impossible for him to adopt the views of Ludendorff 4 foto,
his advanced age and lack of vigour made him unequal to
embarking on a controversy with the Supreme Command.

Not so his Secretary of State, Richard von Kiihlmann.
Like Hertling, Kithimann was a Bavarian and a Catholic;
at the age of forty-four, he was the most astute of
Germany’s diplomats and, with the exception of Bethmann
Hollweg, the most enlightened of her war-time states-
men. Essentially civilized and homme du monde, he had
travelled extensively and served widely. Born in Constanti-
nople, he had been attaché and counsellor in half a dozen
capitals, and there was that unforgettable morning in
March 1905, when, green with sea-sickness and hampered
by the full uniform of a Bavarian Uhlan, he had scaled a
heaving rope ladder to greet his Kaiser in the open road-
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stead of Tangier. The war had brought him great responsi-
bilities. A successful Ambassador at the Hague and at
Constantinople, he had been recalled by Michaelis to take
charge of the Foreign Office, and was confirmed in that
position by Hertling, who was glad to find a fellow country-
man and a co-religionist in this unwelcome desert of
Prussian Lutheranism.

Unlike many Germans, Kiithlmann understood the
art of living. He appreciated to the full the perfection of
good wine, fine objets d’art, and beautiful women. There
was about him a certain detachment, a certain spiritual
arrogance, which made him almost equally actor and critic.
Even in the midst of great events, he never lost entirely
that nonchalance of the onlooker,a rather sardonic onlooker,
laughing at everyone, including himself. Without being
superficial, he was never deeply stirred by any issue. He
would never risk his name or reputation on a throw, as had
Bismarck. To him it did not appear worth while. He played
for the mere charm of playing.

But Kiihlmann was far-sighted as well as civilized. In
closer touch with events of the day, and having a greater
appreciation of them, he saw very much more clearly than
did the Supreme Command, who were separated from
actualities by a horde of ““ yes-men ” and an atmosphere
of wishful thinking. Far from sharing Ludendorfi’s annexa-
tionist illusions, Kiihlmann had already perceived the
impossibility of a victorious peace for the Central Powers.
A peace of mutual exhaustion was the best that could be
hoped for, and it was with an eye to this ultimate end,
rather than the permanent acquisition of new territory,
that the Secretary of State had directed his efforts since he
took office in August 1917. His early attempts to capitalize
the Papal Peace Offer had been nullified by the machinations
of the Supreme Command and the duplicity of Michaelis,
but he had not yet given up hope. The prospect of
negotiations with Russia gave him a second opportunity.
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2

No two groups could have been more fundamentally
dissimilar in outlook than those which were warring, on
the eve of the Brest-Litovsk Conference, for the con-
trol of German foreign policy, and the fact that deep
cleavages of opinion existed between them robbed the
forthcoming negotiations of the element of speed which
was 80 necessary an asset for success. For, throughout the
conference, questions of high policy were the subject of the
fiercest contention between the Imperial Government and
the Supreme Command, and the German delegates were
always bampered, from first to last, by the intrigues of
Ludendorft in Berlin.

The chief ground of disagreement was the future status,
under the peace settlement about to be concluded, of the
‘areas already under German and Austrian military occupa-
tion, which included Courland and Lithuania, Russian
Poland, and extensive territory inhabited by the White
Russians and Ukrainians. This Polish question was of
the greatest complexity and had involved the two senior
partners of the Quadruple Alliance in not a few acrimonious
exchanges.

Both groups of belligerents had used the slogan of Polish
resurrection as a weapon of political propaganda. The Tsar
had in 1914 proclaimed the future reunion of Poland as
an autonomous unit within the framework of the Russian
Empire. This was followed in the summer of 1916 by
negotiations between Berlin and Vienna, which resulted
in an agreement for the creation of an independent kingdom
of Poland with a hereditary constitutional monarchy. The
announcement of the agreement had, however, been
pigeon-holed, in deference to the representations of
Falkenhayn, Hindenburg’s predecessor as Chief of the
General Staff, who feared the effect of liberty upon a
people pronouncedly anti-German and occupying an
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important position in the rear of the Eastern Front.

With the arrival of Hindenburg and Ludendorff to
control affairs, this eminently sensible policy was reversed.
Ludendorff, dazzled by the mirage of new Polish divisions
contributed to the German army by a grateful Polish
people, forced through the proclamation by the two
Emperors of the Kingdom of Poland in November 1916,
thereby completely ruining the approach to a separate peace
with Russia which had been fostered by both sides with
such laborious care.

The policy of the Supreme Command was completely
barren of results. The Poles accepted the premise of
independence as nothing more than their due, but would
not place their man-power at the disposal of the Central

. Powers unless they were given a genuine Polish Government
.to control the Polish army. Ludendorff’s dream of a Polish

P

army under German officers vanished in smoke. On his

- terms the Poles refused to play.

The Imperial Proclamation of November 1916 had

" merely established the academic existence of Poland ; it

made no attempt to define its status politically, and the

" control of the occupied area remained in the hands of the
" Governors-General of Warsaw and Lublin. A year later no
" further progress had been made, though there were three

potential solutions upon the board.

The first of these, the so-called ‘ Austrian Solution ”,
provided for a union of Congress Poland with Galicia,
the whole to be made a partner in a tripartite Habsburg
Monarchy. The solution was favoured by the Habsburgs
and at times by the German Government, but was opposed
by the Hungarian Premier, Count Tisza, who felt that the
political structure of the Monarchy should not be changed,
and that, if Poland must be added to it at all, it should
much rather form an Austrian province.! The German
General Staff also objected on the ground that, both

1 Cgzernin, p. 200. :
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politically and strategically, such a solution would put a
tax upon the strength of Germany’s alliance with Austria
which could not be borne in the long run.!

There were put forward two possible German solutions
of the problem. The first, a counterpart of the “ Austrian
Solution ”, and emanating from the ingenious brain of
Erzberger, envisaged the incorporation of both Russian and
Austrian Poland within the German Empire, Austria being
compensated by the incorporation of Rumania. This was
rejected out of hand by Vienna, wise enough not to throw
away the substance for the shadow.

The second “ German Solution ”” was one dear to the
heart of the General Staff. It provided, by widening the
narrow neck between Danzig and Thorn, a “ protective
belt ” for East Prussia against an attack such as that made
by the Grand Duke Nicholas in 1914, and another ““ belt ”’
east of the Vistula to protect the Upper Silesian coal-fields.?
With the remainder of the dismembered Congress Poland
the General Staff were not concerned; it could either
become independent, providing that it established favour-
able economic relations with Germany, or it could be given
to Austria.

This proposal was opposed by both the Austrian and
German Governments. The first objected because “ Poland,
crippled beyond recognition by the frontier readjustment,
even though united with Galicia, would have been so un-
satisfactory a factor that there would never have been
any prospect of harmonious dealings with her ”;* and, the
second, because they were unwilling to see large numbers
of Poles added to the Empire. To this objection the Geeneral
Staff replied that *“ an increase of Polish population in the
defensive belt, which would follow, was undesirable, but

H

! Field-Marshal von Hindenburg, Out of My Life (London, 1920),
P- 232 et seg. ; Ludendorff, ii. 531 et seg.

%2 Ludendorf, ii. 520.

8 Czernin, p. 521.
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this grave objection would have to give way before military

necessity .t

In the case of Courland and Lithuania, the General
Staff was opposed to relinquishing from German control
any territory which had been won by force of arms. It was
their wish to create two Grand-Duchies which should be
connected with the House of Hohenzollern in the person of
the Emperor himself, and so far had they impressed their
views upon the local governments through the agency of
the Commander-in-Chief in the East, and, in Courland, of
the Baltic Barons, that elections for constituent assemblies
had already taken place in both provinces, and the Diet of
Mitau had actually requested the Kaiser to become Duke
of Courland.

The Lithuanians had proved less tractable, and more
drastic methods were necessary to ensure their compliance.
The Diet of Vilna had been curtly informed by Prince
Isenburg and General von Freytag-Loringhoven that, unless
it voted for an independent Lithuania with support from
the German Empire, the Supreme Command would insist
upon the establishment of a new strategic frontier for
Germany, a Kovno—Grodno-Dvinsk line cutting the country
in two, and leaving the Lithuanians on the east of it to
their own devices.?

Such was the principle of self-determination
interpret it ”’.

(13

as I

3

December 19, 1917. Crown Council at Kreuznach ; the
All-Highest War Lord presides. Pale and nervous, he sits
sunk in his chair, listening to the wrangling of his Ministers
and generals. Square-headed, grey, and sphinx-like, Hinden-
burg remains impassive throughout the session ; near him
the white-whiskered Chancellor, Count von Hertling, a sad
old man, anxious to do his best but unwilling to cross the

1 Ludendorf, ii. 521. 2 Scheidemann, ii. 101.
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path of the High Command. Later in the conference,
both he and the Marshal pass intermittently into the easy
dozing of the old, leaving the burden of discussion to the
subordinates. This is what their subordinates expect of
them ; Ludendorff, his Pour le Mérite cross glittering at the
collar of his field-grey uniform, his absurdly small mouth
pursed above his bulging jaw and jowl, arrogant and
contemptuous of civilians, looks with dislike across the
table at Kithlmann who, a little cynical, a little nonchalant,
succeeds in maintaining his dual personality of actor-
onlooker.

Ludendorff presents vehemently the case of the Supreme
Command. It is vitally necessary to the safety of the
Empire that the “ German Solution ” of the Polish ques-
tion be adopted and a “ protective belt "’ established along
the new frontier. In addition, Courland and Lithuania
must be established in personal union with the German
Crown. The Russians must be taken at their word and
should be asked to evacuate Estonia and Livonia in order
that the inhabitants of these provinces might exercise the
right of self-determination. It is not said, but it is implied,
that they will be persuaded to determine themselves in
the right way.

The Kaiser till now has favoured the ““ Austrian Solu-
tion ” for Poland, but he is always influenced by the latest
speaker, and he now swings about and endorses the views
of the High Command. The * German Solution > it shall
be, and as for the Baltic Provinces, he will accept them in
personal union with the Crown of Prussia or with the
German Empire, provided the Federal Princes agree.

The Chancellor concurs in the majority opinion. Kiihl-
mann is alone.

Alone, but not silent. With a greater issue in his mind,
he repeats his dislike of the policy of thé High Command
and reiterates his belief that the question of the future of
the Hastern Provinces should be left open. One point he
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concedes : “I might withdraw my opposition to hoisting
the German flag in the Eastern border States, but I
would energetically advise against ever nailing it to the
mast there.”

Ludendorff is furious, the All-Highest nervous and ill
at ease (must there always be these clashes ?) ; Hindenburg
is awakened and Kiihlmann puts a direct question to him :

“ Why do you particularly want the territories ¢ ’

Rumblingly from that gigantic torso comes the Marshal’s
solemn answer : “ I need them for the manceuvring of my
left wing in the next war ”. And Ludendorff adds that the
Eastern Provinces would improve Germany’s food supply
and bring her additional man-power in case she should,
in a future war, have to rely once more on her own resources.

Kiihlmann remains unconvinced ; the Kaiser vacillates,
unwilling to come down on either side of the fence. The
conference adjourns without a final decision being taken,
and Kithlmann leaves for Brest-Litovsk without definite
instructions.

Such, then, were the circumstances of Kiihimann’s de-
parture for the Peace Conference. Regarding himself as
unbound by the discussions at Kreuznach, which had ended
in indecision, he was determined to pursue the policy
which he believed best. Confident in his belief that all that
the Central Powers could hope for was a peace by negotia-
tion, he was equally convinced that the time for this had
not yet arrived. If the Entente Powers were prepared to
accept the Bolshevik proposals for a general peace, well
and good ; but Kiihlmann was convinced that they would
not. The main problem, therefore, was to induce the
Russians to make a separate peace, and it was with this
purpose in view that he agreed to the drafting of a proposal
for a general peace. Only after its rejection by the Entente
was the door open to separate negotiations, and once the
Bolsheviks realized that the Central Powers were ready
for a general peace and that the Entente were not, there
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would be nothing left for them to do but to make a separate
agreement.

So reasoned the Foreign Secretary. If general peace
negotiations ensued, he was prepared to barter Courland
and Lithuania against possible Allied annexations on
Germany’s Western frontier. These might go back to Russia,
despite the dangers thus involved for the many Baltic
Germans therein, provided only that Germany rcmained
intact in the West. The Secretary of State was a man who
believed in doing one thing at a time, and, though he hoped
for a separate peace, for the moment he devoted himself
to the work in hand, which was the negotiation of a general
settlement.

With Hertling, Kijhimann met the Reichstag party
leaders immediately before his departure for Brest-Litovsk.
To them he unfolded the policy which the Government
proposed to follow in the forthcoming negotiations, a policy
based upon the Peace Resolution of July, and cmbodying
the Soviet formula of no annexations and no indemnities.
From the Centre to the Left Kithlmann’s views reccived
wholehearted support. There were many among the
members of these parties who genuinely desired a just
peace with Russia and who sincerely hoped that the results
of the conference might be such that “ no Russian will
have to regard as a misfortune for his country the peace
which is now being concluded .

From the jingoes of the Right, the Fatherland Party,
came a more qualified form of approval. It mattered little to
Westarp and Stresemann what formula of ‘“ abracadabra ”
was recited so long as the result was the addition of the
Baltic Provinces to the Reich, and the * protective belt ”’
required by the Supreme Command. If Kithlmann could ob-
tain these by means of his policy, well and good, the Con-
servatives and the National Liberals would support him ;
but they warned him frankly that “ we have purchased

1 Vorwiirts, December 17, 1917.
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our right in the East far too dearly to give it up for the sake
of cheap revolutionary phrases ”’,* and it was with this
warning from the ‘ ancestral voices * in his ears that the
Secretary of State departed for Brest.

4

By December 20 five delegations had assembled
at Brest-Litovsk. From Berlin Kiihlmann had brought
Rosenberg as his assistant and, as his chef de cabinet,
a young Saxon nobleman, Baron von Hoesch, who was
later to achieve distinction as Ambassador in Paris and
London. The question of the representation of the Supreme
Command on the delegation had been a very vexed one.
Ludendorft had originally intended to go himself to Brest-
Litovsk, but wisely abandoned the idea. The antipathy
which existed between him and Kiihlmann would have
rendered any form of co-operation impossible. Hoffmann
was therefore appointed as military representative, with
plenipotentiary status but having only the right of advice
and protest.2 He made good use of both. But though
loyally representing the views of his chief, Hoffmann was
capable of understanding the very difficult situation which
Kiihlmann had to handle. The Secretary of State was
agreeably surprised to discover this unexpected support.

Ludendorft therefore remained in Jovian detachment,
brooding above, ready to hurl his thunderbolts, even as
Lenin dominated the situation from the other side. Indeed,
as events progressed it became more a duel between these
two gigantic figures, the delegates at the conference being
but pawns upon the board. Originally Ludendorff had
sped Lenin on his way, thinking him too a pawn; now

1 Berliner Lokal Anzeiger, December 21, 1917.

2 Hoffmann’s plenipotentiary status, later challenged by the Social
Democrats, was clearly stated by Kiihlmann in a speech in the Reichstag

on February 20, 1918. See Verhandlungen des Reichstags, No. 130,
Pp- 4042-4043.

I
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they faced each other across Europe, matching wits in a
titanic contest.

At Brest-Litovsk, Kiihlmann found awaiting him
Czernin, General Csiscerics, and Baron von Wiesner, who
in later years travelled Europe in vain as the representative
of the exiled House of Habsburg. M. Popoft and Nessimy
Bey headed the Bulgarian and Turkish declegations ; these
were later joined by M. Radoslavov, the Prime Minister,
and Taldat Pasha, the Grand Vizier.

The Soviet delegation, again led by Jofle, was practically
identical with that which had negotiated the Armistice,
save that Pokrovsky, the “ Court Historian” of the
Revolution, had been added to it, and that General
Samoilo had joined Admiral Altvater as joint head of the
technical advisers.

Remarkable are the tragic fatalities which over-
hung many of the delegates asscmbled at Brest-Litovsk.
Kithlmann survives, though somewhat precariously, in
Nazi Germany, but both Hoesch and Biilow died in their
early middle age, their will to live sapped by disgust and
contempt for a régime which they continued to serve in
fear of what type of men would succeed them. Talaat Pasha
was destined to die at the hand of an Armenian assassin,
the avenger of countless massacred victims, and Radoslavov
was to be led in chains through the streets of Sofia.

Among the Bolsheviks Fate was even more thorough.
Trotsky, who had not yet appeared upon the scene but
who was to play so great a part, leads in his Mexican
retreat a life of dynamic hatred and bitter vituperation.
In his fall he carried many with him. Over 1500 Soviet
citizens have been “liquidated ” as Trotskyists, among
them the most prominent of the figures at Brest-Litovsk.
Joffe, Kamenev, Sokolnikov, and Karakhan all rose to
ambassadorial rank to be hurled from their high estate
with ignominy. Joffe died by his own hand, Kamenev and
Karakhan by the bullets of the executioner as * Fascist "’
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supporters of Trotsky. Sokolnikov exists in a Soviet prison
on a similar charge of treason, and with him Radek, the
most brilliant political commentator of the régime. Of
the Russian experts Admiral Altvater and General Samoilo
perished in the Red Terror of 1918.

Altogether nearly four hundred people were gathered
and housed in the huts of the Brest-Litovsk citadel, living
in frugality and eating at a common mess-table. The
Germans were generous to the Bolsheviks in the matter of
placing motor cars at their disposal (though there was
nowhere to drive to) and an air of at least superficial
friendliness prevailed. They were particularly thoughtful
of the Russian military and naval experts, realizing to the
full their invidious position and showing them sympathy.

On the evening of December 20, the Commander-in-
Chief in the East, Field-Marshal H.R.H. Prince Leopold
of Bavaria, gave a dinner party to the assembled delegates,
and nearly a hundred persons sat down to what must have
been the most unique gathering in the history of modern
diplomacy. The picture was rich in contrasts. At the head
of the table sat the bearded, stalwart figure of the Prince
of Bavaria, having on his right Joffe, a Jew recently released
from a Siberian prison. Next to him was Count Czernin, a
grand seigneur and diplomat of the old school, a Knight
of the Golden Fleece, trained in the traditions of Kaunitz
and Metternich, to whom Joffe, with his soft eyes and
kindly tone, confided: ““I hope we may be able to raise
the revolution in your country too .
~ According to the rules of “revolutionary etiquette ” the
mandatory representatives were given precedence over
the experts ; thus the sailor, Olich, sat at the high table

1 “ We shall hardly need any assistance from the good Joffe, I fancy,
in bringing about a revolution among ourselves *’, commented Czernin in
his diary that evening as he recorded the events of the day ; “ the people
will manage that, if the Entente persist in refusing to come to terms *
(Czernin, p. 221).
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while Admiral Altvater dined in the ante-room. This
added a definite piquancy to the proceedings. Opposite
Hoffmann the workers’ delegate, Obukhov, was in
considerable difficulties with the various implements
beside his plate. He tricd to seize the food first with one
thing and then another; “it was only the fork that he
used exclusively as a tooth-pick ”. But the lour de force
was old Stashkov, the peasant. He had got over his
embarrassment by now and was thoroughly enjoying
himself. What a story he would have to tell when he got
back to the village ! He laughed jovially, shaking his long
grey hair and shovelling food through his enormous
wntrimmed beard. He was particularly appreciative of
the wine, never refusing it and drawing a smile ¢cven from
the frozen-faced German orderly by enquiring in a business-
like manner of his neighbour Prince Ernst von Hohenlohe,
“ Which is the stronger ¢ Red or white —it makes no
difference to me which I drink, I'm only intcrested in the
strength.” By the end of the mecal Stashkov, not pale
by nature, was upholding in his flushed, good-natured old
face the reputation of a “red ” delegate.!

On the other side of the table were Baron von Kiihlmann
and General Hoffmann with Kamenev and Sokolnikov,
who spoke to them enthusiastically of the task which lay
before them in leading the Russian proletariat to the
heights of happiness and prosperity. Opposite this group
Prince Ernst von Hohenlohe sat next to Mme. Bitsenko,
a quiet and reserved little grey-haired assassin.

But it was not only at the dinner-table that the con-
trast between the two groups of negotiators was remark-
able. At the conference board it became even more plain.
The whim of history willed that the representatives of

! Czernin, pp. 219-221; Hoffmann, ii. 195; Fokke, pp. 36-37.
Trotsky’s comment on this incident, of which he was not a witness,
is that “ the peasant, an old man, was encouraged to drink more wine
than was good for him ” ; of. My Life (London, 1930), p. 312.
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the most revolutionary régime ever known should sit at the
same diplomatic table with the representatives of the
most reactionary military caste among all ruling classes.
The spokesman of the most disciplined and apparently
most firmly established Government met the leaders of a
revolutionary State whose lease of life was still uncertain.

No two groups could have thought more differently. The
Central Powers spoke the ancient language of diplomacy,
time-honoured and crusted with tradition. They thought
in terms of strategic lines, of provinces ceded, of economic
advantages to be gained. Not so the Bolsheviks. Theirs was
not a parlance of frontiers and concessions. This was the
first contact of Bolshevism with the Western World, and
it was the aim of the Soviet representatives to utilize the
meetings as a sounding-board for the propagation of their
doctrine. In their principles of a general European peace
they were not concerned with geographical terms and
expressions. They banked upon the immediate effect of
their propaganda on the war-weary masses of Europe to
achieve what they knew could not be achieved by force
of arms, namely the World Revolution and the replacement
of Imperialism by “ the rule of the proletariat ™.

“We began peace negotiations ”, wrote Trotsky, “in
the hope of arousing the workmen’s parties of Germany and
Austria-Hungary as well as those of the Entente countries.
For this reason we were obliged to delay the negotiations as
long as possible to give the European workmen time to
understand the main fact of the Soviet revolution itself
and particularly its peace policy.”

Moreover, fully to appreciate the inwardness of the
Bolshevik peace proposals, they must be regarded in the
light of Bolshevik philosophy. At first sight the promises
of self-determination given to nationalism in the Russian
peace programme would appear to weaken the Bolsheviks,
for almost inevitably it meant that large areas of the former

1 Leon Trotsky, Lenin (London, 1925), p. 128.
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Russian Empire would elect either to hecome independent
or to seek the protection of the Central Powers. But to the
Bolshevik mentality of that time (it has become modified
with years) it mattered little whether the cnemy, in the
form of capitalist imperialism, gained [urther sources of
territorial and material strength. It was not upon this
ground that battle was being given. The battle-ground was
that of social struggle, and thercin frontiers mattered
little in comparison with the fight of the proletarian against
the capitalist. “ It made little difference to them whether
Lithuania was or was not ceded to Giermany. What did
matter was the struggle of the Lithuanian proletarian
against the Lithuanian capitalist.” *

““ He is no Socialist ”, wrote Lenin, in an open letter to
American workers, “ who does not understand that the
victory over the bourgeoisic may require losses of territory
and defeats. He is no Socialist who will not sacrifice his
fatherland for the triumph of the social revolution.” *

Such was the psychological approach of the Bolsheviks
to Brest-Litovsk, the policy with which they confidently
hoped to convert the world. When that policy failed,
something fundamental went out of Bolshevism and was
replaced by compromise. It is the search for that “* funda-

mental something ” which is disintegrating the Soviet
Union to-day.

5

The first plenary session of the conference was held in
the afternoon of December 22, and the proceedings were
opened with a speech of welcome by Prince Leopold.
Kithlmann was unanimously voted first president of the
conference, and when the usual compliments had been
exchanged, he made a brief speech indicating the lines on
which their discussions must proceed. “ Our negotiations

1 Ktienne A.ntone]]i, Bolshevist Russia (London, 1920), pp. 169-160.
% Reprinted in Class Struggle (New York), December 1918.
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will be guided by a spirit of placable humanity and mutual
esteem ”’, he declared. “ They must take into consideration,
on the one hand, what has become historical, in order not
to lose our footing on the firm ground of facts, but, on the
other hand, they must also be inspired by that new great
leading motive (Leitgedanke), which has brought us here
together. I may regard it as an auspicious circumstance
that our negotiations should begin in sight of that festival
which for many centuries past has promised peace on earth
and good will towards men.”* With this preliminary he
invited Joffe to state the general principles upon which
the Soviet delegation hoped to base conditions of peace.

After reciting the major portion of the Decree of Peace,
Joffe formally presented the six main tenets, which had
already become familiar to all present.

I. No forcible appropriation of any territories taken
in the course of the war. The occupying armies to
be withdrawn from those territories at the earliest
moment.

II. Complete political independence to be given to
those nationalities which had been deprived of it
since the beginning of the war.

ITI. Nationalities not hitherto enjoying political in-
dependence to be allowed the right to decide by
means of a referendum whether they elect to be
united to other nations or to acquire independence.
The referendum to be so arranged as to ensure .
complete freedom of voting.

IV. In the case of territories inhabited by several
nationalities, the rights of minorities to be safe-
guarded by special provisions.

V. None of the belligerent Powers to pay any war
indemnity. War requisitions should be returned, and

1 Proceedings, p. 38.
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sufferers by war should be compensated from a
special fund levied on all belligerent countries in
proportion to their resourccs.

VI. Colonial questions to be settled in conformity with
points I, II, III, and IV.

In conclusion, the Russian delegation proposed that no
restriction of the liberty of weaker nations by stronger
should be tolerated, such as cconomic boycotts, the subjec-
tion of one country to another by means of the imposition
of economic treaties, and bilateral Customs conventions
hindering freedom of commerce with a third country.*

The delegations of the Quadruple Alliance took formal
note of the Soviet proposals and requested time and an
adjournment to prepare their reply, which they promised
to deliver as soon as possible.

Kiithimann and Czernin bad no difficulty in reaching an
agreement. They had nothing to lose and c¢verything to
gain by accepting the Soviet principles for the basis of
a general peace. Even Austria had little to risk, for, if
the Entente endorsed these same principles, they must
abandon the postulates of the Treaty of London of April
26,1915, which aimed at the partition of the Dual Monarchy.
And though it was a dangerous move for the Imperial
Government to accept the principle of self-determination
in view of the national ambitions of the Czechs, Croats,
Rumanians, and the other half-dozen peoples who went to

1 Among the treasured relics closely guarded in the vaults of the
Lenin Institute at Moscow is a sheet of MS. entitled “ Outline of Pro-
gram for Peace Negotiations with Germany ”. In two distinct hand-
writings follow the instructions for the Soviet delegation as adopted at
the session of the Council of Commissars on December 10, 1917. The
first part of the document is halting, almost incoherent, the page marred
by many erasions and corrections. Then the handwriting changes, and
with it the nature of the document, which becomes terse and direct.
The first script is that of Lenin, the second of Stalin. The master had
provided the formula, but the prescription was the work of the disciple.
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make up the Habsburg dominions, yet this was safer
than facing certain dismemberment at the hands of the
Entente. If a general peace were not possible, Czernin
determined to make a separate agreement with Russia
for the cessation of hostilities and the resumption of com-
mercial and economic relations on the basis of the old
pre-war commercial treaty. For him it was an absolute
necessity to bring home a Brotfrieden (Bread Peace).

The Austrian and German Foreign Secretaries therefore
agreed at once to return an unqualified acceptance of the
Russian thesis “if the Entente would also agree to
negotiate a Peace on similar terms . Hoffmann protested
against such a decision ““ because at bottom it was a lie .
He urged that ‘it would be more correct to keep strictly
to facts ’, and for the Central Powers to take their stand
on the Peace Resolution of the Reichstag rather than the
more embracing Soviet formula. The Russians should be
told frankly, as he had told them during the armistice
negotiations, that, though the Central Powers were ready to
negotiate a general peace, until the Bolsheviks could produce
credentials entitling them to speak for the Powers of the
Entente, it would be possible only to discuss a separate
peace between Russia and the Quadruple Alliance.

Both Kiihimann and Czernin were opposed to this
doctrine, and between them they overbore Hoffmann’s
objections and also those of the Turks, who wished to
insist that Russian troops should be withdrawn from the
Caucasus immediately on the conclusion of peace. This,
of course, was inadmissible to the Germans, since it might
logically entail their withdrawal from Courland and
Lithuania at the same time. After much argument Nessimy
Bey was persuaded to withdraw both this demand and a
further objection that the Soviet delegation had not
clearly stated its intention to refrain from all interference
in internal affairs. To this Czernin replied cymically that
if he, in view of the perilous internal condition of Austria-
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Hungary, had no hesitation in accepting, the Turks could
also rest content.!

These obstacles to unanimity removed, other diffi-
culties suddenly arose with the Bulgarians, who, owing to
the fact that most of them, including M. Popofi, could
speak no German and hardly any French, had grasped very
little of what was going on at the first plenary session.
Once it had been explained to them, they expressed them-
selves with considerable heat and demanded that Bulgaria
should be exempted from the no-anncxation provision.
Bulgaria had come into the war on a frankly annexationist
basis, and they would only agree provided that the
territory which they had seized from Serbia and Rumania
was not regarded as an annexation.

Kiihlmann and Czernin lavished threats, cajoleries, and
charms upon the recalcitrant Popoff ; he would have none
of them. In vain did they assure him that it was, so to
speak, ““ all in fun ”” and that they were only going through
the motions of accepting the Soviet formula ; that there
was no danger at all, because it was impossible that the
Entente Powers should agree to join in the negotiations,
and that, once this was established, the assurances given
now by the Central Powers would become void. In vain they
pointed to the example of the more malleable Nessimy
Bey—still Popoff stuck obstinately to his “NO ' ; the
word Dobrudja had become graven upon his heart. He
would rather leave the conference than abandon one iota
of his claims. The deadlock seemed complete.

But the soldiers succeeded in finding a solution where
the diplomats had failed. After consultation with Hoffmann,
General Gantcheff, Chief of the Bulgarian General Staff,
took it upon himself to send a detailed telegram to Tsar
Ferdinand, leaving the ultimate decision in his hands.
Back came a telegraphic order from Sofia, somewhat
peremptory in tone, authorizing Popoff to concur in the

1 Czernin, p. 223.



“ PEACE WITHOUT INDEMNITIES . . .” 121

views of Bulgaria’s allies. Unanimity was finally achieved
on the evening of the 24th.!

It was on Christmas Day, 1917, that the reply of the
Central Powers was read by Czernin to the conference.
The Quadruple Alliance, he said, found that the Soviet
proposals formed a discussable basis for an immediate
general peace without forcible acquisitions of territory and
without war indemnities. They were, therefore, ready to
begin such a peace on two conditions :

(1) All Powers now participating in the war must
within a suitable period, without exception and
without reserve, bind themselves to the most precise
adherence to the general conditions agreed upon.

(2) With respect to point No. IIT of the Russian
proposal, the question of self-determination for
national groups which possess no political independ-
ence cannot, in the opinion of the Quadruple
Alliance, admit of international settlement, but
must, if necessary, be solved by each State independ-
ently together with the nationalities concerned,
and in accordance with the constitution of that
State.

He then replied agreeing in detail to the six Soviet
points and concluded with the proposal that, although they
were all ready to enter into general negotiations, in order
to save time, they should begin discussion on those special
points which in any event would have tobe settled separately
between Russia and the Central Powers.?

Joffe warmly welcomed the decision of the Alliance and
accepted their reservations in principle, though regretting
the necessity for them.®* He agreed to examine the special

1 Czernin, pp. 223-224 ; Hoffmann, ii. 200-201.

2 Proceedings, pp. 40-41.

8 The Soviet press, however, criticized the second reservation of the
Alliance somewhat sharply, declaring that to speak of * constitutional



122 “ PEACE WITHOUT INDEMNITIES . . .”

points referred to during the ten days’ adjournment of the
formal negotiations arranged in order to allow the Entente
an opportunity of participating in them.

The Christmas Day declaration was hailed in Germany
with conflicting emotions. To the partics of the Left
and Centre, who had supported the Peace Resolution
and who were suspicious of the sincerity of the Govern-
ment’s adherence to its principles, Czernin’s statement
came as a welcome relief and appeared to render their
doubts groundless. “The most democratic government
in the world (the Soviets) has given testimony that the
Central Powers’ peace policy is entirely frec from all
lust of conquest and all striving after violence ”’, wrote
Georg Bernhard. ““ These negotiations must be continued
without paying any attention to obstacles and in the spirit
of the pure love of peace.” *

But to the annexationists of the Right the statement
was little short of treachery. In acquiescing in it, Kiihlmann
had abandoned the right to dictate which the victory of
German arms had achieved, and had descended to the
level of mere negotiation on the basis of cquality. The
editors of the jingo press fulminated in righteous anger
against so disgraceful a proceeding. ““ Never before have
we so completely given up diplomatically everything which
has been so dearly bought with the blood and lives of
hundreds of thousands, with the sweat of millions, with
the deprivation of our children, and with our own hunger ”,
stormed the T'dgliche Rundschaw ;® and another writer
pictured his readers dropping the morning newspapers on
channels ” in this connection was to nullify the principle at issue. The
_Centra! Po_wers “ while they agree not to apply the right of the strongest
In territories occupied during the war, nevertheless do nothing for the

small nationalities in their own territories. The war cannot come to an

end without the restoration of independence to small nationalities ”
(Pravda, December 26, 1917).

1 Vossische Zeitung, December 26, 1917.
2 Tigliche Rundschau, December 27, 1917.
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their breakfast-tables ““with painful bitterness in their
hearts when reading this news .

The ink was scarcely dry on the preliminary agreement,
when there came a roar of protest from Kreuznach. The
Supreme Command considered that the declaration of
December 25 was a “betrayal ” of the ‘‘ agreement ”
reached at Kreuznach on the 18th. They considered the
adjournment an unwarrantable delay by which nothing
could be gained, since there was no prospect of the
Entente’s accepting the invitation. The military security
of the frontiers had been sacrificed to political sophistry.
Hindenburg addressed an angry telegram protesting
against this “ policy of renunciation ”’, and Ludendorff
telephoned furiously to Hoffmann demanding an explana-
tion. Hoffmann very rightly replied that he had not been
present at Kreuznach on the 18th, and knew nothing of
what had occurred. He had, however, endeavoured to dis-
suade Kithlmann from his devious course.

In the midst of this outburst Kiihlmann remained,
true to his name, a ““cool man . He spoke with the
Chancellor, explaining the position in detail, and begged
him to see the Kaiser. Hertling did so, and Wilhelm IT,
with one of his rare bursts of courage, decided in favour of
the Secretary of State and against the High Command.
* I am personally satisfied ”’, was his message to Kiihlmann,
who, turning to Czernin, commented, “ The Kaiser is the
only sensible man in the whole of Germany .2

Nevertheless, this brush with the Supreme Command
had the effect of stiffening Kiihlmann’s attitude in the
next crisis, which arose almost immediately.

Jubilant at the acceptance of the Soviet terms by the
Central Powers,-Joffe had telegraphed enthusiastically to
Petrograd. The Russians talked happily among themselves
and to their colleagues on the other delegations. It was

1 Disseldorfer General Anzeiger, December 26, 1917,
2 Ludendorfl, ii. 545-546 ; Czernin, p. 228.
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made suddenly clear to the Germans and Austrians that
their declaration had been completely misunderstood, and
that the Russians believed that a peace ““ without annexa-
tion * would give them back Russian Poland, Lithuania,
and Courland. This manifestly was neither strategically
possible nor politically desirable from the German point of
view. Apart from the fact that they wished to hold the
Eastern Provinces as security for the general peace negotia-
tions, these territories formed part of their munition
establishment. The railway matériel, the factorics, and,
most important of all, the grain, were indispensable so
long as hostilities lasted. The German Realpolitik rendered
withdrawal impossible.

Matters were brought to a head when, in conversation
with Hoffmann’s (.8.0.1, Major Brinckmann, Colonel
Fokke stated deliberately that the Russians unquestionably
deduced from the statements of Czernin and Kiihlmann
that not only would Austrian and German troops be with-
drawn from all occupied Russian territory behind the
frontiers of 1914, but that the return of these territories
to Russia was not in itself precluded.! In some dismay
Brinckmann reported to his chief, who in turn carried the
news to Kiithimann. The Russians must be disillusioned at
once, said Hoffmann, for, if they were allowed to return
to Petrograd under this misapprehension—namely that the
peace they were about to sign would guarantee to Russia
her pre-war western frontier—their awakening at a later
date to the fact that they had been wholly deceived would
only result in frantic indignation, and perhaps in a rupture
of negotiations. Besides, the Supreme Command, already
critical of the conduct of the negotiations, would be doubly
incensed if the position were not made perfectly clear.

Kithlmann and Czernin agreed, and Hoffmann was
commissioned to undertake the unpleasant task. He
selected the luncheon-table as his field of operations and,

1 Hoffmann, ii. 201 ; Fokke, p. 38.
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seating himself next to Joffe, came, with characteristic
bluntness, directly to the point. The Russians were clearly
under a misapprehension as to the interpretation of the
phrase ““ no annexations ”’, he declared. The attitude of the
Central Powers was that it was no forcible annexation if
portions of the former Russian Empire had, of their own
free will and acting through the duly constituted authorities,
elected to separate from Russia and assume either an
independent existence or a protected status within the
German Empire. The Soviet State itself, Hoffmann indi-
cated with some point, had, by the Decree on the Self-
Determination of Nations which they had promulgated on
November 15, given the right of withdrawal to the different
nationalities within the State. Poland, Courland, and
Lithuania had merely exercised that right. The Central
Powers reserved their liberty of action to reach a direct
understanding with the representatives of the States to
the exclusion of Russia.

Joffe’s appetite seemed to desert him (“ he looked as
if he had received a blow on the head ”, says Hoffmann),
and immediately after luncheon he asked for a meeting
with Kithlmann and Czernin. The shock to the Bolsheviks
had evidently been a severe one. Indignation mingled
with disappointment. Joffe protested, Kamenev stormed,
Pokrovsky wept. “ How can you talk of peace without
annexation ”, he sobbed, ““ when nearly eighteen provinces
are torn from Russia ? ”’

The Germans remained adamant. Joffe threatened at
last to break off negotiations. Then Czernin lost his nerve.
Peace he must have, peace and bread for Austria. If not
a general peace, a separate peace—but peace. Desperately
he sought for a compromise. He proposed that, though
Germany could not evacuate the territories until a general
peace had been signed and ratified, after this had been
achieved plebiscites should be held, with guarantees given
to the Russians that there should be no coercion in the
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voting. Both Kithlmann and Joffe rejected this, and, when
Jofte left for Petrograd, Czernin, in considerable excitement,
went to Kiihlmann and told him that if a rupture occurred
now he would open independent negotiations with the
Russians. At the same time he sent General Csiscerics to
Hoffmann with a similar statement.

Both Kiihlmann and Hoffmann remained calm under
this threat. Kiihimann was even able to turn it to his own
advantage. He asked Czernin for a written statement of the
Austro-Hungarian intentions in regard to a separate peace.
It would, he thought, be a useful additional weapon in
his fight with the Supreme Command, should Ludendorft
push him too far. The Secretary of State was an adept at
profiting from critical situations.

To Csiscerics Hoffmann behaved with brutality. The
idea of separate peace, he declared, was entirely welcome
to him since it would release the twenty-five German
divisions now occupied in stiffening the Austrian army. By
an Austro-Russian agreement Germany’s right flank would
no longer be open to attack and a large number of troops
would therefore be released for duty in the West. He was
entirely unimpressed by the General’s threats.

The Austrians retired checkmated and furious, but the
situation was eased by the news that no rupture would take
place. It is to be more than suspected that the Bolshevik
leaders in Petrograd had been less impressed with the
acceptance of the Central Powers than had their representa-
tives at Brest. “ We could see clearly ”, writes Trotsky,
“ that this was merely a piece of make-believe " ; and adds,
somewhat naively, “but we did not expect even that,
for is not hypocrisy the tribute paid by vice to virtue ¢ ’*
“ There was no question of negotiations being broken off ”,
Hoffmann records with cynical clearness;  the only
chance the Bolsheviks had of remaining in power was by

1 Leon Trotsky, The History of the Russian Revolution to Brest-
Litovsk (London, 1919), p. 126.
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signing a peace. They were obliged to accept the conditions
of the Central Powers, however hard they might be .
the only one of us who doubted this was Count Czernin.”’*

The influence of the Supreme Command and the views
of the Fatherland Party could also be seen in the attitude
adopted by the Germans during the negotiations which
followed from December 26 to 28 on the special questions
which concerned Russia and the Central Powers. The
Russians presented in draft form two articles concerning
the treatment of occupied territories which provided for
the simultaneous withdrawal of Russian troops from
Turkey and Persia, and of Austrian and German troops
from Poland, Lithuania, and Courland. The local plebiscites
which it was proposed to hold in these territories were to -
be carried out in the absence of all troops of either party,
leaving the control in the hands of local or national militia.
Until the holding of the plebiscites the government of
these regions would ‘‘ remain in the hands of representatives
of the local population elected democratically ”’. The fixing
of the date and the organization of the mutual evacuation
was to be the task of a special military commission.

The Central Powers suggested making these proposals
the subject of the first two articles of the preliminary
peace, but they put forward an alternative text of their
own, more definite in form :

Article I. Russia and Germany are to declare the
state of war at an end. Both nations are resolved to
live together in the future in peace and friendship. On
the condition of complete reciprocity, vis-d-vis her
allies, Germany would be ready as soon as peace is
concluded with Russia and the demobilization of the
Russian armies has been accomplished, to evacuate
her present position in occupied Russian territory in
so far as no different inferences result from Article II.

1 Hoffmann, ii. 201-204 ; Czernin, pp. 226-228 ; Fokke, p. 130.
K
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Article II. The Russian Government having, in
accordance with its principles, proclaimed for all
people without exception living within the Russian
Empire the right of self-determination, including
complete separation, takes cognizance of the decisions
expressing the will of the people demanding full State
independence and separation from the Russian Empire,
for Poland, Lithuania, Courland, and portions of
Estonia and Livonia. The Russian Government recog-
nizes that in the present circumstances these manifesta-
tions must be regarded as the expression of the will of
the people, and is ready to draw conclusions therefrom.
As in those districts to which the foregoing stipulations
apply, the question of evacuation is not such as is
provided for in Article I, a special commission shall
discuss and fix the time and other details in conformity
with the Russian idea of the necessary ratification—by
a plebiscite on broad lines and without military presence
whatever—and of the already existing proclamation
of separation.

It was clearly evident that these proposals disclosed a
grave divergence from the declaration of December 25, and
were in far greater accord with the views which Hoffmann
had expressed to Joffe. The Soviet delegates in taking note
of them were forced to make a reservation. Though they
were beginning to understand only too clearly, they insisted
upon a more precise formulation of the points raised in the
two articles, but they agreed to a special commission being
formed to examine the technique of such a referendum as
was proposed and to fix the date for evacuation.

At last Joffe saw that the optimism which he had dis-
played in Petrograd after the Armistice and at Brest after
the Declaration of Christmas Day had been misplaced.
Kiihlmann’s statement of December 28 had shown beyond,
all doubting that the original agreement to the formula of
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“ peace without annexations ”’ was but a myth, and that
the German and Russian conceptions of self-determination
were irreconcilable. From December 28 Joffe * faded ”,
and never recovered either his poise or his enthusiasm. It
was impossible that he should continue to lead the Russian
delegation.!

The plenary session of December 28 closed the first
stage of the negotiations, and it was agreed that though the
period of grace for acceptance of participation by the
Entente terminated on January 4, the conference would
not resume its deliberations before January 9.2 Leaving
a nucleus of experts behind them, the delegates dispersed
to their capitals, Joffe and Kamenev to Petrograd, Czernin
to Vienna, Kiihlmann and Hoffmann to Berlin.

6

Kiihlmann, in his endeavour to placate the Supreme
Command, ran foul of the Liberal and Majority Socialist
elements of public opinion in Germany. Those who still
believed in the principles of the Peace Resolution as the
basis of Germany’s peace policy awoke suddenly to the
fact that these principles were being used as a decoy and
a cover for a programme of annexation. They realized that
the German policy of equivocation would be welcomed as
a god-send by the Entente, who could fasten upon Germany
the responsibility for deliberately sabotaging principles
for a democratic peace. Prince Max of Baden writes in his
Memoirs :

On December 28, 1917, we made our irreparable mistake. We
gave the impression to the whole world and to the German masses
that in contrast to the Russian attitude our agreement to the
national right of self-determination was insincere and that annexa-
tional designs lurked behind it. We rejected the Russian demand
for a free and untrammelled popular vote in the occupied territories

1 Fokke, p. 118. 2 Proceedings, pp. 42-46.



130 “ PEACE WITHOUT INDEMNITIES . . .”

on the ground that the Courlanders, Lithuanians, and Poles had
already decided their own fate. We ought never to have claimed
the arbitrarily instituted or enlarged land-councils as authoritative
representative assemblies. The Russian request for a referendum
should either have been accepted without reserve or replaced by a

demand for a National Constituent Assembly elected by universal
suffrage.

Summoning the party leaders to meet him on New
Year’s Day, Kiihimann found himself the target of attack
both from the Right and the extreme Left. Westarp, as
usual, was bitter and implacable, frankly opposing recogni-
tion of the right of self-determination. *“ Herr von Kiihl-
mann has not shown himself a born statesman ’, he sneered,
“he has gone far to reduce our glittering advantages to
nothing.” Haase, for the Independent Socialists, declared
in favour of the Russian thesis, saying that political life
in the occupied territories was obstructed by military
pressure which must be removed; and Scheidemann
bitterly assailed the Secretary of State for his prostitution
of the principles of the Peace Resolution. Only from the
Centre did Kithlmann receive support. Fehrenbach ap-
proved his policy, while, outside the conference, Erzberger
took up the cudgels in his defence.

A Crown Council had been summoned for January 2,
1918, and Kiihlmann was well aware of what reception he
might expect at the hands of the Supreme Command. He
therefore insisted on bringing Hofimann to Berlin with
him, and, proving himself a better strategist than Luden-
dorff, arranged for Hoffmann to be received in audience
by the Emperor on New Year’s Day. Wilhelm II had not
seen the General since those hectic days on the Eastern
Front in the summer of 1916 when HLH had been bent
upon the downfall of Falkenhayn. So impressed was he
now that he invited Hoffmann to luncheon at the Schloss
Bellevue and asked him to give his views on the situation.

1 Memoirs of Prince Maz of Baden (London, 1928), i. 208.
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Hoffmann was in a quandary. He did not share in their
entirety the views of the High Command and yet was
diffident in placing himself in opposition to them. More-
over, though he had not seen Luderdorff, he had every
reason to believe that the First Quartermaster-General
was seriously displeased with him. In view of these circum-
stances, he begged to be excused from giving his personal
opinion to the Emperor.

“ When your All-Highest War Lord wishes to hear
your views on any subject it is your duty to give them to
him, quite irrespective of whether they coincide with those
of the Supreme Command or not ”, replied Wilhelm IT.

At that Hoffmann began to talk. He gave the Emperor
the views of a man who for the past eighteen months had
been in constant touch with the situation and who had
had practical experience of its difficulties. He pointed out
that, notwithstanding the measures taken by Prussia during
many decades, she had not been able to manage her
Polish subjects, and that consequently he could see no
advantage to the Empire from the addition of a further
two million Poles to its population, as was envisaged by
the demands of the Supreme Command. He was even more
critical of Erzberger’s so-called ““ German Solution ”. He
suggested that the new Polish frontier should be drawn
in such a way as to bring to Germany the smallest possible
number of Polish subjects. Only a small additional strip of
territory, with not more than 100,000 Polish inhabitants,
was necessary, near Thorn and Bendzin, to prevent the
enemy artillery in any subsequent war from firing straight
on to the main railway station of Thorn, or into the Upper
Silesian coal-fields.

Deeply impressed with the reasonableness of Hoffmann’s
argument, the Emperor, always swayed by what he had
last heard, agreed with him, and at once had a map pre-
pared in accordance with his proposals. This he produced
next morning at the Crown Council, to which Hoffmann
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had been summoned. The latter attended with no little
apprehension, for he had still been unsuccessful in getting
into touch with Ludendorff, who was in ignorance of what
had passed between Hoffmann and the Emperor.

Wilhelm II opened the Council by laying the map
before them.

“ Gentlemen ”, he said, “ you will find on this map
the future frontier between Poland and Prussia, as I, in
my capacity of All-Highest War Lord, consider that it
should be drawn.” He then added : “ I base my conclusion
on the judgement of an excellent and competent expert,
namely, that of General Hofimann, who is here ”.

For a moment there was silence, and then Ludendorff,
his voice hoarse with anger, all self-control abandoned,
shouted at the Emperor that he had no right to ask the
opinion of a General over his (Ludendorf’s) head. In no
circumstances could the line drawn by the Emperor be
considered as final. The Supreme Command would have to
consider the matter further.

“ We must certainly think this matter over carefully ”,
muttered Hindenburg in approval.

For a moment the Emperor hesitated in indecision.
Should he assert himself and provoke a joint resignation ?
The Council sat about him, disturbed and uncomfortable.
Finally he temporized.

“I will await your report ”, he said, and brought the
painful scene to a close.

It was a repetition of the scene at Kreuznach in
December. Nothing had been settled definitely or decisively.
Kiihlmann had only obtained the Imperial approval for
his policy so far and authorization to proceed along the
same lines. He was still anxious to secure the separation of
the border States by means of self-determination rather
than open annexation; but the whole conduct of the

negotiations had been jeopardized by the attitude of
Ludendorft and Hindenburg.
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In the Reichstag debate on foreign affairs on January
2 and 3, the Majority Parties made a determined effort to
repair the error of December 28 and to secure a return to
the more definite principles of Christmas Day. A formula
was proposed by which the decisions of the existing bodies
in the occupied territories should only have provisional
force, but that final decisions should be taken by democratic
parliaments to be elected after the evacuation. Any hopes
of agreement on these lines were doomed by Hertling’s
reply on January 4, in which he sought to placate the
Supreme Command. Germany, he said, could not recede
from her present position. “ We cannot withdraw Articles
I and II. We base ourselves upon our position of power
(Machtstellung), upon the loyalty of our intentions, and
upon the merits of our case.”

The Supreme Command was not thus easily mollified.
They considered that their authority had been flouted and
their dignity aspersed. That the All-Highest War Lord
of Germany had the right to consult one of his own
generals without their knowledge and consent they vehe-
mently denied, and they retired to Kreuznach in high dud-
geon, preparing to wreak their vengeance on Kiihlmann
and Hoffmann. The two intended victims returned to
Brest-Litovsk with the impression that from now on
they lived in constant danger of Ludendorff’s wrath.

Nor were they mistaken. On January 7 the Emperor
received from Kreuznach not the promised report, but a
letter of pontifical admonition from Hindenburg. It was
one long complaint against the Emperor, the Secretary of
State, and the Chief of Staff in the East.

Your Majesty has adopted a line which seriously cut down our
demands and thus made the Austro-Polish Solution unacceptable to
Main Headquarters. Your Majesty certainly permitted your decision
to be subjected to a closer examination ; I do not know, however,
whether a solution can be found which will remove our serious
objections to the Austro-Polish Solution. . . .
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Even the situation in Courland and Lithuania has become very
uncertain as a result of the Declaration of December 25. . . . We
were entirely surprised by the Declaration. I am bound to ascribe
the hitherto unsatisfactory political and economic results [of the
peace negotiations] to the pliancy of our diplomacy towards our
allies and our enemies. . . . Judging by my impressions from Brest
the German representatives appeared to be more diplomatic than
resolute. . . . It was frank surrender !

In the Polish question, Your Majesty has been graciously pleased
to give the opinion of General Hoffmann preference over mine and
. that of General Ludendorff. General Hoffmann is my subordinate
and has no responsibility in political matters. The events of January
2 have made the most painful impression on General Ludendorft
and myself, and have shown us that Your Majesty disregards our
opinion in a matter of vital importance for the existence of the
German Fatherland. . . .

It is Your Majesty’s noble right to decide. But Your Majesty will
not ask that honest men, who have loyally served Your Majesty and
the Fatherland, should cover with their authority and their names
actions in which they could not participate from inward conviction.
. . . My position and that of General Ludendorff must be immaterial
where exigencies of State are concerned.!

This letter, the origin of which lies clearly with Luden-
dorff, was a direct challenge to the authority of Wilhelm II,
both as All-Highest War Lord and as King of Prussia.
It showed to how great a degree the Supreme Command
considered itself the deciding power within the Empire.
They regarded their responsibility as covering every
question which could remotely affect “ the existence of the
German Fatherland ”. Supreme dictatorship could not go
farther.

The Emperor dared not resist. In the main issue of
responsibility he did make some feeble protest, urging the
Supreme Command to leave politics to the Government and
to concentrate on their own task of winning the war, but
in the matter of the peace negotiations he surrendered
abjectly. In answer to Hindenburg’s letter the Imperial

! Ludendorff, The General Staff and its Problems, ii. 524-528.
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Chancellor hastened to inform the Supreme Command that
a misunderstanding had arisen and that the Emperor had
taken no definite decision in regard to Poland.

But though he abandoned Hoffmann’s proposals, the
Emperor stood between him and the wrath of Ludendorft,
who had demanded his dismissal as Chief of Staff in the
East and his appointment to the command of a division.
By order of the Emperor, Hoffmann remained at his post
at Brest-Litovsk, but the breach with Ludendorfi was
permanent. The symbol HLH, so invincible in its early
inception, had been irreparably shattered. It had in fact
become merely a gigantic L.

The dispute between Ludendorfi and Kiihlmann
became a public issue once the news of the threatened
resignation of the Supreme Command had leaked out; the
newspapers of the Right and Left raged furiously together,
and political orators were bitter in their denunciations. In
a violent attack upon Kiihlmann the Rheinisch- Westfélische
Zeitung thundered :

If a prize had been offered for showing how a brilliant military
position may be utterly ruined, Baron von Kijhlmann would have
won it. . . . Renunciation in the East is his watchword ; renunciation
in the West will follow. There is no question of the guarantees which
our people needs for a peaceful future. . . . The German people have
now to choose between Hindenburg and Ludendorff on the one
hand, and Kithimann and Hertling on the other. They will rally in
unanimous love round their two heroes.?

The two heroes, however, seemed less sacrosanct to Karl
Severing, the Majority Socialist deputy, who, in a speech
at Bielefeld on January 11, declared that  the overwhelm-
ing mass of the German people will not shed a single tear
over the General, whoever he may be, who opposes a peace

. 1 Ludendorfi, My War Memories, ii. 547-550 ; Hoffmann, ii. 205-

208 ; Wheeler-Bennett, pp. 128-131.
2 Rheinisch-Westfalische Zeitung, January 6 and 14, 1918.
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by understanding or who would rather resign than continue
to fight for such a peace ”.!

Against this background of conflict and uncertainty
Kiihlmann resumed the negotiations.

7

When Joffe returned to Petrograd on December 29
there still remained six days during which the Entente
Powers could exercise their right to participate in the
negotiations. Trotsky, therefore, on that day, addressed to
these Governments his longest and most impassioned Note
describing the course of events and begging them not to
“sabotage the course of a general peace ”. Since the
Central Powers, he contended, had, by their acceptance
of the Soviet formula, agreed to evacuate Belgium, Northern
France, Serbia, Montenegro, Rumania, Poland, Lithuania,
and Courland on the conclusion of a general peace, the
Entente could no longer claim to be fighting for the libera-
tion of these territories. He now threatened them openly
with a separate peace between Russia and Germany which
“ would no doubt be a heavy blow to the Allied countries,

especially France and Italy . He made a desperate appeal
to their workers :

The question of compelling their own Governments immediately
to present their peace programs and to participate on the basis of
them in the negotiations now becomes a question of national self-
preservation for the Allied peoples. . . . If the Allied Governments, in
the blind stubbornness which characterizes decadent and perishing
classes, once more refuse to participate in the negotiations, then the
working-class will be confronted by the iron necessity of taking the

power out of the hands of those who cannot or will not give the
people peace.?

The Entente made no direct reply to these overtures.

1 Vossische Zeitung, January 12, 1918.
2 Cumming and Pettit, p. 61.
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They adhered firmly to the House-Maklakoff formula of
November 30. “ There is no disagreement among us”,
M. Pichon told the Chamber of Deputies on December 31 ;
“ Russia may treat for a separate peace with our enemies
or not. In either case, for us the war continues. An ally
has failed us . . . but another ally has come from the other
end of the world.” “ If the present rulers of Russia take
action which is independent of their Allies,” Mr. Lloyd
George informed an audience of British labour leaders a
few days later, “ we have no means of intervening to avert
the catastrophe which is assuredly befalling their country.
Russia can only be saved by her own people.” But at the
same time he took the opportunity offered by the German
attitude to outline a programme of war aims on behalf of
the Allies, which, while embracing the Soviet formula of
self-determination and no forcible annexations or indem-
nities, was so phrased as to prove that the Central Powers,
and not the Entente, were wrecking a peace of under-
standing. While refusing to be drawn himself into negotia-
tions with the Bolsheviks, Mr. Lloyd George astutely
capitalized the hypocrisy of German diplomacy at Brest.

It was made abundantly clear to the Soviet leaders in
Petrograd that no hope could be entertained of the negotia-
tion of a general peace, and, more disturbing still, that
the world “ proletarian revolution”, which, in the first
blush of their own success, they had fondly imagined to
be but ““ around the corner ”, was in reality very far from
being ripe for eruption. The workers of Europe, whom even
Lenin, the genius of revolution, had trusted to rally im-
mediately to the standard of a general democratic peace,
failed completely to fulfil the role expected of them, and
continued to give their support to the ° imperialist-
bourgeois ” Governments. _

The Bolsheviks, with their infinite capacity for believing
in what they thought they ought to believe, treated it as
only an error in schedule. They implicitly believed in &
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world revolution, therefore, even if delayed, a world revolu-
tion must come. When Kamenev reported on the peace
negotiations on December 31 to a joint meeting of the
Central Executive Committee of the party, the Petrograd
Soviet, and representatives of the army, he criticized
bitterly the hypocrisy of the German policy, but added his
conviction that this same policy would lead to the downfall
of German imperialism and to a peace with revolutionary
Germany.!

It is part of the strange enigma of Lenin that, though
he never failed to gauge the reactions of the Russian masses,
of whose mental processes he possessed an almost uncanny
intuitive understanding, he never succeeded in estimating
accurately the workings of the European working-class
mind. Its lack of Slav mysticism, its failure to appreciate
the grandiloquencies of Marxist phraseology, seem to have
created a non-receptive mentality which failed to respond
to Lenin’s undoubted revolutionary genius. But, though
Lenin shared the early illusions of his friends, he was the
first to awake to the fact that they were impossible of
realization.

So at this juncture, when the majority of the party
refused to believe that, even with enough time and sufficient
propagandist encouragement, the Bolsheviks of Europe
would fail to follow the example of their Russian comrades
and establish a dictatorship of their own, Lenin was on

-the verge of a great reversal of policy. While the others
declared that propaganda activities must be intensified in
all countries in order to profit by the change and slackening

of the revolutionary tempo, he agreed, but for different
reasons.

He was perfectly willing that the Governments should
be vilified and the workers *educated ”, that every
opportunity should be used to expose the hypocrisy and
flagrant brigandage of the Central Powers, and that

1 Izvestia, January 2, 1918.
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revolutionary propaganda should be intensified among the
troops and the prisoners of war. All these were useful
adjuncts in the diplomatic game, but they were nothing
more than that. Lenin was beginning to realize that the
world revolution was considerably further off than he, or
anyone else, had ever suspected. On the other hand, the
Revolution in Russia was in actual being, but by no means
consolidated. It was threatened, seriously jeopardized, both
by schisms within its own ranks and by the now reorganized
forces of anti-Bolshevism. The world revolution was a
dream which might in time be realized, the Russian
Revolution was a fact which must at all costs be defended
and consolidated, and to this end Lenin bent his mental
efforts, leaving to Trotsky and his fellow enthusiasts the
task of turning the conference at Brest-Litovsk into a
sounding-board for the advocacy of Marxism and the gospel
of revolution.

For it so happened that, both for achieving a world
upheaval and for securing a breathing-space for the Russian
Revolution, a policy of delay was necessary at Brest-
Litovsk. The peace negotiations must be protracted by
every possible means. Against the might of German
militarism Russia had but one remaining weapon, the
incalculable capacity of the Slav for interminable con-
versation, and this weapon Lenin was prepared to use
to its utmost capacity while he prepared in secret for a
strategic retreat.

Lenin realized that to achieve this end someone of
heavier calibre than Joffe was required in charge of the
operations. ““ To delay negotiations ”, he said to Trotsky,
“ there must be someone to do the delaying.” Trotsky
agreed. “ You'll do it, Lev Davidovitch ¢’ And again
Trotsky agreed.! The history of Brest-Litovsk had taken
on a new aspect.

The opening gambit in this new phase of the game was

1 Trotsky, Lenin, p. 128 ; My Life, p. 311.
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made on January 2, when to the returning delegates of the
Central Powers there came a telegram from Petrograd
proposing that the peace negotiations should be transferred
to Stockholm, and declaring that the text of the two
articles put forward in draft on December 28 was contrary
to even that qualified formula of no annexations and no
indemnities which had been accepted by the Central Powers
on Christmas Day.!

But Kiihlmann and Czernin were not to be caught thus
easily. In Stockholm every international Socialist would
be on their necks urging the conclusion of a democratic
peace. Here in Brest-Litovsk, in the rigid atmosphere of
military headquarters, they could both restrict those who
visited the conference out of curiosity, and control, to some
degree, the course of the negotiations. Their reply therefore
was to threaten to break off all pourparlers and denounce
the armistice agreement if the Russians did not return to
Brest. This they followed up on January 5 with a further
telegram to Petrograd stating that as Russia’s Allies, the
Entente, had failed to join in the negotiations for a general
peace, the Quadruple Alliance was no longer bound by its
declaration of December 25 accepting with reservations
the Soviet peace formula.?

Two things were now clear and definite to the Bolshe-
viks: first, that the Central Powers had every intention
of rejecting the formula of “no annexations and no in-
demnities "’ as a basis of negotiations, and, secondly, that
the Soviet could no longer play off the willingness of the
Central Powers to negotiate against the Entente’s refusal.
The Soviet attitude towards the Allies, therefore, changed.
Though outwardly the stream of obloquy and abuse
appeared to flow unchecked, in secret Trotsky began to
sound out the reaction of the Entente to the possible
rupture of negotiations with the Central Powers and the
resumption of hostilities.

1 Proceedings, p. 46. 2 Ibid. p. 47.
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These secret approaches to the Allies were hampered
by the curious diplomatic situation which then obtained
in Petrograd. The Allied Ambassadors and Ministers re-
mained in the Russian capital but functioned in a vacuum,
since no recognition of the Soviet régime had been accorded
by their Governments. The Belgian Government had,
early in January, considered getting into direct touch
with the Council of Commissars and had sounded the
Italians on the subject, but Sonnino was absolutely opposed
to such a course and even forbade the Italian consular
officials to visa passports issued by the Russian Foreign
Office.r Great Britain, France, and the United States,
however, though their Embassies had little or no contact
with the Government, maintained relations by means of
unofficial agents. Mr. Bruce Lockhart, a former British
Consul-General in Moscow, was the most directly accredited
of these agents. Lockhart had been appointed by the War
Cabinet, on the recommendation of Lord Milner, with the
sole purpose of keeping the British Government informed
as to the situation in Russia ; in addition he carried to
Trotsky credentials from Litvinov, written in a Lyons’
shop in the Strand after a famous luncheon party. He had
as his colleagues Colonel Raymond Robins, head of the
American Red Cross in Russia, and Captain Jacques
Sadoul, of the French Military Mission.

These agents derived both strength and weakness from
their unofficial status. Unhampered by the strict rules of
diplomatic etiquette and protocol, they could say and do
much that was impossible for professional diplomats. They
could and did establish intimate and friendly relations
with the Bolshevik leaders, relations which would have
been invaluable to their respective Governments had they
had the wit to utilize them ; but their weakness lay in the
fact that they spoke for themselves alone, could be disowned
by their Governments, and could give no assurance to the

1 U.8. Foreign Relations, 1918 : Russia, i. 332.
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Bolsheviks that their Governments would even consider
the views and recommendations which they forwarded.
Despite these difficulties all these agents, and notably
Bruce Lockhart, the youngest of them—he was only thirty
in 1917—performed prodigies of skill in unofficial negotia-
tions, and it was not their fault that their Governments
failed to profit by the sound advice which they gave.

In these early days of January Trotsky turned to
Colonel Robins—that strange idealistic figure in American
political life in whose veins flowed Red Indian blood—and
began the first of that series of halting approaches to the
Allied Powers which became so important a part of the
Brest-Litovsk saga.

“We have started our peace negotiations with the
Germans ”, he said. “ We have asked the Allies to join us
In starting peace negotiations for the whole world on a
democratic basis—the Allies have refused to accept our
invitation. We still hope, of course, to compel them.”

“ How ¢ asked Robins.

“ By stirring up the comrades in France and in England
and in America to upset the policy of their Governments
by asserting their own revolutionary Socialist will. We may
fail at it, in which case we shall continue negotiations with
the Germans alone. Germany, of course, will not want to
sign a democratic peace. Germany wants a peace with
annexations. But we have the raw materials. Germany needs
them. They are a bargaining point. If we can keep them
away from Gtermany we have an argument in reserve, a
big argument, perhaps a winning argument. Therefore I
wani to keep them away.” Trotsky looked emphatically at
Robins. “I want to keep them away. But you know our
difficulties at the front. It is in chaos. But if you will send
your officers, American officers, Allied officers, any officers
you please, I will give them full authority to enforce the
E]:llbargo against goods into Germany all along our whole

e.”
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Robins realized the importance of the proposal. It
meant that if the negotiations at Brest could be drawn out
for several months, Germany and her allies would be cut off
for the greater part of the winter from the raw materials of
Russia which she so badly needed : the hides, the fats and
oils, the nickel, copper, and lead, upon which she was
counting for the final winter of the war, and to assist in
the manufacture of munitions for the great spring offensive.
Robins approached the official Allied diplomatic and military
missions in Petrograd. He begged and pleaded with them
to accept Trotsky’s offer. But in vain. Official opinion was
divided between a horrified distrust of the Bolsheviks
and a sublime conviction that they would be swept from
power in a few weeks by the united forces of the White
Guards and the Cossacks, then mobilizing in the North
and South. The diplomats refused to consider Robins’
suggestion.

Only in one quarter did he succeed. The Americdn
military attaché and head of the military mission, General
William V. Judson, was convinced of the importance of
Trotsky’s proposal. He went to confer with Trotsky about
it, and, in his later report, concluded with the phrase “ the
time for protests and threats addressed to the Soviet
authority is over, if it ever existed ”. A few weeks
later, however, he was recalled to America, and the Ger-
man and Austrian commissions arrived in Petrograd to
arrange for the resumption of commercial and economic
relations.!

Robins, however, succeeded in one respect in arming
himself with a potential weapon in the event of the resump-
tion of hostilities by Russia. From Ambassador Francis he
obtained two draft documents to be used only in such a
contingency. In the first of these, entitled a ‘‘ Suggested
Communication to the Commissar for Foreign Affairs ”,

1 Raymond Robins’ Own Story, pp. 66-70; U.S. Foreign Relations,

1918 : Russta, i. 279, 282-283, 288-289, 294-295.
L
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Francis pledged himself to recommend the fullest possible
assistance to Russia and the ultimate recognition of the
Soviet Government in the event of a renewal of the war
with Germany. The second document was a suggested
cable to the State Department urging assistance and the
immediate establishment of informal relations with the
Soviet Government. Neither of these documents was ever
sent, but they mark a slight success of Robins’ efforts to
mitigate the effects of a separate peace.

By this time the issue with the Allies had become so
involved and uncertain, that to Jacques Sadoul—who was
unsuccessfully trying to persuade his Ambassador, M.
Noulens, to give a similar declaration to that which Robins
had secured from Francis—both Lenin and Trotsky stated
their belief that France and Great Britain had given up
all hope of victory on the Western Front and were negotiat-
ing secretly with Germany at the expense of Russia.? But
before the peace pourparlers reopened at Brest-Litovsk on
January 9 the Allies had themselves taken steps to clarify
their position.

Pressure was being brought upon President Wilson
from all sides to re-state on behalf of the Allies the objects
for which they were fighting and their attitude towards
Russia. Those who urged this course upon the President
were actuated by a desire not to have the Bolsheviks enjoy
the sole monopoly of peace formulae and to profit by the
false position in which Germany’s policy at Brest had
placed her. It was believed that a statement by the Pre-
sident, declaring the desire of the Allied and Associated
Powers for a democratic peace, would have the double
purpose of checkmating Bolshevik propaganda based upon
the refusal of the Allies to enter into peace negotiations,
and perhaps of persuading Russia to stand by the Allies

! Cumming and Pettit, pp. 65-66 ; Hearings on Bolshevik Propaganda

before a Sub-committee of the Committee on the Judictary, U.S. Senate,
65th Congress, 1919, pp. 1009 et seq. % Sadoul, pp. 176, 191.
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in their defence of democratic and liberal principles. At
the same time it was hoped that such a statement, widely
circulated in Central Europe, would appeal to the growing
antagonism of the German and Austrian Socialists to a
war of conquest and annexation.

“If the President will restate anti-imperialistic war
aims and democratic peace requisites of America, I can
get it fed into Germany in great quantities and can utilize
Russian version potently in army and everywhere ”, cabled
Edgar Sissons on January 3 to his chief, George Creel, of
the National Committee on Public Information at Wash-
ington. ““ Obvious of course to you ”, he continued, ““ that
disclosure German trickery against Russia in peace negotia-
tions promises to immensely open up our opportunities for
publicity and helpfulness.”*

The Allies also, concerned beyond measure at the
exposure of their secret diplomacy by the publication of
the secret treaties in Petrograd, urged Mr. Wilson to make
his announcement. ““ Should the President himself make a
statement of his own views, which, in view of the appeal
made to the peoples of the world by the Bolsheviks, might
appear a desirable course, the Prime Minister is confident
that such a statement would also be in general accordance
with the lines of the President’s previous speeches, which
in England as well as in other countries have been so
warmly received by public opinion.” In such discreetly
indirect, yet clearly understandable, language did Mr.
Balfour on January 5 convey the desire of Great Britain
for the President’s message.?

On the specific question of Russia Mr. Wilson re-
ceived support even from Kerensky’s Ambassador, George
Bakhmetieff, who had a far more realistic grasp of the
situation than his colleague, Maklakoff, in Paris. *“ Any
evasion on the part of the Allies in the matter of peace ”,
he wrote to the President, “ will simply strengthen the

1 Cumming and Pettit, p. 67. 2 House Papers, iii. 340.
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Bolsheviks and help them to create an atmosphere un-
friendly to the Allies.” !

In compliance with these and other urgent requests,
Mr. Wilson on January 8 issued his memorable peace
proposals in an address to both houses of Congress. The
keynote of the speech and the subject of its first three
paragraphs were the negotiations of Brest-Litovsk and the
Russian peace formula. The Soviet representatives, whom
he termed “ sincere and earnest’, had insisted, “ very
justly, very wisely, and in the true spirit of modern demo-
cracy "', on full publicity in the negotiations, but had found
themselves confronted by representatives of the Quadruple
Alliance who seemed to represent not their Parliaments or
peoples but “ that military and imperialistic minority
which has so far dominated their whole policy ”’. The voice
of the Russian people—* a voice more thrilling and com-
pelling than any of the moving voices with which the
troubled world is filled ”—called upon America and her
associates to say what it was they desired, and in what if
in anything they differed in purpose and spirit. “ Whether
their present leaders believe it or not, it is our heartfelt
desire and hope that some way may be opened whereby
we may be privileged to assist the people of Russia to
attain their utmost hope of liberty and ordered, peace.”

The Fourteen Points followed, of which the Sixth related
to Russia :

VI. The evacuation of all Russian territory and such a settlement
of all questions affecting Russia as will secure the best and freest
co-operation of the other nations of the world in obtaining for her
an unhampered and unembarrassed opportunity for the independent
determination of her own political development and national policy
and assure her of a sincere welcome into the society of free nations
under institutions of her own choosing ; and, more than a welcome,
assistance also of every kind that she may need and may herself
desire. The treatment accorded Russia by her sister nations in the

1 House Papers, iii. 330.
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months to come will be the acid test of their good will, of their
comprehension of her needs as distinguished from their own interests,
and of their intelligent and unselfish sympathy.

On the day following the receipt in Petrograd of the
text of the President’s address, the city awoke to find it
placarded upon the walls. It was printed on a hundred
thousand Russian posters and on three hundred thousand
Russian hand-bills. The American Y.M.C.A., availing itself
of Bolshevik aid, distributed one million copies throughout
the Russian lines, and another million, in German, within
the German lines on the Eastern Front. Every newspaper
carried it in full. For though the Bolsheviks distrusted
Wilson’s “‘ empty phrases ”, and made no secret in the
columns of Izvestia of their distrust, the message was an
admirable weapon of propaganda and they exploited it as
such.

But despite this prodigal distribution, the Fourteen
Points were destined to have little or no effect upon
the Brest-Litovsk negotiations. They had no restraining
influence upon the Soviet Government, for, while President
Wilson was addressing the crowded Congress of the United
States in Washington, Lenin at Smolny was travelling a
strange road to a stranger Damascus. In the depths of his
own soul he had reached the conviction that a separate peace
with Germany was now inevitable. The revelation that the
world revolution was not yet ripe for fruition had declared
itself to him, and now, alone, and with fierce searchings of
heart, he was preparing the enunciation of that bitter
doctrine to the party. It would entail a policy of defeatism
which it would be difficult to defend and which would meet
with violent opposition both within the ranks of the
Bolshevik Party itself and from their unwilling allies the
Left Social Revolutionaries. For what Lenin had decided
upon was no less than the temporary abandonment of world
revolution to save the Russian Revolution. It was that
principle of strategic defeat which he had had the courage
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to adopt when he saw his early hopes shattered in 1905,
and which he was to adopt in 1921, when, against all
previous conceptions of Marxism, he declared a “truce
with Capitalism ” and propounded the New Economic
Policy. Lenin was not a slave of revolutionary orthodoxy.
Just as the voices of the Maid of Orleans would whisper to
her only what she herself had decided in any particular
situation, so Karl Marx confirmed to Lenin the things
which he himself felt to be necessary.
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A cEANGE had come over the scene at Brest-Litovsk when
the delegations reassembled there in the second week of
January 1918. Within the ranks of the Central Powers
grave dissension had broken out between the Big Three—
Czernin, Kithlmann, and Hoffmann. The General and the
Austrian Minister were for an increased fempo in the pace
of the negotiations, the first actuated by a desire for troops,
the second for bread. For though Hoffmann had broken
with Ludendorfi personally, and thenceforward only
communicated with him through the medium of the Chief
of the Operations Section, Colonel Bauer, he was still in
accordance with the general policy of the Supreme Command
in so far as it concerned the non-evacuation of the occupied
areas and the speedy release of troops for use on the Western
Front.

For Czernin it was the old story of bread, bread, bread.
“ Peace must be arranged, but a separate peace without
Germany is impossible ”’, had been the sum-total of the
conversations which he had had recently in Vienna.! His
role, as he saw it, was to accelerate the signing of some
kind of a treaty at all costs.

Neither of these policies appealed to Kithlmann ; in
direct opposition to the Supreme Command, but with the
tacit approval of the Kaiser, he was preparing to follow
a policy of long-term negotiation in which he hoped first
to demonstrate to the world that, stripped to its essentials,

1 (gernin, p. 230.
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Bolshevism was but a new form of nationalism, and, also,
to secure ultimately the eastern territories for Germany
under the guise of self-determination. He hoped to entrap
the Russians in their own mysterious phrases, and it is not
improbable that had he been pitted against the delegation as
it was originally constituted, he might well have succeeded.
But he was now to meet an adversary who was to prove
his equal, if not his master, in the art of debate and
dialectics. Leon Trotsky had come to Brest-Litovsk.

Broad-chested, his huge forehead surmounted by great
masses of black waving hair ; his eyes strong and fierce, yet
with traces of much human suffering about them ; heavy
protruding lips, with their little beard and moustache,
Trotsky was the very incarnation of the revolutionary in
caricature. Dynamic and tireless, he was consumed with the
flame of his ardour, uncompromising and bitter in opposi-
tion, fearless and scornful in defeat. Versatile, cultivated,
and eloquent, he could be charming in his rare occasions
of good-humour, but in his more usual attitude of con-
temptuous anger, he was a freezing fire. Mephistophelian,
diabolically intelligent, diabolically scornful, he was
destined to be both the Michael and the Lucifer of the
Revolution. For it was his fate to command all the armies
of Red Russia, and finally to be cast into outer darkness.
“ A four-kind son of a bitch, but the greatest Jew since
Jesus Christ ”, said Colonel Robins. “If the German
General Staff bought Trotsky, they bought a lemon.”

And so it proved, for no better quietus could have
been asked for the ““ German agent ’ legend than Trotsky’s
conduct at the peace conference. But it was both a mental
and physical ordeal for him. Never a good mixer, and
always ill at ease when meeting strange and alien people,
he approached the conference “as if being led to the
torture-chamber ”’. There was something physically nau-
seating to him in the atmosphere of insincere courtesy
and superficial convention which was part of the old-
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world diplomacy. His first contact with Kiihlmann was
illustrative of this. They met in the ante-room, where both
were hanging up their hats and coats. Kithimann recognized
Trotsky, introduced himself, and, to put his adversary at
his ease, said that he was very pleased to see him since it
was always better to deal with the master than the emissary.
“ This made me feel exactly as if I had stepped on some-
thing unclean ”, Trotsky records. “I even started back,
involuntarily. Kithlmann realized his mistake, put himself
on his guard, and his tone instantly became more formal.” *

Moreover, Trotsky at the outset made clear that he came
to the conference not to establish friendship but only to
negotiate peace—he even objected to the inclusion of the
word “ friendship ” in the preamble of the draft treaty—
and he at once put a stop to the old bonhomie which had
existed between the delegations. The new note was struck
at the moment of the arrival of his special train, when
Radek, drawing down the window, immediately began
throwing out newspapers and propaganda pamphlets in
German to the troops on the platform. Trotsky refused to
be presented to the Prince of Bavaria and demanded that
the Bolsheviks should eat alone, and not as formerly
with the other delegates. (“ He is putting them into a
monastery ’, wrote Kiihimann.) When Radek had a
dispute with the German driver of his automobile and
Hoffmann took the soldier’s part, Trotsky forbade the
use of cars to the Bolsheviks; they were forced to
walk, continually encountering notices written to warn
prisoners of war, “ Any Russian found in this place will
be shot ”. He exacted the most implicit obedience from
his colleagues, none of whom was allowed to speak at the
conference table without first having obtained his per-
mission. “ They have indeed a holy fear of Trotsky ”,
wrote Czernin in his diary.

But Trotsky was not the only new arrival at Brest.

1 Trotsky, My Life, p. 314.
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Count Adam Tarnowski had appeared as representative
of the Polish Council of Regency, and, more important
still, there had arrived a delegation of young men, hardly
past their student years, who represented the Government
of the Ukrainian Rada.

The recognition of Ukrainian autonomy had brought
about the resignation of Prince Lvov and his Cadets
from the Provisional Government at the moment of the
Bolshevik rising in July 1917 ; the Ukrainians exercised
their right of self-determination at the earliest opportunity
after the Bolshevik coup. The election at the end of
November had resulted in an overwhelming victory for
the liberal national forces, giving them more than 75
per cent of the seats in the Assembly, and only 10 per cent
to the Bolsheviks. The Bolsheviks then had recourse to
their old policy of a direct appeal to the masses, and a
congress of workers and peasants was summoned at Kiev.
Contrary to the expectations of Smolny, out of the 2000
delegates assembled only 80 were Bolsheviks, the remainder
being overwhelmingly in support of the Central Rada. The
Bolshevik group seceded and set up a rival government
at Kharkov where they bided their time and sought help
from Petrograd.

In great jubilation, and very full of their own import-
ance, a delegation of three young men, MM. Levitsky,
Liubinsky, and Sevruk, set off for Brest, demanding a
place at the conference table ; they harboured far-reaching
plans for a greater Ukraine which envisaged the annexa-
tion of the Ruthenian portions of Galicia and the Buko-
vina, and the surrender by Austria of the district of
Cholm.

The arrival of these tempestuous young men proved a
source of considerable annoyance to Count Czernin. Apart
from the natural personal humiliation at being called upon
to negotiate with schoolboys, he was perturbed at the
prospect of having to purchase Ukrainian grain for Austria
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by the cession of territory—which, in the case of Cholm,
would earn him the undying hatred of the Austrian Poles
—instead of obtaining it from Russia as a part of the general
peace treaty. For a moment he scouted the idea of a
separate treaty with the Ukraine, but ever in his mind was
the sad knowledge that beggars cannot be choosers. Corn
and peace he must have, and at any price.

By the same token the Germans were not sorry to
welcome the young Ukrainian delegation. Both Kiihimann
and Hoffmann realized that here was an added means
of keeping Czernin in step with themselves, and also
an additional weapon against Trotsky, who would certainly
wish to avoid a separate peace between the Central Powers
and a bourgeois State on Russian soil. Thus, as the
Ukrainians showed no desire to follow the Bolsheviks into
monastic retreat, they were welcomed to the common
mess-table, courted and flattered.

On January 8 Kiihlmann, Czernin, Talaat Pasha, and
Popoff conferred together about their plan of campaign.
The plenary session had been set for the following day and,
acting on the principle that attack was the best method of
defence, it was agreed not to let Trotsky talk at all, but to
confront him immediately with an ultimatum on procedure.
It was not anticipated that any opposition would be offered.
The Russians dared not risk the resumption of hostilities.
The German and Austrian officers who had accompanied
Trotsky from Dvinsk reported that the trenches opposite
to their positions were entirely empty and that, save for
an outpost or two, there were no Russians left in that
sector. Trotsky, they said, had arrived in the German lines
deeply depressed at the military conditions which he had
seen on his journey from Petrograd. One of the escort,
Baron Lamezan, added his conviction that the Bolsheviks
were altogether desperate now, having no choice save
between a bad peace or no peace at all. “ In either case ”,

he concluded, “ the result will be the same ; they will be
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swept away.” “Ils n’ont que le choix & quelle sauce ils se
feront manger >, remarked Kiihlmann cynically to Czernin.
“ Tout comme chez nous °, was the dejected reply.!

According to plan, therefore, Kiihimann led off on
January 9 with a declaration that, as the Entente Powers
had not seen fit to take part in the negotiations, the
declarations made by the Central Powers on December 25
and 28 were null and void. He formally rejected the Soviet
request for the transfer of the seat of negotiations to
Stockholm, stating it to be “ the fixed and unchangeable
decision” of the Quadruple Alliance to conduct peace pour-
parlers only at Brest-Litovsk. Czernin followed, in the
same vein, saying with equal emphasis that the Russians
must now confine themselves to the question of a separate
peace ; he demanded the immediate setting-up of the
commissions for which provision had already been made,
and warned the Russians that the responsibility for the
continuation of the war would fall exclusively upon them.
Talaat Pasha and Popoff associated themselves with the
views of their colleagues, and then Hoffmann, on behalf of
the military representatives of the Four Powers, protested
vehemently against the flood of propaganda and incitement
to mutiny which was continually disseminated by the
Soviet Government.®

In the face of this barrage put down by his opponents,
Trotsky, who had prepared a long harangue, asked for an
adjournment. He made his reply on the following day
(January 10) and treated his hearers to their first taste of
his bitter contempt for them. Hoffmann’s objections he
dismissed with the remark that “ neither the armistice
conditions nor the character of the peace negotiations
limited freedom of press or speech ”. To Kiihlmann he
then reaffirmed Russia’s refusal to accept the German view
of self-determination for the people of the occupied terri-
tories, “ by which the will of the people was in reality

1 Czernin, pp. 232-233. 2 Proceedings, pp. b1-56.
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replaced by the will of a privileged group acting under the
contro]l of the authorities administering the territories .
He confirmed the intention of the Soviet Government to
continue negotiations for a separate peace and agreed to
carry on those negotiations at Brest-Litovsk, protesting,
however, that the atmosphere

at the headquarters of the enemy armies under the control of the
German authorities creates all the disadvantages of an artificial
isolation in no way compensated for by the enjoyment of a direct
telephone wire. . . . We remain, therefore, at Brest-Litovsk, so that
the slightest possibility of peace may not be left unexhausted. . . . Our
Government has placed at the head of its program the word ““ Peace ”,
but it has engaged itself at the same time before its people to sign
only a democratic and a just peace.l

At the outset, therefore, both sides had stated their
case with admirable clearness, and it was obvious from
the first that the chasm dividing them was unbridgeable,
yet for four mortal weeks did Kiithlmann and Trotsky
circle round each other like duellists upon a cloak, debating
the ethics, forms, and principles of self-determination and
its application to the border states. Trotsky demanded a
full referendum taken without the presence of foreign
military forces. Kiihlmann refused to consider the evacua-
tion of German troops, and claimed that the occupied
territories had already declared their will through the
bodies created under the auspices of Ober Ost (the German
Administration of Occupied Territories in the East). To
this Trotsky replied : “ We are realists as well as revolu-
tionaries, and we should prefer to talk directly about
annexations, rather than to replace their real name with
a pseudonym ”. At the word “ annexation ” Kiihlmann
would recoil, and would again develop his theory of self-
determination until once more brought up short before the
facts by Trotsky ; e da capd.

1 Proceedings, pp. 61-63.
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Their debates travelled from Dan to Beersheba, and
from China to Peru, embracing such apparent irrelevancies
as the degree of dependence of the Nizam of Hyderabad
upon the British Crown, and the scope and powers of the
Supreme Court of the United States. In general dialectics,
the two opponents were effectually matched, but in tactics
Kiithlmann was the better man. He headed Trotsky into
recognizing the delegates of the Ukrainian Rada as parti-
cipants in the negotiations and representatives of an
independent State; and immediately took him up on his
proposal to allow representatives of the border States to
come to Brest and express their views without let or
hindrance. He would be delighted to welcome the delegates,
Kiihlmann said, but on one condition, namely that Trotsky
should accept their judgement, if in favour of Germany,
as valid. Trotsky withdrew his suggestion, which must have
given Kiihlmann much secret relief ; for had, for example,
the Poles been allowed to speak their minds, their anti-
Prussian feelings would have been embarrassing. Trotsky,
however, restrained by none of the finer feelings of the
professional diplomatist, scored again and again with
barbed references to the violation of Belgian neutrality,
unrestricted U-boat warfare, and kindred subjects.

These prolonged discussions, while engrossing to the
participants, were positively infuriating to the onlookers.
The Turks and Bulgarians, junior partners in the Quadruple
Alliance and perhaps thus accustomed to be kept waiting,
sustained with comparative equanimity the display of
manceuvre and counter-manceuvre which did not affect any
of their vital interests. But to Czernin and to Hoffmann the
delay was insufferable. The nerves of the Austrian Foreign
Minister became frayed. To have to listen day by day to
these seemingly endless ‘spiritual wrestling matches ”
while the sands of his country’s life were running out,
reduced him to a state of almost hysterical prostration.
Daily the news from Vienna and Budapest grew worse ;
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almost hourly the slim margin between possible victory
and certain defeat shrank more and more. His attempted
interventions, his efforts to effect a compromise between
the German and Russian theses, were brushed aside by
both Kiihlmann and Trotsky, who by this time were inter-
ested only in each other. Despairingly Czernin went hunting
with the Prince of Bavaria and turned for solace, somewhat
strangely, to the collection of memoirs of the French
. Revolution which he had brought with him to Brest; he
found relief in making entries in his diary such as: “ Char-
lotte Corday said : ‘It was not a man, but a wild beast I
killed’ . . . who can say if there will be a Corday ready
for Trotsky ¢ 2

The relationship between Czernin and Kiihlmann was
becoming anything but friendly. The German was con-
temptuous of his colleague’s nervous flutterings, and could
not resist giving, every now and then, a reminder of the
reverses which the Austrians had received at the hands
of the Russians. “ OQur German territory, thank God, is
not being held by foreign troops anywhere ”’, he declared
one day at the conference, stretching himself and giving a
glance at Czernin, whose “ face went green and ... figure
shrank . Such scenes, Trotsky records, were frequent.?

To Hofimann, too, the delay was intolerable. He had
been opposed to these tactics from the start and had wished
to go straight forward with a series of ultimata. * Give
them another touch of the whip ”’, he urged Kiihlmann
at their conference on the evening of January 10, after
Trotsky had accepted their preliminary conditions. Kiihl-
mann insisted, however, upon the policy of suaviter in modo
and Czernin at that moment agreed with him. High words
passed between them and Hoffmann, and the affair seemed
to emphasize the lack of harmony within the ranks of the
Central Powers.?

1 Czernin, p. 227. 2 Trotsky, My Life, p. 314.

3 (Czernin, p. 235.
M
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At Kreuznach, Ludendorff sat—in his own words—
upon “ the fiery coals of impatience . Through Bauer he
demanded an explanation from Hoffmann of the delay,
and when he learned of it, he cursed Kiihlmann by all
his gods and ordered Hoffmann to break the deadlock.
Accordingly, at their regular meeting, the next evening
(January 11), Hoffmann pointed out to Kiihlmann and
to Czernin the impossibility of gaining any advantage
from a series of debates which had wandered further and
further from the original subject of discussion. It was
absolutely necessary, he represented, to bring the negotia-
tions back to a basis of fact, and he offered to make clear
to the Russians what the situation really was, and why
they were assembled there.!

Czernin, torn between his natural distrust of Hoffmann’s
methods, which he feared might bring about a rupture in
the negotiations, and the prospect of sitting and listening
endlessly to the continuous disputations, finally came down
on the side of the General and gave his consent. Kiihlmann
had no real objections, for he was privately convinced
that Hoffmann’s methods would get them no further
than his own, but he considered it possible that a fighting
speech by Hoffmann would improve his relations with
Ludendorff, and, though Kiihlmann had no love for the
Supreme Command, he could not but realize the un-
satisfactory position of having as his colleague a man who

was not on speaking terms with his own superiors. It was
- therefore agreed that, without preliminaries, Kithlmann
would, at the psychological moment, give Hoffmann the
floor. '

The moment arrived sooner than any of them had
expected. On the following morning, January 12, the
Russians had decided to bring forward some concrete
proposals, and Trotsky had entrusted the task of presenting
them to Kamenev ; in a long speech, in no way compli-

1 Hoffmann, ii, 211.
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nentary to the Central Powers, he proposed a series of
regulations for the evacuation of the occupied territories
and the organization of popular plebiscites to be held both
in them, and in the other border States outside the zone of
occupation, namely in Estonia and Livonia. The scheme
was to be conditional on the agreement that

Russia binds herself not to exercise direct or indirect pressure on
these territories to accept a particular form of government, and not
to restrict their independence by any tariff or military conventions
concluded before the regions are finally established as the basis of
their right to political self-determination. The Governments of Ger-
many and Austria-Hungary, on their part, categorically confirm the
absence of any claims either to annex the territories of the former
Russian Empire now occupied by their armies, or the so-called
frontier ““rectifications” at the expense of these regions.

Germany and Austria were also to accept the same pledge
as that given by Russia in respect of the territories lymg
outside the area of occupation.

These proposals, put forward with the object of driving
the enemy into a corner and forcing him to declare him-
self, took the conference completely by surprise. To the
Quadruple Alliance it appeared as if the Russians were
imagining themselves victorious before the gates of Berlin
and Vienna, and dictating terms to their defeated foes.
It was always a source of annoyance to them that the
Soviet representatives, after Trotsky’s arrival, would never
realize their réle of a country suing for peace.

Kamenev’s speech was followed by complete silence.
Then, without further comment, Kiihlmann said quietly :
“ General Hoffmann has the floor.”

This was Hoffmann’s big moment, the moment for
which he had prepared with diligence and care. He was
angered by Kamenev’s remarks, and his own became

1 Proceedings, pp- 80-82; Mirnye peregovory v Brest-Latovske (Moscow,
1920), i. 92-94.
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perhaps slightly harsher in reply than he had originally
intended. Perfectly controlled, he spoke in short staccato
tones, without any gestures to emphasize his points. We
have the word of all his colleagues that the famous
thumping upon the table with his fist is as mythical as the
story that he frequently put his spurred boots upon it.

After protesting against the tone of Kamenev’s speech,
the General pointed out that, though they talked loudly
of self-determination, the Soviet Government,  based
purely on violence, ruthlessly suppressing all who think
differently ”’, had themselves denied that right to the White
Russians and Ukrainians, breaking up their Constituent
Assemblies with bayonets and machine-guns. In addition,
the Russian Government had not ceased to violate those
provisions of the armistice agreement which prohibited the
interference of the Bolsheviks in the internal affairs of the
Central Powers. Their agents were continually dissemin-
ating propaganda. “ The German High Command therefore
considered, it necessary to prevent any attempt to interfere
in the affairs of the occupied territories. . . . Also, for
reasons of a technical and administrative nature, the
German High Command must refuse to evacuate Courland,
Lithuania, Riga, and the Islands of the Gulf of Riga.”?*

The effect of the General’s speech was anything but
what he had hoped for or expected. It did not even bring
about a reconciliation with the Supreme Command, for,
though Ludendorff signified his approval of Hoffmann’s
remarks and urged upon him the necessity for greater
speed, he did not abandon the method of indirect com-
munication through the Chief of the Operations Section.?
Kithlmann and Czernin were frankly distressed at the
speech, which in brutal frankness had gone far beyond
what they had anticipated, and they did not conceal from
Hofimann that he had gained nothing by it beyond exciting

1 Proceedings, pp. 82-83; Mirnye peregovory v Brest-Litovske,
1. 94-95, 2 Hoffmann, ii. 213.
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public opinion at home against them.! For, indeed, the
only concrete result of the speech was a chorus of indignation
in German and Austro-Hungarian newspapers reflecting
the views of those who still believed in a peace of under-
standing and the principles of the Peace Resolution of
July 19172 In addition, Hofftmann had presented the
propaganda agencies of the Entente with a welcome and
magnificent example of Prussian militarism, naked and
unadorned, of which they took full advantage.

As for embarrassing Trotsky—the Soviet Commissar
had actually smiled during Hoffmann’s diatribe. His
brilliant dark eyes sparkled as he listened, leaning a little
forward in his chair, his hands draped upon the conference
table before him. For the moment he was entirely happy,
for he knew what could be done with the General’s
sentiments both at Brest and at Petrograd. His reply was
bitter and incisive. In a society based on classes, he told
Hoffmann, every government rests on force. The only
difference was that the General’s friends applied repression
to protect big-property owners, whereas the Bolsheviks
applied it in defence of the workers. “ What surprises and
repels the governments of other countries”, continued
Trotsky, ““is that we do not arrest strikers, but capitalists
who subject workers to lock-outs ; that we do not shoot
peasants who demand land, but arrest the land-owners
and officers who try to shoot the peasants.”?

After this lesson in elementary Marxism, Trotsky pro-
ceeded to deal with the more specific of Hoffmann’s charges,
namely the circulation of propaganda in Germany. This he
did not deny, but pointed out that German newspapers
had free access to Russia, whatever their views, yet the
Soviet Government did not find it possible to demand the
curtailment of even that part of the press which supported
the views of General Hofimann. * There is no doubt that

1 Czernin, p. 237. 2 Ludendorft, ii. 552.
3 Trotsky, My Life, pp. 319-320.
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the support which our reactionary circles are receiving by
certain declarations by German official circles is doing
much to continue civil war in our country, but we do not
find it possible to connect this question with the conditions
of the armistice.”?*

Kithlmann intervened to say that it was Germany’s
settled principle not to interfere in the internal affairs
of Russia, and Trotsky scoffed at him for thus abandoning
the moral offensive. He would regard it as a step forward,
he said, if the German Government would freely and frankly
express their views regarding the internal position in
Russia.

Here was a challenge which Kiihlmann, had he taken
it up, might have used to his advantage. Had he accepted
Trotsky’s invitation to speak his mind on the internal
affairs of Russia, he could have turned the tables on his
adversary and redeemed to some extent Germany’s
position in the eyes of the world. Instead of allowing Trotsky
to brand Germany as a hypocrite, a liar, and a brigand,
he could have unmasked the Bolsheviks as the enslavers
of the minds of men and the destroyers of the social fabric
of civilization. Had Kiihlmann taken his stand, publicly
and unreservedly, on the principle that Germany conceived
it to be her right and her duty to protect the peoples
who had seen fit to free themselves from the chaos of
revolutionary Russia, he could have capitalized the
existing and steadily growing fear of Bolshevism in the
countries of the Entente. Germany, as the champion of
Western civilization, protecting the border States from
civil war, rapine, and bloody murder, as a bulwark against
the spread of Bolshevism across Europe, would have been
In an infinitely stronger position, both within and without,
than Germany, the apostle of Machtpolitik, deliberately
perverting the principle of self-determination to cover a
policy of annexation. The propaganda of the Entente

1 Proceedings, p. 90.
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would have been robbed of one of its most effective
weapons, and even the objections of the Supreme Command
might have been overcome, since there could have been no
question of subsequently abandoning the border States to
the tender mercies of Bolshevism.

But Kiihlmann allowed this golden opportunity to
escape him, and plunged anew into his theoretical disputa-
tions with Trotsky in which he had lost the advantage.
Nothing could now possibly be expected from these pro-
tracted debates save benefit to the enemy ; for, as a result
of Hoffmann’s brutal frankness, the Central Powers now
stood self-convicted before their opponents and before
the world. The Master Voice of Germany had spoken—
Hoffmann had proclaimed the fact that he represented not
the German Government but the Supreme Command, and
no further doubts could be entertained either as to its
power or its intentions. For Germany it would have been
better to force the issue from that moment and proceed
with a series of ultimata.

For Trotsky, however, the position was quite the
reverse. His strategy had been wholly successful. Not only
was Kiithlmann apparently ready to play indefinitely the
Bolshevik game of delaying tactics, but Trotsky had been
able to persuade the Germans to unmask themselves.
Under these circumstances, even Ludendorff is forced to
admit, he would have been a fool to have given way on any
point.! From Germany and from Austria came tidings of
the rapidly deteriorating internal situation. Trotsky, too,
had his illusions. Surely now, with a little more delay,
proletarian revolutions would shatter the empires of the
Hohenzollerns and the Habsburgs. In the days that
followed he kept the game in his own hands, playing it
with the technique of a master, never missing a trick,
never going too far. But his tone became more and more
provoking. He patronized Czernin, he baited Hoffmann,

1 Ludendorff, ii. 552.
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and finally he goaded the unwilling Kiihlmann into the
open admission that the German Government could not
undertake any obligation to recall its army from the
occupied territories, even a year after the conclusion of a
general peace.! In the intervals of these activities, this
indefatigable man found time to pay a visit to Warsaw and
to dictate from memory a historical sketch of the November
Revolution (The History of the Russian Revolution to Brest-
Litovsk), which, until its prohibition by Stalin in 1924,
remained in all languages a standard work on the subject.

Single-handed, with nothing behind him save a country
in chaos and a régime scarce established, this amazing
individual, who a year before had been an inconspicuous
journalist exiled in New York, was combating successfully
the united diplomatic talent of half Europe.

2

Hoffmann himself realized that his contribution to the
negotiations had had no practical effect and that he was
unable to stem the flow of Trotsky’s eloquence or of Kiihl-
mann’s argumentation. He was, however, undaunted in
his efforts to speed up matters, and turned to the other
device open to him—negotiation with the representatives
of the Ukrainian Rada. Ever since their arrival at Brest on
January 7, Hoffmann had recognized the potential useful-
ness of these young men and had taken them under his
wing, though perhaps a cat protecting a canary would
be a more apt description. He encouraged the Ukrainian
delegates to talk to him of their plans and hopes, and,
being as able a tactician at the conference board as on
the field, though a poorer strategist, he gained their
confidence and their respect.

The three original delegates had been joined by M.
Wsewolod Holubowicz, the President of the Council of

1 Proceedings, pp. 109-110.
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Ministers, thirty-four years of age and full of the fervour
of national and social revolution. The declaration of the
Rada—stating its willingness to negotiate peace with the
Central Powers and its independence of the Soviet régime in
Petrograd—had been presented by this youthful statesman
to the conference on January 10, and accepted both by
Kiihlmann on behalf of the Quadruple Alliance and by
Trotsky—though the formal recognition by the Four Powers
of the Ukrainian Republic as an independent State was
reserved for the peace treaty.!

Thereafter the young Ukrainians, like the remainder
of the delegates at Brest-Litovsk, merely swelled the gallery
at the * spiritual wrestling-matches ”, but, as they had
been recognized as not forming a part of the Soviet delega-
tion, care was taken to keep them segregated as much as
possible from the Bolsheviks, a fact against which Trotsky
made protest.?

When, however, on January 14, it became evident that
these rhetorical displays were to continue ad nauseam,
Hoffmann approached Czernin and suggested that, with the
Count’s authority, he should open private negotiations
with the Ukrainians and discover what terms of peace they
contemplated. Czernin gave his consent not unwillingly ;
he was really a sick man now and in no shape to argue with
hare-brained young revolutionaries; moreover he was re-
ceiving almost daily from Vienna reports of the food-crisis
arising out of the incapacity of his Austrian and the egot-
ism of his Hungarian colleagues.

The Ukrainians, who had talked at first so freely of
their general plans, were uncommunicative when it came
to dealing with hard facts. Hoffmann was patient, how-
ever, and with the assistance of his Intelligence Officer,
Major Hey, who acted as interpreter (Hoffmann spoke and
wrote Russian but not Ukrainian, and the young men

1 Proceedings, pp. 56-569, 63-64, 88-89; Mirnye peregovory v Bresi-
Litovske, i. 44-48. 2 Proceedings, pp. 84-85.
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refused to talk any language but their own), he elicited
that their claims extended to the districts round Cholm,
and also the Ruthenian portions of Galicia and the
Bukovina.

Normally the Cholm district would have been included
in the Polish State when its frontiers were delimited,
though its eastern fringe is Ukrainian. But Hoffmann, with
his soldier’s realism, had never entertained the idea of an
independent Poland as anything more than a Utopian
dream ; certainly, the claims of a non-existent State were
not to be considered as an obstacle to a Ukrainian peace,
and, on his own authority, he promised the delegates of
the Rada his support in their claim to the Cholm area.

With regard to their demands of parts of Galicia and
the Bukovina, Hoffmann assumed a very different tone.
This, he let the young men know, was a piece of impudence
which was not even to be considered. They must be crazy
if they thought they were in a position to force Austria to
cede territory to them. MM. Liubynski and Sevruk were
not greatly put out at his curtness, and with considerable
amiability agreed to seek new instructions from Kiev, the
probability being that their demands for the cession of
territory by Austria had been in the nature of a “try-on”2

Czernin was none too pleased with the results of
Hoffmann’s mission when the latter reported to him. The
cession of Cholm to the Ukraine would inevitably embroil
the Austrian Government with the Poles, and would
imperil, if not completely wreck, the ““ Austrian Solution ”’
of the Polish problem, in which certain of the diplomats in
Vienna and Berlin still had faith. But Czernin was in no
position to argue or to disagree. The attitude and policy of
the Austrian and Hungarian Prime Ministers, against
which Czernin had so often and so earnestly warned the
Emperor Karl, had now resulted in a situation where the
principal cities of the Empire were faced with actual

1 Hoffmann, ii. 213-214.



THE STALEMATE 169

famine. City after city sent in its tale of hunger and revolt.
“The people are starving”’, wailed the Prince-Bishop of
Cracow. “Our bread rations are reduced by half ”, tele-
graphed the Stathalter from Trieste. ““Vienna has only
flour enough to last till Monday *’, telephoned the Burgo-
master.!

The men whose errors had brought about the crisis now
appealed to Czernin for assistance (January 16). “It is
only from Germany that effective aid for the capital of the
Empire can arrive in time, and that only if supplies are
despatched at once ”*, telegraphed Dr. Seidler, the Austrian
Premier, who only a few weeks before had stated positively
that the country could hold out till the new harvest. “ We
have no choice but to inform Your Excellency of all this
and to beg you in due course to call the attention of the
German Delegation to the uncommonly critical state of
affairs which unforeseen difficulties may easily turn into a
catastrophe.” The Prime Minister added, by telephone,
that no question excited the people so much as the
negotiations at Brest, the will for peace being strongly in
the ascendant.

This was in fact an understatement. The strike move-
ment round Vienna, which had begun originally as a
political demonstration actuated by hunger, swiftly de-
veloped into a public demand for the speedy conclusion
of peace. At first only a movement among unorganized
labour, it spread like a prairie fire to the ranks of the
trade unions, which the leaders were powerless to check.

Czernin rose nobly to the emergency. Racked by high
fever, his nervous system already in a state bordering on
collapse, the Foreign Minister did all that he humanly
could to meet the crisis. He urged the Emperor Karl to

1 Gustav Gratz and Richard Schiiller, T%e Economac Policy of Austria-
Hungary during the War (New Haven, 1928), p. 93. (Dr. Gratz was chef
de cabinet to Count Czernin, and Professor Schiiller Director of the
Austrian Ministry of Commerce, during the Brest-Litovsk Conference.)
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appeal personally to Kaiser Wilhelm ; he humbled himself
before Kiihlmann and begged his assistance with the
German authorities ; he even performed the supreme act of
humiliation and besought help from the Bulgarians. But
his efforts met with scant success. Ludendorff declared that
under no circumstances could he contribute anything from
his army stores, and the Imperial German Food Control
Office replied that they were quite unable to help since
they were on the point of reducing the flour ration in
Germany. The Bulgarian Government found it impossible
to send even a few trucks of grain to Vienna, but took
the opportunity to urge that peace with Russia, and
especially the Ukraine, must be concluded immediately,
even at the cost of great sacrifices. Finally there came to
Czernin, on January 17, a distracted message from the
Emperor Karl at Laxenburg :

I must once more earnestly impress upon you that the whole
fate of the Monarchy and of the dynasty depends on peace being
concluded at Brest-Litovsk as soon as possible. We cannot over-
throw the situation here for the sake of Courland, Livonia and Polish
dreams. If peace be not made at Brest, there will be revolution here,
be there ever so much to eat. This is a serious instruction at a serious
time.?

Was there ever such an ironically cruel situation as
that in which Czernin now found himself ¢ The food crisis
in Austria was eventually met by forced drafts of grain
from Hungary, Poland, and Rumania, and by a last
moment contribution from Germany of 450 truck-loads of
flour, but the desperate methods to which the Austrian
Government had been forced to resort had effectually
destroyed its diplomatic influence in the peace negotiations.
Friend and foe alike now knew the weakness of the Dual
Monarchy—that it existed on the charity and largesse of its
allies. Through their negligence and folly the Austrian
Ministry had proclaimed to the world the final passing of

1 Czernin, pp. 237-240 ; Gratz and Schiiller, pp. 93-98.
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Habsburg glory. Implored by his sovereign to accelerate
the conclusion of peace, Czernin was at the same time
robbed of the last bargaining factor which he possessed.
Events at home had weakened him—and this at a most
critical moment—both as regards his relations with his
German allies and his attitude towards his Russian
opponents. He was required to exert pressure upon
Germany, but was deprived of his only influence in this
direction—the threat of a separate Austro-Russian peace—
by the fact that it would imperil the chance of further food
supplies from Germany, the more so since Hoffmann had
told him bluntly that it was immaterial whether Austria-
Hungary made peace or not. Despite the fact that Czernin
demanded not a rouble nor square mile from Russia, he
was now irrevocably riveted to the wheels of the German
chariot of annexation.

With the Ukrainians, on the other hand, he had to
strive for a peace settlement under the most acceptable
conditions in order to put an end to the food difficulties
at home, well knowing that the Ukrainians were perfectly
informed about the food situation and labour troubles in
Vienna, and would make their price accordingly high.

Faced with this bitter combination of humiliating
impotence and the necessity for great political sacrifices,
and battling heroically with his own ill-health, Czernin
prepared to continue, with the assistance of Hoffmann, his
negotiations with the Rada delegates. Liubynski and Sevruk
had received new instructions from Kiev which, though
they abandoned the claim for the cession of any part
of Galicia and the Bukovina, and merely demanded that
these Ruthenian territories should be formed into an in-
dependent province under the Habsburgs, still regarded the
cession of the Cholm districts as a condstio sine qua non.

Czernin’s position was difficult. Apart from the undying
hatred of the Poles which he would incur if he conceded
Cholm to the Ukrainians, the handing-over of the district
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without consulting the population was fundamentally
opposed to the principle of self-determination, to which he
was nominally pledged. Conversely, by agreeing to the
creation of Ruthenian provinces he would introduce the
principle of self-determination into the polyglot Austro-
Hungarian Empire. But, if the parlous condition of Austria
weakened Czernin’s hand, it also simplified the issue. He
could no longer afford to debate with himself, or with any-
body else, the ethics of self-determination, its wisdom or its
folly. What he wanted, and what hemust have, was Ukrainian
grain, without which, according to the hysterical messages
from Seidler, thousands would be perishing within a few
weeks. On January 18, through Hoffmann, he agreed to
the conditions of the Rada in principle, reserving the right
to refer the final decision to the Austrian Cabinet in Vienna.
‘1 cannot, and dare not,” he wrote in his diary, ““ look on
and see hundreds of thousands starve for the sake of
retaining the sympathy of the Poles, so long as there is a
possibility of help.”*

But the threat of starvation was not only on one side.
One of the chief reasons for the opposition of Trotsky to a
separate peace with the Ukraine was that it would entail
the deflection of the flow of grain from the northward to
the westward. Russia was desperately short of food and
fodder, not only in the hinterland but in what remained
of the army. “ Immediate help is necessary ”, cried the
official wireless from Tsarskoe Selo on January 15. “The
army which is standing patiently and bravely on guard
for the freedom of the country is perishing from famine.
Their provisioning has ceased. Several regiments are
entirely without bread ; horses are without fodder.” 2
Despite the gravity of the situation, its propaganda value
was not wasted by Moscow, and Radek, in a signed article,
on the same day took advantage of the food shortage to

1 Hoffmann, ii. 214-215 ; Czernin, pp. 240-241.
% Izvestia, January 15, 1918.
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belabour the Kiev Government. “ If you want food, cry
‘ Death to the Rada !’ ... The Rada has dug its grave by
its Judas-like treachery.”

In the meantime the doctrinal discussions between
Kiihlmann and Trotsky had reached a point of exhaustion.
Trotsky realized that the progress made in the negotiations
with the Ukrainians, which he had been unable to control,
seriously menaced his position, and in addition, he was
anxious to return to Petrograd (where the Constituent
Assembly was due to open in the near future) for a more
intimate exchange of views with Lenin than was possible
over the private wire from Brest-Litovsk. He was not yet
prepared to give up the battle, but a brief interval would
delay matters still further, and he was anxious to gain
Lenin’s approval for a new line of policy which should
confound the Germans and yet save the Bolshevik face.

Kiihlmann also apparently thought that such use as
these discussions had ever had was exhausted, and there-
fore proposed to force the issue, assigning once more to
Hoffmann the task of speaking out. On January 18 the
Secretary of State, reverting to many previous arguments,
emphasized the German reservation that the people of
the occupied territories were not sufficiently experienced
politically for popular referenda to be held, and that the
institutions already in existence must be developed for this
purpose. What must be prevented at all costs was the spread
of revolution to these regions, already sufficiently devastated
by war. Trotsky sarcastically enquired as to the exact area
to be embraced by the German principle of self-determina-
tion. For answer the Secretary of State turned to Hoffmann,
who spread a great staff map upon the table. A blue line,
which the General indicated with his thumb as he explained
the position, ran north from Brest-Litovsk to the Baltic,
demonstrating the future frontier between Germany and
Russia. It separated from the old Russian Empire most

1 Pravda, January 15, 1918.
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of what is now Poland, all modern Lithuania, western
Latvia, the city of Riga and the Moon Sound Islands.

“ What principles guided you, General, in drawing this
line ? ” Trotsky asked ironically.

“ The indicated line is dictated by military considera-
tions ; it assures the people living on this side of the line
a tranquil organization of State life and the realization of
the right of self-determination ”’, was Hoffmann’s reply.

Further explanations followed. In reply to Trotsky’s
question as to the delimitation of the occupied areas to
the south of Brest, Hoffimann replied that this matter
would be discussed with the Ukrainian delegates. Trotsky
remarked that it would also require an agreement between
the Soviet Government and the Ukraine. In answer to a
query of Kithlmann’s concerning the relations between the
Caucasus and the Petrograd Government, he said : “ The
army of the Caucasus is completely under the command of
officers unqualifiedly devoted to the Soviet of People’s
Commissars. This was confirmed about two weeks ago by
the Congress of Delegates at the Caucasian Front.”

Rather than make any expression of opinion on the
merits of the case Trotsky made a general declaration to
the conference :

The position of our opponents is now absolutely clear. Germany
and Austria wish to cut off more than 150,000 square versts from
the Polish Kingdom of Lithuania,® also the area populated by the
Ukrainians and White Russians, and further their line cuts in two
the territory of the Letts and separates the Estonian Islands from
the same people on the main land. Within these territories Germany
and Austria wish to retain their reign of military occupation, not
only after the conclusion of peace with Russia, but also after the
conclusion of a general peace. At the same time the Central Powers
refuse to give any explanation regarding the time and conditions of
evacuation. Thus the internal life of these lies for an indefinite period

1 Trotsky obviously referred to the historic Grand Duchy of Lithu-
ania, in which the upper classes were Polonized, but the vast majority
of the population were White Russian and Lithuanian.
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in the hands of these Powers. Under these conditions, it is clear that
any indefinite guarantees regarding the expression of will by the
Poles, Lithuanians, and Letts will prove illusory, and that means
that the Governments of Austria and Germany take into their hands
the destiny of these nations. . . .

As a parting shot he added :

It is clear that the decisions could have been reached long ago
regarding peace aims if the Central Powers had not stated their
terms differently from those expressed by General Hoffmann.

“If General Hoffmann expressed these terms more
strongly ”, replied Kithlmann suavely, “it is because a
soldier always uses stronger language than diplomats. But
it must not be deduced from this that there is any dissension
between us regarding the principles, which are a well-
thought-out whole.”

Faced with this new situation, Trotsky at first threatened
to break off the discussions. Kithimann meditated an ulti-
matum, and both possibilities nearly threw Czernin into
nervous prostration. At last, however, a compromise was
reached. Negotiations were adjourned to enable Trotsky to
go to Petrograd, but he undertook to return by January
29. He left on the night of the 18th, taking with him Hoff-
mann’s map as evidence.

3

On the night of January 18, while Trotsky’s train sped
north-eastwards towards Petrograd, an event was taking
place in that capital which was to affect materially the
negotiations at Brest-Litovsk. The Constituent Assembly
was being dissolved.

In the days following the March Revolution, when the
Bolsheviks were in opposition to the Provisional Govern-
ment, they had joined with the Socialist and bourgeois

1 Proceedings, pp. 113-116 ; Mirnye peregovory v Brest-Litovske, i. 97-

130 ; Judah P. Magnes, Russia and Germany at Brest-Litovsk (New York,
1919), pp. 92-94.

N
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parties in attacking Prince Lvov, and later Kerensky, for
their delay in convoking the Constituent Assembly. Lenin
had realized at once the popular appeal of a national
democratic gathering and capitalized it as a matter of
tactics. Constituent Assemblies had no place in the orthodox
Marxian doctrine which recognized only the dictatorship of
the proletariat, but Lenin had never any qualms as to the
weapons he used. To the Bolsheviks the Assembly was a
stick with which to beat the Provisional Government, and
at the same time they urged the seizure of power by the
Soviets, as the best way of ensuring the calling of the
Assembly.

Once their own dictatorship had been established the
attitude of the Bolsheviks towards the Constituent
Assembly radically altered. This had become the rallying-
ground of all the elements, Right, Left, and Centre, who
wished to encompass the downfall of Soviet dictatorship.
But the Bolsheviks were not agreed among themselves as
to whether the elections for the Assembly should be held.
The more extreme faction were for suspending them alto-
gether, and leaving the Assembly a dead letter. Sverdlov
and others, on the contrary, believed that the party was as
yet too weak toignore the popular demand forthe Assembly,
and that by its postponement the Soviet Power, of which
the country as a whole was still ignorant, would be further
weakened.

What Lenin thought is not known, for he left no record
of his personal views, and there is only the conflicting
evidence of his two great commentators.! According to
Trotsky, he was in favour of postponing the elections, of
enlarging the electorate by lowering the voting age to

1 Lenin’s theses on the Constituent Assembly, published}in Pravda
on January 8, 1918, give little clue to his private opinion regarding the
advisability of convoking that body ; they merely emphasize the dis-
crepancy between the views of the Assembly and those of the Soviet
Power and indicate the inevitability of a clash between the two.
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eighteen, and of making a new list of electors, which would
include the workers and peasants as well as the intellectuals.
He was also in favour of outlawing the Cadets and the
supporters of Kornilov. In answer to Sverdlov, who opposed
postponement, Lenin declared that it would be a definite
step backward if the elections were held at that time with
the old voters’ lists and resulted in a victory for the
Mensheviks, Cadets, and Social Revolutionaries of the
Right.* Stalin, on the other hand, declares that Lenin
favoured the calling of the Assembly in order to compromise
it with the masses, on the principle that Bolshevik co-
operation was justified in order to make it easier for the
proletariat to instruct the backward masses as to why such
Parliaments should be broken and “ to drive another nail
into the coffin of bourgeois parliamentarianism .2 In
any case, whether Lenin’s personal feelings were favourable
or not, the Central Executive Committee decided to permit
the elections, while preparing to maintain itself in power
regardless of results.

The returns at the polls on November 25, December 2,
and December 9 showed that, while the Bolsheviks had a
majority in Petrograd, Moscow, and a few other cities, in
fifty-four electoral regions out of seventy-nine they had
received only nine million votes out of thirty-six and a
quarter million cast, whereas the Social Revolutionaries
had an absolute majority with nearly twenty-one million
votes. The Council of Commissars acted with deter-
mination and despatch. They immediately arrested the
entire All-Russian Commission on Elections and kept them
locked up at Smolny for two days, appointing Uritsky as
Commissar for Elections, with orders to require the pres-
ence of four hundred representatives before the Assembly
could open.®

1 Trotsky, Lenin, pp. 145-146.

2 Stalin, Leninism (London and New York, 1928-1933), i. 207-209.
3 Bunyan and Fisher, pp. 348-350.
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By means of this handicap the Bolsheviks were able to
prevent the Assembly from meeting, despite an abortive
attempt to open it on December 11, until they had perfected
their own plans for its destruction. As the Bolshevik
deputies arrived in Petrograd from all parts of Russia, at
Lenin’s insistence and under Sverdlov’s direction, they
were assigned to the various factories, industrial works,
and army corps. Here they developed the party “ cell
system ”’, and created an atmosphere favourable to the
Bolsheviks, organizing the workers in opposition to the
democratic theory.!

The Right Social Revolutionaries were also strengthen-
ing their position. They published a newspaper bitterly
attacking the Bolsheviks, they attempted to win over two
of the remaining crack regiments of the old army, they
endeavoured to arm the workers, and even to bring back
soldiers from the front under the guise of their attending a
military university. They even worked out a plot for the
kidnapping of the whole Council of Commissars, and were
implicated in an attempt upon Lenin’s life in the course of
which Fritz Platten was wounded in the hand.?

By the third week of January 1918, the necessary
quorum had gathered and the Bolsheviks had completed
their arrangements. In any case the atmosphere of plot
and counter-plot in Petrograd had become so tense that
further delay would provoke an untimely outburst, and the
delegates were summoned to meet on January 18. But at
the same time it was made clear by the Council of Com-
missars that the Assembly would be immediately dissolved
unless it recognized the Soviet Power, ratified the pro-
gramme of the Second Congress of Soviets, and approved
the measures of socialization taken by this body.

1 Trotsky, Lenin, p. 148.
2 J. Mavor, The Russian Revolution (London, 1928), pp. 190-191.

(Based largely upon the memoirs of Boris Sokoloff, who organized these
activities,)
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As the deputies to the Constituent Assembly gathered
in the Tauride Palace they found all approaches closely
guarded by the Lettish Riflemen and Red Guards. None
was allowed to enter without a pass. Dybenko, Commissar
for War, was taking no chances, machine-guns were
mounted on the house-tops, and the guards had been
supplemented by two thousand sailors drawn from Viborg
and Helsingfors. The precautions were justified. Demonstra-
tions for and against the Assembly filled the streets and
resulted in severe street fighting, which delayed the
Japanese Ambassador and the British Chargé d’Affaires in
their arrival at the American Embassy, where a meeting of
the Chiefs of the Allied Missions was in progress. During this
discussion, which terminated in general agreement among
the diplomats not to attend the opening of the Assembly,
rifle-fire and the sounds of conflict could be heard con-
tinually

The Session, which had been due to open at noon, was,
in true Russian fashion, delayed until 4 p.m. There was
endless speculation as to possible eventualities. All expected
some drastic action by the Bolsheviks, and many had
brought with them candles and sandwiches lest they should
be called upon to stand a siege. “ Thus democracy entered
upon its struggle with dictatorship heavily armed with
sandwiches and candles”, commented Trotsky con-
temptuously.?

The first tilt took place at the very moment of the
opening. The Social Revolutionaries of the Right, as the
majority party, proposed the oldest member present, one
of their own number, Sergei Petrovitch Shevtsov, as tem-
porary presiding officer, but before he had time to do
more than ring his bell, Sverdlov, as President of the
Petrograd Soviet, took possession of the chair and, amid
cries of “ Go wash your bloody hands, you murderer ”

1 U.8. Foreign Relaiions, 1918 : Russia, i. 350-351.
2 Trotsky, Lenin, p..149.
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from the Right and Centre, read to the Assembly the
declaration of the Council of Commissars concerning its
duties and conduct, and the terms upon which it would be
permitted to survive.

During scenes of great disorder, in which the Bolsheviks
sang the ‘ Internationale ”’ at the tops of their voices, a
vote was taken for the presidency of the Assembly. The
Social Revolutionaries of the Right put forward Victor
Chernov, Kerensky’s former Minister of Agriculture, the
Bolsheviks nominated a member of their only allies, the
Social Revolutionaries of the Left, Maria Spiridonova, who
had lately been liberated from an incompleted fifteen-year
sentence in Siberia for the murder of the Governor of
Tambov. The voting showed that Chernov, a man with a
flat-nosed bespectacled face, almost beardless and with
prominent cheek-bones (whom Trotsky describes vividly,
if perhaps inaccurately, as ‘ verbose, emotional, feeble,
coquettish, and, above all, sickening ”’),' was elected by
a large majority.

Chernov in his opening speech attacked the Bolsheviks
for their failure to make good their promises both in regard
to external and internal affairs, and dwelt lovingly on what
democratic constitutional government would do for Russia.
Bukharin followed for the Bolsheviks, and then Tseretelli
for the Mensheviks, who denied the right of the Council of
Commissars to demand the ratification of their actions by
the Assembly as the price of its life and proposed a Social
Democrat programme which would make the Constituent
Assembly temporarily the highest power in the land.

Other anti-Bolshevik speakers followed Tseretelli, their
remarks being frequently punctuated and often drowned
by remarks shouted from the galleries, where a crowd of
soldiers, sailors, and workmen, admitted to the Tauride
Palace by the commander of the Red Guard, had taken
possession and were making merry. The pandemonium was

1 Trotsky, Lenin, p. 152.
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reminiscent of the Convention in revolutionary Paris during
one of its more ribald sessions.

The crucial clash came on voting the order of the day—
it was then about one o’clock in the morning of January 19.
The Right Social Revolutionaries wished to discuss their
peace programme and measures for Jand reform, the
Bolsheviks demanded priority for their Declaration of the
Rights of the Toiling and Exploited Peoples. The voting
showed 237 to 136 in favour of the Social Revolutionaries
of the Right. Whereupon, among scenes of such complete
disorder that a free fight seemed imminent, the Bol-
shevik deputies withdrew, to be followed an hour or so
later by the Social Revolutionaries of the Left.

Lenin had left the Tauride Palace to return to Smolny,
where the Central Executive Committee of the party was
in permanent session. There the news came to him of the
Bolshevik withdrawal from the Assembly, and the Com-
mittee at once voted for its dissolution. The decree exists
in Lenin’s own hand. He wrote it on the spot and with
great speed. It was a terse and peremptory document :

The Constituent Assembly, which was elected on lists made out
before the November Revolution, represents the old order when the
compromisers and Cadets were in power . . . [It is] carrying on an
open war against the Soviet, calling for its overthrow, and in this
way helping the exploiters in their efforts to block the transfer of
land and of the factories to the workers. It is clear that the Con-
stituent Assembly can be of help only to the bourgeois counter-
revolutionaries in its efforts to crush the power of the Soviets. In
view of the above the Central Executive Committee hereby decrees :
The Constituent Assembly is dissolved.

Lenin himself bore the order to the Tauride Palace.
To the officer of the guard he gave a written instruction,
“ The Constituent Assembly is not to be dissolved before
the close of the present session ” ; and he added verbally,

1 Bunyan and Fisher, pp. 375-377.
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“ Now mind, from to-morrow no one on any account is to
enter the Palace ”.

It was then 4 A.m. The officer and his sailors were tired
out, but the deputies showed no signs of flagging. Couldn’t
he close the session now, the commander asked Lenin.
Without directly committing himself, Lenin smiled en-
couragingly, bade the officer a cheerful good-night, and
returned to Smolny.!

Within the Chamber the atmosphere was heavy but
enthusiastic. In the absence of the Bolsheviks the Assembly
had succeeded in adopting the proposed Land Law of the
Right Social Revolutionaries amid scenes of wild applause.
As the final reading was completed, the commander of the
guard entered the hall and, advancing to the President’s
chair, patted Chernov familiarly on the shoulder, explained
that he was actingunderorders of the Council of Commissars,
and asked the Deputies to go home as the guard was tired.

‘“ All the members of the Constituent Assembly are very
tired,” replied Chernov, “ but that must not stand in the
way of going ahead with the laws for which Russia waits.”
And, ignoring the officer, he began to read very quickly
the peace declaration calling upon the Allies to define * the
exact terms of a democratic peace acceptable to all
bel].igerent nations ”’, exactly as if nothing had occurred
since the days of Kerensky.?

The commander of the guard, his patience at last
at an end, gave the order to his sailors to turn out the
lights. In the growing darkness disorder reigned, and,
amid cheers and cat-calls from the galleries, the voice of
Chernov could be heard pathetically proclaiming, ‘‘ The
Russian State is declared a Russian Democratic Federative
Republic .

1 Valeriu Marcu, Lenin (London, 1928), pp. 323-324.
2 Bunyan and Fisher, p. 378.
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4

Trotsky arrived in Petrograd on the morrow of these
momentous events and, according to him, Lenin was still
even then of the opinion that it would have been better
had the Constituent Assembly not met. ““ It was a great
risk on our part that we did not postpone the convention
—very, very unwise ”’, he said. “ But in the end it is best
that it happened so. The breaking up of the Constituent
Assembly by the Soviet Power is the complete and public
liquidation of formal democracy in the name of revolution-
ary dictatorship. It will be a good lesson.” *

This may have been true in a revolutionary sense, but
in the realm of practical affairs the ““ liquidation ” of the
Constituent Assembly did serious harm to the Soviet
position both at home and abroad. The Central Powers had
always feared that the Constituent Assembly would prove
8o strong a rallying-ground for the patriotic forces in
Russia that the Soviet Government would be forced to
compromise and ally itself with that element. It was even
believed that an attempt might be made to continue the
war as a result of such an alliance. But the dissolution of
the Assembly now convinced the Germans of Russia’s
avowed readiness to end the war at any price. Furthermore,
in suppressing the Assembly the Bolsheviks had abandoned
whatever moral basis they had ever had at Brest-Litovsk.
Here was justification for every accusation which Hoftmann
had made. No longer could they twit the Germans with
refusing to admit the expression of free-will in the occupied
territories.

In the countries of the Entente also, where, for example,
the British Labour Party had, as recently as January 15,
announced that the aim of the British people “ is identical
with Russia’s ”, there was a complete revulsion of feeling.
Those who, still ignorant of the ruthlessness of Soviet

1 Trotsky, Lenin, pp. 148-150.
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methods, had hoped that from the Constituent Assembly
would emerge a happy amalgam of all the revolutionary
parties of Russia, were appalled at this act of flagrant
dictatorship, and hastily revised their opinions of the
Revolution. Immediately there occurred a recrudescence
of the legend that Lenin and Trotsky were German agents
and that the Soviet régime was “in cahoots ”’ with the
German General Staff. In view of the passages between
Trotsky and Hoffmann at Brest this is not without humour.
Even in Germany there were persistent rumours among the
Majority Socialists that the Bolsheviks had been bought
by the German Government, and that all which had
happened at the peace conference was merely a well-played
farce with the rdles allotted in advance. Eduard Bernstein,
the Reichstag Deputy, writing in Maxim Gorky’s Novaya
Zhizn on January 24, declared that in German military
circles the success of the Brest-Litovsk negotiations was
openly ascribed to the fact that all whom it had been
necessary to “oil” had been “oiled ”. The personal
honesty of Lenin and Trotsky was not in question,
Bernstein averred, but it was believed that, having taken
German gold at the time of Lenin’s return to Russia, they
had ““ become slaves of this heedless step ”’.*

It was with the laying of this ghost, finally and forever,
that Trotsky was concerned as he plunged into the party
discussions after his arrival on January 20. Cost what it
might, he was convinced that before the signing of the
peace the proletariat of Europe should be given some signal
proof of the fundamental enmity which existed between
Soviet Russia and Imperial Germany. From this conviction

1 Trotsky, Lenin, p. 131 ; Bunyan and Fisher, p. 508. Kerensky de-
clares that he was informed by Bernstein of his post-war investigations
into the Lenin-Ludendorff alliance, to which he was forced to make an
end under the personal pressure of President Ebert and other high
officials of the Reich *“ in the name of the highest national reasons ”’. See
The Crucifizion of Liberty, p. 288.
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sprang the germ of what Trotsky himself terms * that
pedagogical demonstration ”’ which was expressed in the
formula “ We shall stop the war but we shall not sign the
peace treaty ”. It was necessary to test whether or no the
Germans were able to send troops against Russia. If they
were not, it would mean a definite victory with far-reaching
consequences; while, if they were, it would be possible to
capitulate at the point of the bayonet.!

Trotsky had revolved the idea in his mind for some time.
He had consulted first Kamenev, then other of his col-
leagues ; all seemed in sympathy with the plan. Finally
he had written to Lenin :

It is impossible to sign their peace, Vladimir Ilyich. They have.
already agreed with fictitious governments of Poland, Lithuania,
Courland, and others concerning territorial concessions and military
and Customs treaties. In view of “ self-determination *, these pro-
vinces, according to German interpretation, are already independ-
ent States, and as independent States they already have concluded
territorial and other agreements with Germany and Austria-Hungary.
We cannot sign their peace. My plan is this :

We announce the termination of the war and demobilization
without signing any peace. We declare we cannot participate in
the brigands’ peace of the Central Powers, nor can we sign a
brigands’ peace. Poland’s, Lithuania’s, and Courland’s fate we place
upon the responsibility of the German working people.

The Germans will be unable to attack us after we declare the
war ended. At any rate, it would be very difficult for Germany to
attack us, because of her internal condition. The Scheidemannites
adopted a formal resolution to break with the Government if it
makes annexationist demands of the Russian revolution.

The Berliner Tageblatt and the Vossische Zeitung demand an

1 Later, during the struggle between Trotsky and Stalin for the con-
trol of the party after Lenin’s death, Trotsky was accused of attempting,
by his formula of “ No War—No Peace ”, to rouse the peasant masses
for a revolutionary war. He is at great pains to refute this accusation
both in his Letter to the Bureau of Party History and in the notes to
volume xvii. of his Collected Works. See Trotsky, The Stalin School of
Falsification (New York, 1937), pp. 26-27.
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understanding with Russia by all means. The Centre Party favour
an agreement. The internal strife is demoralizing the Government.
Bitter controversy is raging in the press over the struggle on the
Western Front.

We declare we end the war but do not sign a peace. They will
be unable to make an offensive against us. If they attack us, our
position will be no worse than now, when they have the opportunity
to proclaim and declare us agents of England and of Wilson after his
speech, and to commence an attack.

We must have your decision. We can still drag on negotiations
for one or two or three or four days. Afterward they must be broken
off. I see no other solution than that proposed. I clasp your hand.

Yours,
TroTsky.

PS.—Answer direct by wire: “I agree to your plan” or “I

don't agree .1

But Lenin was not to be stampeded into giving a
precipitate answer. He was as supremely doubtful of
Trotsky’s new formula as he was of the clamour which
Bukharin was beginning to raise in favour of resuming the
war against Germany in the guise of a revolutionary crusade.
Why were his colleagues so credulous ? What did Bukharin
think he could fight with ? Why was Trotsky so sure the
Germans would not continue the offensive ? What real
signs were there of a revolution in Central Europe ¢ Lenin
alone had seen the light, had plumbed the grim situation
to its darkest depths of impotency. They could not fight,
they must make peace, the least bad peace they could under
the circumstances.

Yet Lenin was driving a difficult team. He had not yet
reached that point when he could dictate his terms to his
colleagues. A breach now might mean permanent dis-
ruption of the party and the collapse of the Bolshevik
Revolution in Russia. He would summon a conclave at

1 The authenticity of this letter, which has been in doubt for twenty
years, was personally confirmed to the writer by Leon Trotsky in con-
versation in Mexico City, in September 1937.
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which Trotsky, Bukharin, and he would state their views.
Perhaps he could make his arguments prevail against
theirs.

For this reason he did not reply to Trotsky’s letter
either in the affirmative or in the negative. Instead he tele-
graphed : “ When you come to Petrograd we will talk it
over ’! When, therefore, on January 18, the negotiations
had reached a critical point, Trotsky informed Smolny by
direct wire and received, one after the other, two replies :
“ Stalin has just arrived,” ran Lenin’s first message, “ we
shall discuss the matter with him and shall immediately
send you our combined reply ”; within an hour came the
second message above the double signature which was
later to prove so fatal to Trotsky, ““ Request to call a
recess and return to Petrograd : Lenin, Stalin 2 and it
was in accordance with these instructions that Trotsky
asked for an adjournment of the negotiations. Now he
returned to Petrograd and the battle for the soul of the
Revolution began.

Trotsky propounded his theory to a group of party
leaders on January 21 and was supported, among others,
by Stalin and Kamenev. At the same meeting Bukharin
fiercely advocated the immediate rupture of the negotiations
and the resumption of hostilities in “a revolutionary
war ”’. Alexandra Kollontai, Bela Kun, Pokrovsky, Pyata-
kov, Radek, and Uritsky agreed with him.

Lenin listened to both sides. Things were turning out
exactly as he had anticipated. Trotsky’s complex mind
had developed a complex formula, and the over-zealous
Bukharin was advocating the physically impossible.

“It’s all very attractive ”, he said to Trotsky. ““ One
could ask for nothing better if one could be certain that
Hoffmann cannot send troops against us. But what if he

1 Trotsky, My Life, p. 32T.
2 Trotsky, Collected Works (Leningrad-Moscow, 1926), xvii. Part I,
p. 632.
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“can ? You say yourself the trenches are empty. What if the
Germans resume fighting ? ”

“Then we would be compelled to sign the peace, but
everyone would know that we did so because we had no
choice. And only in this way will we be able to destroy the
legend of ‘secret connection with the Hohenzollerns’ ”,
argued Trotsky.

“ No, it’s too risky. For the moment our Revolution is
more important than anything else ; we must make sure
of i, cost what it may.” *

Bukharin pressed his point.

“My poor friend,” said Lenin fiercely, ““ go to the
front and see if it is possible to fight.”

The fiery Radek rose in his place and, glaring at Lenin,
cried: “If there were five hundred courageous men in
Petrograd, we would put you in prison ”. With steely
reserve and unconscious prophecy, Lenin replied, “ Some
people, indeed, may go to prison ; but if you will calculate
the probabilities you will see that it is much more likely
that I will send you than you me .

He then read to them his now famous Twenty-one
Theses, the fruits of his own bitter and soul-searching
reflections, giving his reasons for accepting the German
terms, though only after the negotiations had been delayed
as long as possible.

... “To make a success of Socialism in Russia, a cer-
tain time, some months at least, is necessary, during which
the Socialist Government can have a free hand, first to
overcome the bourgeoisie of its own country and then to
lay the basis for extensive and deep-rooted organizational
work. . . . The Brest-Litovsk negotiations have made it
clear by now that the war party in Germany has the upper
hand and has sent us what amounts to an ultimatum.
. . . The Russian Socialist Government is confronted
with a question which requires an immediate solution:

! Trotsky, Lenin, pp. 131-132 ; My Life, p. 321.
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either to accept the annexation peace or to start at once
a revolutionary war. No other solution is in fact possible.
We cannot put off the decision; we have already done
everything possible and impossible to drag out the negotia-
tions. . . . The question whether it is possible to undertake
at once a revolutionary war must be answered solely from
the point of view of actual conditions and the interest of
the Socialist Revolution which has already begun. If we
summarize the arguments for an immediate revolutionary
war, we shall find that the policy advocated in them is
capable of giving satisfaction to those who crave the
romantic and the beautiful but who fail completely to take
into consideration the objective correlation of class forces,
and the real conditions within which the Socialist Revolu-
tion is developing. There is no doubt that at the present time
(and probably during the next few weeks and months) our
army is in no condition to stop a German offensive. . . .
Under the circumstances it would be very bad policy to
risk the fate of the Socialist Revolution on the chance that
a revolution might break out in Germany by a certain date.
Such a policy would be adventurous. We have no right to
take such chances. . . .

“In concluding a separate peace now we rid ourselves,
as far as present circumstances permit, of both imperialistic
groups fighting each other. We can take advantage of their
strife, which makes it difficult for them to reach an agree-
ment at our expense, and use that period when our hands
are free to develop and strengthen the Socialist Revolu-
tion. . . . A truly revolutionary war at this moment would
be a war between a Socialist Republic and the bourgeois
countries. . . . For the time being, however, we cannot
make this our object. In reality we should be fighting now
for the liberation of Poland, Lithuania, and Courland.
There is not a single Marxist who, while adhering to the
foundations of Marxism and Socialism, would not say that
the interests of Socialism are above the right of nations
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to self-determination. . . . Peace on condition of the
liberation of Poland, Lithuania, and Courland would be a
* patriotic > peace from the Russian point of view, but it
would be none the less a peace with annexationists and
with the German imperialists.” ?

Few documents illustrate more succinctly Lenin’s genius
as a revolutionary opportunist or his understanding of the
value of Realpolitik in statesmanship. With cold clear-
sightedness he foresaw that a separate peace with Germany
was essential for the salvation of the Russian Revolu-
tion. Likewise he realized that sooner or later the myth of
“ world revolution in our time ”” would be exploded. Like
a good general he had prepared for the inevitable reaction,
a reaction which might threaten the very existence of the
party. That which he now propounded could not yet be
published, but it gave to his colleagues in control the cold
unvarnished facts which must ultimately be faced by all.
He took not more than twenty minutes to read his
Theses, speaking without gestures and without much
emphasis. Clearly and brutally he stated his position—
and waited.

But neither the majority of the leaders nor that of the
rank and file of the party was alert enough to appreciate the
wisdom of Lenin’s view. It was a complete reversal of the
slogans and propaganda which the party had circulated
for so long. It was a compromise, and Lenin had always
opposed compromises ; it was an acknowledgment of de-
feat, and Lenin had told them that Bolshevik diplomacy
had only to whistle and the proletariats of Western Europe
would sweep away their capitalistic governments. They
were still being told s0.  The triumph of the international
revolution is near ”’, wrote Pravda ; and again, ““ The victory
of an honest peace ha.s come . It was too much to expect
that they should suddenly accept the complete negation of
what they had so long believed. The cardinal dilemma which

1 For text see Appendix IIT, p. 385.
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all dictators have to face is to make their post-revolutionary
policy square with their pre-revolutionary propaganda.

The struggle within the party grew daily more tense
and more bitter. Trotsky maintains that the fiercest dissent
was not between him and Lenin, but between Lenin and
Bukharin. On the essential issue, whether Russia could
carry on a revolutionary war and whether it was admissible
for a revolutionary power to sign agreements with an im-
perialist régime, there was no difference of opinion between
Lenin and Trotsky. Both agreed that the answer to the
first was “no ”, and to the second, “ yes . Where they
differed was as to the moment and method of accepting the
terms of the Central Powers.

At an informal vote of the 63 present on January 21,
Lenin’s policy received 15, Trotsky’s 16, and Bukharin’s
32. It was then agreed to canvass the views of two hundred
local Soviets on the issue of war or peace. Only two (those
of Petrograd and Sebastopol, the latter with reservations)
voted for peace; from Moscow, Ekaterinburg,- Kharkov,
Kronstadt, and the rest came a full-throated cry for war.?

On the following day the question was carried from
private discussion to the Central Executive Committee.
The cleavage of opinion had become so deep that a split
in the party seemed inevitable. Again Lenin made a
passionate defence of his theses to sign. He called Trotsky’s
formula of “No War—No Peace” an  international
political demonstration > which they could not afford. “ If
the Germans advance we will have to conclude peace in
any case, but the terms will be worse if we do not sign now.”

1 Adolf Hitler found himself in precisely this difficulty. Having
promised all things to all men before his accession to power, he found
himself so enmeshed in his pledges after eighteen months of government
that to him there appeared no other alternative than to choose the way
of violence and cut the Gordian knot. This he did on'June 30, 1934.
Mussolini is the outstanding exception to the rule. Having made no pre-
revolution promises, he was never hampered by the impossibility of

fulfilling them. 2 Trotsky, My Life, p. 328.
(o)
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Why should the Germans, once they had begun a new
offensive, give quarter ? Why should they not press on and
take what they would from a totally defenceless people ?
Would the Russians have time to sign a treaty ? * This
beast springs suddenly ”, said Lenin. He saw it all so
clearly. But the glory of the November days still blinded
the eyes of the others. Trotsky talked of the revolution
imminent in Central Europe. “ We cannot put our trust in
the German proletariat ”, cried Lenin from the depths of
his own revelation.  Germany is only pregnant with
revolution. The second month must not be mistaken for
the ninth. But here in Russia we have a healthy, lusty
child. We may kill it if we start a war.”” To Bukharin and
his followers Lenin declared : ¢ The position of the Germans
on the islands of the Baltic is such that in an offensive they
could take Reval and Petrograd with bare hands .

All in vain. Russia was in a revolutionary war fever.
That same people who had clamoured for peace at any
price now called with equal enthusiasm for a holy war.
But the army was not there ; it had melted away.

Rather than surrender to this policy of sheer insanity,
Lenin sought to compromise with Trotsky. He did not
agree with Trotsky’s plans and was convinced that they
would lead to failure, with acceptance of worse terms as an
inevitable consequence. But, short of a second coup d’état
and a split within the party from which it might never
recover, he could not succeed in Imposing his own views
upon his colleagues. Between the danger of a harsher
peace and the certain disaster of a “ revolutionary war ”,
Lenin chose the first unhesitatingly. He consented to give
Trotsky’s policy a trial.

“But in that case you won’t support the slogan of
revolutionary war, will you ? ”” Lenin asked as they sealed
the compact.

“ Under no circumstances.”

“ Then the experiment will probably not beso dangerous.
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We will only risk losing Estonia or Livonia, and for the
sake of a good peace with Trotsky,” Lenin added with his
deep chuckle, * Livonia and Estonia are worth losing.”

The Central Committee of the party voted on January
22. Bukharin’s proposal for a revolutionary war was lost
by 11 to 2, with one abstention. Lenin’s motion for dragging
out the negotiations still further was carried by 12 to 1.
Trotsky’s formula of “ No War—No Peace ” was accepted
by a close vote of 9 to 7. This decision left unsettled the
question of accepting the German terms. It merely gave
Trotsky a free hand to go ahead with his delaying tactics,
and then at the psychological moment, of which he was to
be judge, to put into operation the formula of “ No War—
No Peace . The decision was declared to be binding upon
the Sovnarkom (Council of the People’s Commissars).!

To acquaint the workers of Central Europe with the
enormity of the German demands at Brest, two wireless
statements were broadcast on January 23 declaring the
conditions of peace to be ““ nothing less than a monstrous
annexation ”’, of the details of which the workers were
being kept in ignorance because the German and Austrian
Governments dared not disclose their demands. “ The
people of Germany and Austria-Hungary are being deceived
by their own Governments before the whole world.” 2

Trotsky had not entirely given up hope of gaining the
support of the Entente in the event of a possible German
offensive. He was gambling on the hope that a revolution
in Germany would prevent any such thing. His whole policy
was based on the assumption that the Germans would not
advance if negotiations were broken off, but if they did,
he wished to be ensured (and reassured) by the promise
of Allied assistance. As usual, he worked through the

1 Trotsky, My Life, pp. 328-329; Lenin, pp. 133-136; Fischer, i.
48-49; Bunyan and Fisher, pp. 498-506 ; Protokoly siezdov 3 konfer-
entsii vsesotuznos Kommunisticheskos Partii, (v) Sedmoi siezd, Mart 1918,
goda, pp. xxvi-xXxXVii. 2 Proceedings, pp. 121-122.
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unofficial agents in Petrograd. Two days after the vote in
the Central Committee he sent for Sadoul, and, showin
him Hoffmann’s map, begged him to show it to his Am-
bassador and to the head of the French Military Mission.

“ Nous ne voulons pas signer ceite paiw-ld, mais que
faire?” Sadoul reports him as saying. “ La guerre sainie ?
Ous, nous décréterons, mars & quel résullat arriverons-nous ?
Le moment est venu pour les Alliés de se décider!”*
Trotsky also summoned Robins, and asked what the
United States was going to do in the matter of recogni-
tion. Robins could only tell him that the Ambassador
had received no instructions.? Neither Robins nor Sadoul
could give Trotsky much comfort.

Trotsky did not despair, however. If the Allies would
not co-operate, he would scarify them. In any case the
Germans would not march. On the night of January 26,
just before his return to Brest, Trotsky addressed the Third
Congress of Soviets which had been summoned to succeed
the Constituent Assembly. It was a report, and at the same
time a challenge ; a fighting speech made on the eve of
great events, yet disclosing a strange ignorance of some of
the important factors in the situation. Just as the Allies
believed—or at least many among their leaders—that
Lenin and Trotsky were agents of the German General
Staff, so Lenin and Trotsky persisted in the belief that the

1 Sadoul, p. 204. In a later letter to Albert Thomas, written on
January 29, commenting on the publication of the decree creating a
Red Workers’ and Peasants’ Army and Navy, Sadoul draws attention
to the lack of military experts among the Bolsheviks, and points out
that only highly technical military missions supplied by the Allies,
and particularly by France, would ensure the adequate reorganization
of the Russian fighting forces: “ Les Bolcheviks le savent, Lénine, et
surtout Trotsky . . . sont préts & accepter celte indispensable collaboration
sams laquelle ils seront contraints de subir les conditions du vainguer et de *
signer une paiz humiliante pour la Russie et mortelle pour la Révolution,”
(p. 210).

2 U.S. Foreign Relations, 1918 : Russia, i. 358-359.
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Allies were in secret agreement with the German Govern-
ment in the matter of the peace negotiations with Soviet
Russia. Both stories were laughably impossible ; neverthe-
less, they played their part in the tangled drama of the
peace.

“ The Allied Governments are responsible for these [the
peace terms],” Trotsky informed the assembled delegates,
pointing to Hoffmann’s map which hung before them.
“ London gave its tacit approval to Kithlmann’s terms ; I
declare this most emphatically. England is ready to com-
promise with Germany at the expense of Russia. The peace
terms which Germany offers us are also the peace terms of
America, France, and England ; they are the account which
the imperialists of the world are making with the Russian
Revolution. . . . '

“ Comrades, we are leaving to-night for Brest-Litovsk

. . we make no triumphal boasts . . . but we will fight
together with you for an honest democratic peace. We will
fight against them [the Central Powers] and they cannot
scare us by their threats of an offensive. They have no
assurance that the German soldiers will follow them. We
shall proceed with our programme of demobilizing the old
army and forming a Socialist Red Guard. If German
Imperialists attempt to crush us with the war-machine . . .
we shall call to our brothers in the West, ‘ Do you hear ?’
and they will answer * We hear *.”

To Lenin, sitting with the Presidium on the platform
behind Trotsky, watching the leonine head and muscular
shoulders, and the occasional gestures of the curiously
small hands, all this must have sounded the greatest
bunkum. He knew well enough that Germany was unripe
for revolution ; Liebknecht lay in jail ; Rosa Luxemburg
also ; nothing could be looked for there.

And yet—and yet— It almost seemed as if the re-
volutionary miracle, so long looked for, was about to be

1 Bunyan and Fisher, p.-506.
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fulfilled. Scarcely had Trotsky departed from Petrograd
than a wave of strikes and outbreaks spread through
Germany and Austria. Soviets were formed in Berlin and
Vienna. Hamburg, Bremen, Leipzig, Essen, and Munich
took up the cry. ““ All power to the Soviets > was heard in
the streets of Greater Berlin, where half a million workers
downed tools. In the forefront of the demands were the
speedy conclusion of peace without annexations or in-
demnities, on the basis of the self-determination of peoples
in accordance with the principles formulated by the Russian
People’s Commissars at Brest-Litovsk, and the participation
of workers’ delegates from all countries in the peace
negotiations.!

To the disappointment of those who, from Petrograd,
watched with feverish hope these developments in Central
Europe, the Austro-German strike movement was but a
flash in the pan, a false dawn. Though partly of revolu-
tionary origin, it was caused primarily by the nervous
exhaustion of the working class; and though it showed
the extent to which the influence of the Independent
Socialists and the Spartacists had developed in Germany,
it could not legitimately be called a protest of the
working classes against the peace terms of Brest-Litovsk.
It was rather a protest of a mentally and physically
exhausted people against the German High Command,
whose grip on the industrial life of the country demanded
the imposition of ever-increasing burdens and privations.

The strikers themselves were dealt with in a most
ruthless and efficient manner. Striking in time of war was
tantamount to high treason, and strikers were therefore
subject to severe treatment. A state of siege was proclaimed
in the cities, the labour press forbidden, and all strike
meetings broken up by the police. In Berlin one leader was
arrested and sentenced to five years’ detention in a fortress.
Thousands of workers on the Army Reserve were called to

1 Vorwdrts, January 29, 1918.
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their regiments, and finally seven of the great industrial
concerns in Berlin were placed under military control and
the men ordered to resume work on pain of punishment in
accordance with the utmost rigour of martial law.

By February 3 the wholestrikemovement had collapsed,
but the effect in the country was so serious that, in a
letter to the Minister for War on February 18, Ludendorft
recommended that in future industrial disputes should be
gettled “in general without the employment of force ”.
“ Nevertheless ”’, he added, “ it is necessary to be prepared
for all eventualities, and it is for this reason that I have
consented to leave the desired troops in Germany.” In
reality he was so much disturbed that he sent a secret
order to each army commander instructing him to keep
two battalions ready for use against the civilian popula-
tion.

To the watchers in Petrograd and in Brest the mirage
faded, the hopes of an infant revolution in Germany and
Austria again burned low. Lenin had been right. One should
never mistake the second month for the ninth.

5

While Trotsky thus fought for his principles at Petro-
grad, Kithlmann and Czernin were wrestling with “ princi-
palities and powers ” in their respective capitals. Count
Hertling took advantage of Kiihlmann’s presence in Berlin
to make, in the course of a full-dress debate on foreign
affairs on January 24, his reply to Wilson’s Fourteen
Points. His acceptance of the formula * open covenants
openly arrived at ’ was illustrated by his reference to the
fact that at Brest the negotiations were being conducted
with complete publicity, and that Germany was fully
prepared to accept publicity of negotiations as a general
political principle.

But with regard to Russia, the Imperial Chancellor



198 THE STALEMATE

was evasive and discreet. He denied the right of the Allied
and Associated Powers to concern themselves in what,
owing to their refusal to participate in the peace negotia-
tions, had become an affair between Russia and the Central
Powers alone, a fact which had been virtually admitted
by Mr. Lloyd George on January 5 when he publicly and
Pilatically washed his hands of Russia, should she persist
in separate peace negotiations.

Now that the Entente has refused [to participate]. . . . I must
decline to allow any subsequent interference [said Hertling]. We are
dealing here with questions which concern only Russia and the Four
Allied [Central] Powers. I adherc to the hope that with recognition
of self-determination for peoples on the western frontier of the
former Russian Empire, good relations will be established both with
these peoples and with the rest of Russia, for whom we wish most
earnestly a return of order and peace and of conditions guaranteeing
the welfare of the country.!

Though on the whole the Chancellor’s speech was one
of acceptance, with qualified enthusiasm, of the Wilson
principles, the tone of the debate in the Reichstag was in
the main one of nationalistic excitement. Kiihlmann came
in for some very hard knocks both concerning the Brest
negotiations and also his whole conduct of foreign affairs,
which many of the Left believed to be Machiavellian and
insincere, while the Right attacked him for his lack of
acquisitive tenacity. Some frankly advocated a policy of
wholesale annexation, not only in the East but in the West,
and foremost amongst these were the National Liberal
leaders, Stresemann and Fuhrmann. ¢ The statesman who
returns from the war without Longwy-Briey, without
Belgium in his hand, without the Flanders coast freed
from England’s power, and without the line of the Meuse
in our control, will go down to history as the grave-digger
of German prestige ”, cried Fuhrmann, turning as he

1 Verhandlungen des Reichstags, January 24, 1918.
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spoke to where Kithlmann sat on the bench of the Secretaries
of State.

But the opinions of Herr Fuhrmann and his fellow
jingoes were the least of Kiihlmann’s worries at that
moment. On the previous afternoon he and the Chancellor
had held conference with Hindenburg and Ludendorf,
and the usual acerbity had prevailed. The situation at
Brest, declared the First Quartermaster-General, was under-
mining the position of Germany both at home and abroad.
The tame submission which Kiihlmann had made to
Trotsky’s arrogance would cause the Entente leaders to
think that Germany was running after the Bolsheviks
begging them to make peace. How could they expect to
intimidate men like Lloyd George and Clemenceau when
Kiihlmann allowed himself to be treated thus by unarmed
Russian anarchists, putting up with open propaganda
against his country and the German army ?

Hindenburg followed with a demand that the situation
in the East should be cleared up as soon as possible, if only
on military grounds, for until peace was signed it was
necessary to retain in the East good divisions fit for employ-
ment in the West. There must be no more shilly-shallying,
said the Maxrshal; if the Russians delayed matters any
further, hostilities must be reopened. This would bring
down the Bolshevik Government, and their successors
would be only too anxious to make peace.!

By way of concession the Marshal and Ludendorff
produced a new plan for the boundaries of the “ protective
belt ” of territory on the German-Polish frontier, which
expressed their minimum demand. The new line ran approxi-
mately mid-way between that which they had originally
demanded at Kreuznach in December, and that which the
Kaiser, on Hoffmann’s advice, had authorized at the
opening of the Bellevue Conference on January 2. It was
the last gesture of compromise on the part of the Supreme

1 Ludendorf, ii. 553-654.
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Command, and they demanded that Kiihlmann be author-
ized to negotiate on this basis.!

But Kiihlmann was not to be thus browbeaten by the
Supreme Command. His position was stronger than appear-
ances would tend to show. When Hindenburg and Luden-
dorff had endeavoured to secure his dismissal by the Kaiser,
the Austrian Government, in a brief moment of courage,
had insisted that he be retained, and Wilhelm II had de-
cided in his favour. In return the Supreme Command had
demanded, their pound of flesh, and though Kiihlmann had
remained in office, the German Emperor had been forced
to dispense with the head of his Civil Cabinet, Count von
Valentini, an official devoted to the Imperial service but who
had incurred the wrath of Ludendorft by his earlier support
of Bethmann Hollweg and his fearless criticism of the
ever-increasing encroachment of the Supreme Command
upon the prerogatives of the Emperor and the Government.

In discussions with the Marshal and Ludendorff, there-
fore, Kithlmann, supported by Hertling, refused to accept
their dictates, and after a severe struggle he succeeded in
gaining a further reprieve for his policy of negotiation, in
opposition to their demands for barefaced annexation.
The final agreement was in the nature of a compromise, in
which the Secretary of State secured permission to continue
his policy in the East, but not to extend it to any negotia-
tions which might be opened in the West.

Inevitably there was growing upon Kijhlmann the
realization that somehow the stalemate at Brest must be
broken. He still hoped that the negotiations with the
Ukraine would force Trotsky’s hand and would compel
him to terminate the condition of stagnation by agreeing
to a peace which would not display too openly the annexa-
tionist policy imposed by the Supreme Command.

1 Die Ursachen des deutschen Zusammenbruches im Jahre 1918
(Berlin, 1925-1929), i. 136-139.
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6

Czernin, on his return to Vienna, had found matters
even worse than he had feared. The situation was disastrous
and was not alleviated by the almost pathetic incapacity
of the Austrian Ministry to meet either crisis or emergency.
The obvious lack of co-operation between the Austrian
and Hungarian Prime Ministers had complicated the situa-
tion still further, and had resulted in the threat of a second
famine panic.

At a Crown Council presided over by the Emperor Karl
on January 22, Czernin made his report on the negotiations
with both the Russians and the Ukrainians of the Rada.
With the language of a tragedian, yet maintaining a
scrupulous if surprising fairness, he drew for them a picture
of the long weary days at Brest-Litovsk. The dialectical
acrobatics of Kiihlmann and Trotsky, the brutal but
realistic intervention of Hoffmann, the days of prolonged
anxiety, the diminution of his own authority and influence
as a result of the troubles at home, all were depicted before
the Emperor and his advisers with the restraint and
deference of a diplomat of the old school. But beneath it,
not entirely concealed, was all the poignant anguish which
Ozernin had suffered during the tragedy of Brest. Spiritually
he was scarred, and he could not hide completely the
marks of the ordeal.

Two issues must be decided by the Council ; should
Czernin proceed to negotiate with the Ukrainians on the
basis which Hoffmann had developed and which would
provide a million tons of foodstuffs for hungry Austria ?
And, in the event of the stalemate continuing between
Kiihlmann and Trotsky, should Czernin make a separate
peace for Austria-Hungary with the Russians ¢

The Austrian Prime Minister, Seidler, supported Czernin
in his conduct of the negotiations and emphasized the
necessity of an immediate peace with the Ukraine on the
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best terms obtainable. Those which Czernin had outlined
were severe—they meant the cutting of Galicia into two
and would involve the fiercest opposition by the Poles in
the matter of Cholm—but he believed that even without
the votes of the Poles he would have a two-thirds majority
in the House for the acceptance of such a treaty.

The Hungarian Prime Minister, Count Wekerle, opposed
the conditions of the treaty with the Ukraine. Unable to
appreciate the fact that desperate conditions necessitate
desperate measures, he quailed before the danger to the
basic structure of the Dual Monarchy which would result
from outside interference in its affairs. Some other way
must be found.

Forgetting the august presence of the Emperor and the
ancient usage of the council table, Czernin turned upon the

man whose refusal to send grain into Austria had aggravated
the recent crisis:

What is a responsible leader of foreign policy to do when the
Austrian Prime Minister and the Austrian and ITungarian Food
Ministers unanimously tell him that Hungarian supplies will only
suffice to help us over the next two months, after which a collapse
will be absolutely unavoidable, unless we can sccure assistance from
somewhere in the way of corn ¢ Do you think that I am ignorant
or unaware of the danger of this step ? It is true that it will bring
us to the down-grade, but from all appearances we have been in
that position for a long time. If you will bring corn into Austria,
I will be the first to agree with your point of view. But so long as
you refuse to do this we are like a man on the third floor of a burn-
ing building. He won’t stop to calculate whether,if he jumps, he will
break one leg or two, he prefers the risk of death to its certainty.

Brushing aside such other opposition as there was, the
Foreign Minister appealed directly to Caesar, laying the
responsibility squarely upon Kaiser Karl, whose mentor
he had been since the accession. The Emperor was not a
man of strong will nor of quick decisions, but he acted in
this moment with commendable firmness and precision.



THE STALEMATE 903

He gave unhesitating support to Czernin, authorizing
peace with the Ukraine on the lines described and deciding
in principle in favour of a separate peace with Russia.!

It was therefore with a greater composure of mind that
the Foreign Minister turned to the preparation of the
speech which he was to make before the Austrian Delega-
tion in reply to Wilson’s Fourteen Points. But his moment
of minor consolation was short-lived. On January 23 there
came from Wiesner, whom he had left at Brest, a telegram
reporting news from Joffe to the effect that the Soviet
Ukrainian Government at Kharkov had decided to send
two delegates to take part in the negotiations with the
Central Powers. These gentlemen would form part of the
Russian delegations and would not consider themselves
bound by any agreements concluded by the representatives
of the Kiev Rada, who represented only the propertied
classes and were therefore incapable of acting on behalf
of the whole Ukrainian people.? Even as Czernin read
Wiesner’s report, the President of the Rada had resigned
and the Soviet Red Guards, already in possession of
Poltava, the industrial district of Ekaterinoslav, and the
coal basin of Donets, were advancing upon Kiev. It was
Trotsky’s counter-move to the threat of a Ukrainian
peace. An agreement concluded with the Rada would no
longer be an agreement with the Ukraine.

Czernin, in his speech on January 24, replied to Wilson
in detail, declaring that there were among his proposals
some which he could accept ““ with great pleasure ”. He
repeated that from Russia he demanded “not a square
metre nor a penny >’ and that the principles of his negotia-
tions had been strictly those of no annexations and no
indemnities. From Poland too, ““ we want nothing at all
. . . Poland’s people shall choose their own destiny free
and uninfluenced . Personally he would have liked to see

1 (Cgernin, pp. 241-246, 316 ; Gratz and Schiiller, p. 101.
2 (Czernin, pp. 300-303. ’
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Poland as an active participant at Brest, but the Russians
had refused to recognize the present Polish Government
as a competent representative of the country.

He reviewed for his colleagues the divergencies between
the German and the Russian theses, emphatically stating
that a compromise must be found, and passed to a passionate
defence of his negotiations with the Ukraine :

The question is not one of imperialist or annexationist plans, but
of assuring to our population a finally deserved reward for steadily
holding out and of giving it those foodstuffs for which they are
waiting. . . . If you wish to ruin peace, if you wish to renounce the
supply of grain, then it would be logical for you to force my hand
by speeches, revolutions, strikes and demonstrations. . . . If behind
the front you arrange strikes . . . you are cutting your own flesh and
all those who think that such means hasten peace are in awful error.
. . . You must help me or you must bring about my fall ; there is no
other way.

Three days later he left for Brest with a heavy heart
but with his mind made up. The stalemate must be broken.
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1

ONCE again the resumption of the negotiations was marked
by a perceptible change in tone and fempo. For, though
the Bolsheviks had derived a brief moment of encourage-
ment from their military successes in the Ukraine and in
Finland, where the Red Guards had seized Helsingfors,
and from the transitory strike movement in Germany and
Austria, they were well aware that the ““liquidation” of
the Constituent Assembly had laid bare before the Central
Powers both their internal dissensions and their need of
an early peace. Both Kiihlmann and Czernin, on the other
hand, had returned from their capitals with the confirmed
intention of breaking the deadlock at all cost.

Trotsky, returning from Petrograd with the Ukrainian
Bolsheviks as an ace in hand, was at once aware of the
new note of firmness in Czernin’s voice, the disinclination
of Kiihlmann to re-enter the dialectical ring, the grim
determination of Hoffmann. For the first time since the
conference opened, the delegates of the Central Powers
were at one in their desire to achieve a decision with all
decent speed and to bring finally to an end the tragi-
comedy of the past six weeks.

The opening gambit of the new phase on January 20,
1918, was the introduction of new delegates. The Bavarian
Government, exercising treaty rights of 1871, had sent a
former premier, Count von Podewils-Durnitz, to represent
them in the discussions, his appointment being due in some

measure to the opposition of the Munich press to Kiihl-
207 P



208 “NO WAR—NO PEACE”

mann’s policy. The Count formed an integral part of the
Imperial German delegation.

Trotsky then presented his protégés, M. Medvjedev,
President of the Executive Committee of the Soviet
Ukrainian Republic, together with his Commissars of
Education and War, M. Satarisky and General Shachray,
who in their turn would form part of the Russian delegation
and who alone were qualified to speak for the Ukrainian
masses. Trotsky confirmed the victories which the Bolshevik
forces had won over the troops of the Rada, and warned
both Kithimann and Czernin that a peace concluded with
the Kiev Government could in no way be regarded as a
peace concluded with the Ukraine.

The representatives of the Central Powers were not
going to allow themselves to be drawn by Trotsky into
a lengthy discussion as to which government represented
the Ukraine. They had determined upon peace with that
region, and had decided upon the Rada as the agency with
which to negotiate. Even if the Bolshevik hordes were at
the very gates of Kiev, no matter ; if the Rada fell, they
would restore it. “ The difficulties were transitory,” wrote
Hoffmann in his diary, “ in so far as at any time we could
support the Government with arms and establish it again.”:

Kiihlmann therefore postponed further discussion until
the return of the full Rada delegation from Kiev, but
reminded Trotsky that, on January 12, the Russians had
recognized the Ukrainians of the Rada as representatives
of the people. On the following day (January 31), when
Czernin presided, he asked Trotsky point-blank whether
he admitted that the Ukrainians, of whichever Govern-
ment, Kharkov or Kiev, had the right to treat alone with
the Central Powers on questions dealing with their frontiers.
Trotsky replied with an emphatic denial. He had always
denied the right of any Ukrainians to treat separately, and
had insisted that even between Kiev and Petrograd there
. 1 Hoffmann, ii. 216-217.
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must be some common agreement as to Ukrainian frontiers.
Now that the lawful Ukrainian representatives were part
of the Russian delegation, this was all the more essential.
“If in the past an agreement was necessary between our
delegation and the Ukrainian delegation, then at this pre-
sent moment such an agreement is much more obligatory,
since it is imposed by the Federal Constitution of the
Russian Republic.” He then read to the conference a
telegram from the officer commanding Bolshevik troops in
the Ukraine stating that the greater part of the Kiev
garrison had passed over to the Soviet Government and
that the further existence of the Rada was consequently
likely to be of very short duration.!

Undeterred by this prospect, Kithlmann and Czernin
staged at the next plenary session on February 1 a three-
sided gladiatorial combat between the two Ukrainian
delegations and the Russians, their object being to play
off one against the other in the hope of making peace with
at least one of them. ““ I tried to get the Ukrainians to talk
over things openly with the Russians,” records Czernin,
“and succeeded almost too well.” * This was for the
young Ukrainian liberals their brief period of glory, and,
fully realizing the precariousness of their position, they
determined to enjoy it to the full. Before a delighted
audience of the Quadruple Alliance—even Talaat kept
awake and nodded his scarlet, befezzed head in solemn
enjoyment—a battle-royal raged.

The Rada leader, Sevruk, led off by re-emphasizing the
complete independence of his State from any ties, physical,
spiritual, or political, with Soviet Russia. This was fiercely
denied both by Trotsky and by the Ukrainian Soviet
leader, Medvjedev, who declared that Kiev, in so far as
it still represented anything, represented only the intellec-
tuals and the landed classes, who sought separation from
Russia for the better preservation of their privileges. There-

1 Proceedings, pp. 122-131. 2 (zernin, p. 246.
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upon the second Rada spokesman, Liubynski, retorted with
an hour-long speech which for pure vitriolic opprobrium
far exceeded anything that had been heard at this strangest
of peace conferences. He reviled the Bolsheviks without
restraint, recounting a catalogue of their sins only surpassed
by Gibbon’s famous list of charges preferred against Pope
John XXIII, “the more serious of which had been
suppressed .

A strange, wild figure in his ill-fitting Victorian frock-
coat, the young man raged at his enemies :

The noisy declarations of the Bolsheviks regarding the complete
freedom of the people of Russia is but the vulgar stuff of demagogy.
The Government of the Bolsheviks, which has broken up the Con-
stituent Assembly, and which rests on the bayonets of hired Red
Guards, will never elect to apply in Russia the very just principle of
self-determination, because they know only too well that not only
the Republic of the Ukraine, but also the Don, the Caucasus, Siberia,
and other regions do not regard them as their government, and that
even the Russian people themselves will ultimately deny their right ;
only because they are afraid of the development of a National
Revolution do they declare here at the Peace Conference and within
Russia, with a spirit of demagogy peculiar to themselves, the right
of self-determination of the peoples. They themselves are struggling
against the realization of this principle and are resorting, not only
to hired bands of Red Guards, but also to meaner and even less legal
methods.

To Czernin, sitting enthralled among the spirits which
his strategy had conjured up, the scene appeared
“ grotesque ”’, but he obtained satisfaction from watching
Trotsky, who sat with a chalky face, nervously drawing on
his blotting-pad, staring fixedly before him, great drops
of sweat trickling down his forehead. ““ Evidently he felt
deeply the disgrace of being abused by his fellow citizens
in the presence of the enemy.” Trotsky admits his mental
discomfiture, but attributes it to the distressing spectacle

1 Proceedings, pp. 136-143.
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of ““the frantic self-humiliation of what after all was a
representative body of the Revolution before vain aristo-
crats who only despised them . . . it was one of the vilest
scenes I have ever witnessed ’.! However, by the end of
the diatribe he had sufficiently recovered his composure to
offer his ironic congratulations to the presiding officer,
General Gantcheff, in that, ““ in harmony with the dignity
of this assembly, he has not opposed in any way the free-
speaking of the last orator, nor has he intervened in the
exact translation except to make some improvements in
expression . He added that the delegation of the Rada,
being without a government, represented no greater
territory than the rooms they occupied at Brest-Litovsk.
(“ Judging by the reports from the Ukraine that I had
before me, Trotsky’s words seemed unfortunately not to
be without foundation ”’, is Hoffmann’s comment.) 2

At the conclusion of the session Czernin, despite
Trotsky’s protests, declared on behalf of the Central
Powers that they recognized * immediately the Ukrainian
People’s Republic [the Rada] as an independent, free and
sovereign State, which is able to enter into international
agreements independently .

This prolonged manceuvre, though it had successfully
trumped Trotsky’s ace, had also taken up three precious
days. An important conference on Austro-German affairs
was scheduled for February 4 in Berlin, and there was
little time for delay. Thus, when Trotsky endeavoured to
lure Kiihlmann into one of their old discursive bouts on
the question of Polish representation, tempting him with
the remark that the Kingdom of Poland, having neither a
king nor frontiers, was not a State, the Secretary of State
somewhat surprisingly retorted that * the delegates of the
negotiating Powers have not come here to indulge in
intellectual combat ”’. Brushing aside the Polish question,

1 Cgernin, p. 246 ; Trotsky, My Life, p. 323.
2 Proceedings, p. 145 ; Hofimann, ii. 216.
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he abruptly adjourned the conference until February 7,
and departed with Czernin for Berlin.

2

The conversations which took place in Berlin on
February 4 and 5 between the two Imperial Governments
and the German High Command were not devoted ex-
clusively to the Brest-Litovsk negotiations. They covered
a variety of points, political, economic, and military, which
were outstanding between the two senior partners of the
Quadruple Alliance, and marked the climax in the relations
between the German and Austro-Hungarian Empires which
had been strained since the early defeats of the Austrian
armies. The Germans assumed an air of contempt for their
weaker partner who had continually to be helped out of
embarrassing situations ; while the Austrians entertained
for the Germans the inevitable feeling of dislike for anyone
to whom a sense of obligation is due.

In addition the Austrians were frankly frightened by the
effects of the annexationist paranoia of the German High
Command, not only upon Russia but upon Germany’s
allies. Austria recently had had occasion to learn that not
even those allies were safe from the depredations of the
German General Staff, when in January, under the pretext
of securing a strategic frontier for Poland, Ludendorft had
demanded that the Dombrowa coal-field, then in Austrian
occupied territory, should be incorporated within the
frontiers of the German Reich. So great was the opposition
raised in Vienna and Budapest over this aggressive attitude
that Count Stephan Tisza, the veteran Hungarian states-
man who had so vehemently opposed the declaration of
war in 1914, now proclaimed openly that, if the price of
German friendship was the surrender of the Dombrowa
coal-field, he was prepared to sacrifice the alliance with
Berlin and refuse to evacuate the district. “ Let the
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Germans give the order to fire, if they wish to push matters
to extremes ’, he declared.! -

In Berlin, Czernin again was forced to some extent
to restrain his natural feeling of resentment, as Austria once
more was appealing to Germany for supplies. This, how-
ever, did not prevent Czernin from expressing himself with
considerable point, both as to the annexationist policy of
the Supreme Command in general and the Dombrowa
affair in particular; and, finally, he declared in writing and
by word of mouth that Austria-Hungary was only obliged
by her pledges of alliance to fight for the pre-war possessions
of Germany, which, in his reply to Wilson of January 24,
he had declared that Austria would defend * equally with
her own ”. With the subsequent conquests and acquisitions
by German arms Austria-Hungary was not concerned, nor
would she expend a man or & krone in their defence.

To this Ludendorff replied that “if Germany makes
peace without profit, Germany has lost the war ”’, and the
discussion became so heated and acrimonious that Hertling,
fearing some outburst on the part of the General which
might have incalculable repercussions, urged Czernin to
cease baiting him. ““ Leave him alone ”, he begged. “ We
two will manage it together afterwards without him.” This
they did.

As regards the peace negotiations Ludendorff expressed
himself as satisfied with the terms of the proposed Ukrainian
treaty—it was not German soil that was being ceded—
and agreed that the Rada must be supported by force of
arms if need be. Czernin replied that he was far from sharing
the satisfaction of the General, but that the Ukrainian
peace was vitally necessary for Austria. In view of the
inevitable opposition of the Poles to the cession of the
Cholm district, he asked that the terms of the treaty should
be kept secret for the time being.

In the most emphatic terms Ludendorff warned both

1 Gratz and Schiiller, pp. 235-240.
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Kiihlmann and Czernin that the Supreme Command could
brook not a week’s further delay on the Eastern Front.
Troops must be transferred to the West, and therefore
Trotsky must be confronted with an ultimatum. Either he
must accept the peace terms or hostilities must be resumed.
With profound reluctance Kiihlmann finally agreed to
break with Trotsky twenty-four hours after peace had been
signed with the Ukraine. But Czernin gave notice, on the
advice of Dr. Gratz, his chef de cabinet, that after the
conclusion of the Ukrainian peace he would make a last
attempt to effect, through personal negotiations with
Trotsky, a compromise between the German and Russian
points of view. Kiihlmann agreed to this also, but Luden-
dorff remained silent.!

3

The fourth act of the tragi-comedy of Brest-Litovsk
opened on February 6 with the return of the delegates of the
Central Powers. Czernin found that in his absence Wiesner,
with the assistance of the Austrian Ruthenian leader, Nicolai
Wassilko, had made great strides in the elucidation of the -
technical details in the Ukrainian treaty. The text was
virtually completed, the claims of the Rada delegates
regarding the Ruthenian districts of Galicia having been
refused. With this card in hand the Austrian Foreign
Minister embarked on his final effort to achieve the im-
possible, to reconcile the German and Russian theses on
self-determination.

Czernin had a special reason for endeavouring to prevent
a peace too flagrantly annexationist on the part of Germany.
At that moment his emissary, Skrzynski, was negotiating
with the British Minister in Berne, Sir Horace Rumbold,
for a secret meeting between Czernin and Lloyd George in
Switzerland, at which it was hoped to evolve a basis for a

! Czernin, pp. 247-248 ; Ludendorfi, ii. 555-5656 ; Gratz and Schiiller,
p- 239.
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general peace on the formula of “no annexations . En-
couraged by the British Premier’s speech of January 5,
which had stated that the Entente was not fighting for the
destruction of Austria-Hungary, Czernin hoped thus to
stave off the break-up of the Dual Monarchy from within.
It may be imagined therefore with what anxiety he pursued
the negotiations which he carried on with Trotsky during
the ensuing three days.

The fundamental issues which separated Germany and
Russia in their interpretations of the principle of self-
determination were four in number. First, had the occupied
territories declared their will in this matter ? If so, should
this be regarded as binding, or should a further referendum
be taken ? Secondly, if such a vote was necessary, should
it be for election to a constituent body or be in the form of
a referendum ? Thirdly, should such a consultation be
held before or after evacuation ? And fourthly, how should
it be organized ? By general franchise, by a vote of the
nobility, or what ? The Russians had proposed that the
decision of all these questions should beleft toa *temporary
self-administrative body ”, and, if the Germans would
agree to this, the whole issue could be narrowed down to
one single point: the question of composition of this
temporary body. (For this they had been disputing in the
discomfort of a Russian winter for eight weeks!) Here
Czernin’s proposed compromise was that the Russians
should admit that the provincial land organizations, etc.,
which the Germans considered as basic, were competent
to express a part of the popular will; while the Germans

1 As a result of these negotiations a meeting actually took place in
Berne between Skrzynski, General Smuts, and Lloyd George’s private
secretary, Phillip Kerr, now Lord Lothian, from March 9 to 14, 1918.
But by this time the situation had become so complicated by the
German advance into Russia and the proximity of the offensive on the
Western Front that Ozernin was forced to temporize and the discussions
came to nothing. (Lloyd George, v. 48-49.)
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should agree that these bodies should, during the period
of occupation, be supplemented by elements, chosen in
accordance with the Russian principle, by popular
election.!

Czernin’s first move on February 6 was to send Dr.
Richard Schiiller, of the Austrian Foreign Office, to sound
Trotsky as to the possibility of such a compromise and to
threaten him with an ultimatum if he maintained an atti-
tude of intransigence. To this Trotsky replied that he had
not; been intransigent at all, it was Kiihlmann who had kept
the discussions throughout on a theoretical basis by pre-
tending that annexations were not annexations. According
to the Germans the terms of the treaty would be—first, the
right of self-determination of the people is recognized, and
there will be no annexations ; secondly, Germany annexes
everything. Schiiller pointed out that Trotsky himself had
attached more importance to the solution of particular
questions than to formulae and qualifications. * These too
are of importance to us,” answered Trotsky, “ for we are
convinced that the conditions now being created will be
but temporary, and will be dissolved by the universal
revolution. It would be possible for me to conclude a peace
by which Russia would be violated, but in that case this
intention would have to be openly acknowledged by the
other side. We cannot be asked for a moral testimonial to
the violation.”

Count Czernin would consider this as a basis, said
Schiiller.

“ Ozernin is wholly in German leading stnngs , Te-
marked Trotsky contemptuously.

“ Nevertheless he honestly desires peace and that
without annexations ”’, was the reply.?

On the following morning, at a conference with the
Germans, Czernin reported the result of Schiiller’s inter-

1 Czernin, pp. 316-317 ; Gratz and Schiiller, p. 103.
2 Jbid. pp. 103-104,
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view and asked Kithimann for his view on the compromise.
The Secretary of State was not unsympathetic ; he agreed
to Czernin’s proposals as a basis of negotiations, but
Hoffmann, on behalf of the Supreme Command, protested
violently against further delay and cried aloud for an
ultimatum at the earliest moment.

Accordingly that evening (the evening of the 7th),
Czernin, accompanied by Dr. Gratz, visited Trotsky in his
lodging. Earnestly he told the Commissar of the danger
of a rupture and offered his services as mediator between
Russia and Germany. Trotsky replied with frankness
that he was not such a fool as they appeared to think.
He fully realized that the Central Powers were perfectly
capable of annexing the Eastern Provinces. He was not
greatly concerned as to what they took, but rather as to
how they took it. Russia could bow to force but not to
sophistry. He would never repudiate his principles nor
admit German possession of the occupied territories under
the cloak of self-determination, but let the Germans come
out brazenly with their demands, as indeed Hofimann had
done, and he would yield, appealing to world opinion against
an act of brutal brigandage. A solution could be found
on the basis of annexations, but this must be openly
admitted. Dr. Gratz suggested a qualification. ““ It would
be possible ”’, he said, “not to touch on this at all in the
treaty. The terms might simply say that such and such
territorial changes will be carried out. You would then be
at liberty to qualify these changes as annexations, while
the Germans could say that the people in question had
attached themselves to Germany by the exercise of the
right of self-determination.” :

“ 1 believe this way can be followed ”, said Trotsky.

On this highly unethical and Machiavellian basis the
theoretical side of the argument was allowed to rest, and
the conversation turned to practical details. Here Trotsky
appeared not so entirely disinterested as his earlier remarks
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would have suggested—his great weakness in debate was
always that he could never resist the temptation of a quip
or a gesture, no matter how much it might embarrass his
basic argument. He now declared that the Hoffmann Line
of January 18 was unacceptable on three points. Russia
could not cede the Islands of the Moon Sound, as this
would mean a permanent threat to Petrograd ; the cession
of Riga was also impossible ; and there must be an altera-
tion in the Lithuanian frontier. Above all, there must be
no separate treaty with the Ukraine. On this note the inter-
view closed.!

Not a great deal of progress—thought Czernin, as with
Gratz he paced back to his quarters across the snow-
covered courtyard of the citadel—perhaps a little further
forward, though. At any rate there would be no more of
the theoretical conflict about self-determination, that was
over, Gott set Dank ; they had got down to practical terms
at last. Well, well, to-morrow he would talk it over with
Kiihlmann. If only that damned Hoffimann—

But on the morrow ¢ that damned Hoffmann” did
exactly as Czernin feared he would. The General had almost
reached the end of his patience in this play-acting nonsense.
He had been thrown into a passion on the previous day
by the remarks of Radek, who, with that rare versatility
which has always characterized him, was now appearing
in the réle of expert in Polish affairs, a réle which he was
admirably qualified to fill. In this capacity he had claimed
to speak for the Polish troops in the German and Austrian
armies and appealed on their behalf to their fellow soldiers
to agitate for Polish independence. Hoffmann had pro-
tested against Radek’s right to speak in the name of anyone
belonging to the German army, and resented his efforts to
undermine discipline in the Polish companies. The incident
had enraged him perhaps unduly. (He had been particularly

1 Cgernin, pp. 248, 317; Gratz and Schiiller, pp. 104-105; Fokke,
p. 189; Trotsky, History of the Russian Revolution to Brest-Litovsk, p. 140.
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annoyed by Radek’s habit of leaning across the table with
an impish grin and puffing tobacco smoke at him.) Even
his nerves of steel were beginning to fray in the unreal
atmosphere of the conference. The situation was becoming
intolerable, and then, on top of it all, came Czernin with a
further proposal of delay. Kithimann was not above accept-
ing the face-saving formula regarding annexations, and
would certainly have considered the question of the terri-
torial concessions, had not the General, in one of the worst
scenes which had passed between the three of them in this
stormy period, flatly refused even to discuss the frontier
corrections, and demanded the immediate signing of the
Ukrainian treaty to clear the way for an ultimatum to
the Russians.

All hope of an agreement was therefore destroyed by
the insistence of the German Supreme Command on ad-
vancing into Russia and compelling the Soviet Government
to surrender unconditionally. A final effort to persuade
Trotsky to accept the Ukrainian treaty was equally un-
successful. He refused to recognize any agreement with a
government which, he claimed, not only did not represent
the people of the Ukraine, but which in reality no longer
existed. This both Kiihlmann and Czernin denied, saying
that they had other information, but they refused Trotsky’s
offer to send a staff-officer to Kiev to find out. It is not clear,
in view of Hoffmann’s admission in his diary at the time of
Trotsky’s reply to Liubynski’s tirade on the 3rd, whether
the two statesmen were deliberately lying for diplomatic
purposes, or whether they really believed, as Czernin stated,
that, though the Government of the Rada had been driven
out of Kiev on the 5th, it had since re-established itself.
In any case it did not greatly matter, for such a pitch of
fantasy had the negotiations now attained that the signing
of the still-born agreement with a non-existent government
seemed to be almost in character,

The final touches were put to the Ukrainian treaty on
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the evening of February 8. Cholm went to the Rada, the
Ruthenian districts of Galicia and the Bukovina were to
become a Ulkrainian province within the Monarchy, and
linguistic rights were guaranteed to the Ruthenians of
Western Galicia. In return the Ukraine undertook to place
its surplus of foodstuffs and agricultural produce, computed
to be at least a million tons, at the disposal of the Central
Powers, who agreed to co-operate with the grain producers
in the exchange of wares of which they stood in need, and
in the improvement of the transport organization.

The main difficulty lay in devising means by which
the execution of the territorial and political concessions on
the part of Austria-Hungary would be made dependent
upon the grain deliveries from the Ukraine. After some
argument, the following involved method was agreed upon :
In the event of non-fulfilment of the grain deliveries, Austria-
Hungary would be released from her obligations. As soon
as the treaty had been signed a commission was to meet
at Kiev to determine the amount of surplus in the Ukraine,
which the Rada had guaranteed to be not less than a million
tons ; a supplementary treaty would then be signed.*

Such was the Peace with the Ukraine, that Brotfrieden
for which Czernin laboured for so long. The effect of it was
to leave the Ukraine theoretically a neutral State in the
world, while actually it became a political granary and
store-house for the Central Powers. From eggs to manganese,
the long list of supplies required read like the inventory
of a sublimated “ mail order ” house. But the Germans
and Austrians were to find it more of a *“ cash and carry ”
establishrhent. As became the first peace treaty of the war,
it was signed with some ceremony at two o’clock in the
morning of February 9, the birthday of Prince Leopold of
Bavaria, in the glaring lights of a cinema apparatus.?

1 Gratz and Schiiller, pp. 108-110; Teats of the Ukraine “ Peace™

(U.8. Department of State, Washington, D.C., 1918), pp. 12-13.
2 For text see Appendix IV, p. 392. ,
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“I wonder if the Rada is still really sitting at Kiev ”,
is Czernin’s entry for the day.!

4

Events followed with dramatic swiftness during the
next two days at Brest-Litovsk, moving crescendo to the
final dénouement. News of the signature of the Ukrainian
treaty was flashed at once to Kreuznach and, with the
dawn, came the voice of Ludendorff, like the breath of
destiny, claiming from Kiihlmann the fulfilment of his
promise to break with Trotsky. In this strange farce of
self-delusion, this game of blindman’s-buff, in which all
the players were blindfold, Kithlmann believed himself
upon the verge of a possible agreement with Trotsky,
despite the fact that the Russian had made the abandon-
ment of the Ukrainian treaty a conditio sine qua non of
continued negotiations. The Secretary of State therefore
ignored his undertaking to Ludendorff and prepared to
enter the lists with Trotsky for the last time.

But now there occurred something which Kiihlmann
could not disregard as easily as he could the wishes of
Ludendorff. Military operators at the great wireless station
of Konigsberg had intercepted radio-telegrams from
Tsarkoe Selo inciting the German troops to mutiny, to
murder the Emperor Wilhelm, the Generals of the High
Command and their own regimental officers, and to
conclude an independent peace with the Bolsheviks.
Evidently Smolny, misled and dazzled by the prospect of
revolution in Central Europe, had considered this a
psychological moment for such a stroke. The effect was
dramatic, but not what they had anticipated.

It so happened that, just previous to this incitement
to murder, delegations of land-owners from Livonia and
' Estonia, still nominally part of Russia, had appeared before

' 1 (gernin, p. 249.
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the Kaiser and begged his protection against the depreda-
tions of Bolshevik terrorists. The Kaiser was sympathetic
to the petitioners, most of whom were of German origin,
and he was supported by Hindenburg and Ludendorf,
who were delighted to find so easy a way of completing their
programme to annex the Baltic littoral. Hertling, who
knew and approved Kiihlmann’s views on further annexa-
tions, opposed the Supreme Command. Once more the
Kaiser sat upon an iron-spiked fence.

The news of the Bolshevik incitement to murder turned
the scale. The Emperor was furious at this deliberate
attempt upon his person and, at the urgent request of the
High Command, telegraphed imperatively to Kiihlmann
ordering him to issue a twenty-four-hour ultimatum to
Trotsky demanding the complete renunciation by Russia
not only of her claims to Courland and Lithuania, but to
Estonia and Livonia as well.

Again, in a moment of major crisis, Kithlmann justified
his name. He remained cool, and considered the matter in
all its aspects. His relations with the Supreme Command
were already so bad that they could scarcely be worse ;
he therefore left them out of his calculations. His duty to
the Emperor was, however, a different matter. Kiihlmann
was fully aware—no one had better reason to be—of the
grip in which the Supreme Command held Germany at
that moment, how completely and detrimentally they
dominated throne, Government, and Parliament alike. He
realized, too, the effect abroad of such an action as that
which he was now urged to take. The whole affair at Brest-
Litovsk had damaged Germany enormously in the eyes of
all neutrals and had whetted the antagonism of the Allied
and Associated Powers. The effect of the reply of the Central
Powers to the Wilson proposals had been nullified by the
demands of the Supreme Command at Brest. This was
eloquently reflected in the announcement of the Allied War
Council on February 2, which had commented on “the
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contrast between the professed idealistic aims with which
the Central Powers entered upon the present negotiations
at Brest-Litovsk, and the now openly disclosed plans of
conquest and spoliation ”. The impression made by this
contrast had deepened the conviction that the replies of
Hertling and Czernin to Wilson contained no “ real
approximation to the moderate conditions laid down by all
the Allied Governments .2

If this was the effect which had been produced by
the demands already disclosed, how much worse would be
the reaction abroad if it became known that Livonia and
Estonia had been added to them ? Besides, that very
moment had brought Kiihlmann a slender ray of hope.
Trotsky had sent Admiral Altvater to ask if it would not
be possible by some means to arrange that Riga and the
Islands of the Moon Sound should be retained by Russia.
It seemed, therefore, that not every prospect of a settle-
ment had vanished.

In view of all these considerations, Kiihlmann, to his
lasting credit, determined to sacrifice himself for what he
believed to be right. To the Kaiser’s command, he tele-
graphed a reply that the moment seemed ill-chosen to send
an ultimatum with so short a time-limit, and that he
urgently advised that it should not be sent at all. If,
however, His Majesty insisted upon its delivery, Kiithlmann
begged him to find another Secretary for State. He would
await the Emperor’s reply until four-thirty that afternoon,
and if none had arrived by that time he would consider
the order for the ultimatum as rescinded.?

The morning of February 9 passed in an atmosphere
of suspense. The conference met in commission, and the
Ukrainian treaty was formally announced by Kiithlmann
and Czernin and formally protested against by Trotsky.

1 Lloyd George, v. 47.
2 Ludendorff, ii. 556-557; Hoffmann, ii. 217-218; Czernin, pp.
248-249 ; Fokke, p. 190.
Q
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A desultory discussion on the Aaland Islands followed.
Sub-commissions were set up. A sense of unreality was
everywhere. All knew that the fate of the conference
hung on the private negotiations outside its doors, and
Kiihlmann knew that it rested upon whether he heard
from Berlin by half-past four or not. Noon passed and
still no word. The sub-commissions bickered and got
nowhere. '

At last the zero hour came and went without further
word from the Kaiser, and Kiihlmann with relief sent
Rosenberg to Trotsky with the suggestion that he should
put in writing that Russia was prepared to negotiate on
the basis of Riga and the islands. Kithlmann had decided
in his own mind that, if Trotsky was really in earnest, he
would flout the High Command in the matter of these
territorial concessions, if not to the extent of leaving them
in Russian hands, at least by agreeing to their neutraliza-
tion. In any event, a statement in writing from Trotsky
would be a valuable addition to his armoury in the final
battle with the Supreme Command which he felt could not
be long postponed.

Alas for his hopes! Rosenberg returned with the news
that, faced with a direct request to state his claims clearly,
Trotsky had refused.! So, thought Kiihlmann, it had all
been in vain. He had risked his resignation to no purpose.
He had incurred the ire of the Supreme Command, and
probably that of the Emperor as well, only to have to
agree with them after all, for now it would have to be the
ultimatum. They could not delay longer. Well, anyway, it
would be a relief to have it all over at last.

The Germans believed that Trotsky had refused to put
his wishes in writing because he was not prepared to make
a direct claim for Riga, a city of which the majority of the
population was indisputably German. To violate the sacred
principle of self-determination for the sake of a Russian

1 Hoffmann, ii. 218.
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strategical position was, they thought, too much even for
Trotsky.

But it is by no means certain whether he ever intended
to negotiate seriously. The moment was rapidly approaching
beyond, which negotiations could not so usefully be drawn
out. Already the Scandinavian press had discovered the
intention of the Russians to make a demonstration of not
signing the peace treaty.! For the success of this manceuvre
the element of surprise was essential, and Trotsky had
decided that the moment had come with the signing of
the Ukrainian treaty to play his trump card. On the night
of the 9th, he and Karakhan conferred over the wire with
Lenin and Stalin at Smolny, and it was agreed that Trotsky
should deliver the Soviet declaration next day.

“ 1 shall demand that peace be made with all Russia ”,
he told Schiiller, who had come to him on the following
morning, that fatal February 10, in a last effort to persuade
him to sign. “ By the Ukrainian peace you wish to secure
for yourselves supplies of grain, but we too draw grain
supplies from the Ukraine. I am convinced that the inten-
tion is to give military support to the Ukraine against us.”

“ The best way to avoid that is to make peace ", said
Schiiller. ““ If you do not make peace, you will risk the
Germans advancing on Petrograd and driving you out, and
presumably you wish to remain in power.”

“ The Germans would not dare to advance on Petro-
grad ”, replied Trotsky ; it would cause a revolution in
Germany.”

“You cannot rely on that with any certainty,” was
Schiiller’s answer, “ and if the revolution does come, it is
a question whether it would come in time for you.”

In a final appeal to sign, Schiiller again emphasized the
danger of a resumption of hostilities. Trotsky replied that
he would give his reply only at the session of the conference
which was to meet that afternoon.

1 Trotslq;, My Life, p. 329.
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‘“ Beware of a breach ”’, warned Schiiller.

“ I have not said it would come to a breach ”, Trotsky
replied oracularly.!

And so, as the grey Sunday afternoon of February 10
drew to its early close, the delegates met for the last time,
each, unbeknown to the other, prepared to end the struggle.
They had advanced very little since they had first sat
down together on December 22; a few reputations had
been tarnished, a few new names added to history, that
was all. Barren of achievement, negative and void in
every aspect, this strangest of conferences was about
to end.

Kiihlmann moved to the attack with a direct accusation
against the Bolsheviks of inciting the German army to
mutiny and to the murder of its Emperor, Generals, and
officers. Trotsky, in reply, denied all knowledge of such an
order. ““ But ”’, he declared dramatically, * the decisive
hour has struck.”

This was his great moment, the scene which he had
rehearsed for so long, and he enjoyed it hugely. After
a bitter indictment of imperialism, which many of his
hearers took for the prelude to capitulation, he continued :

We are removing our armies and our people from the war. Our
peasant soldiers must return to their land to cultivate in peace the
fields which the Revolution has taken from the landlord and given to
the peasants. Our workmen soldiers must return to the workshops
and produce, not for destruction but for creation. They must, to-
gether with the peasants, create a Socialist State.

We are going out of the war. We inform all peoples and their
Governments of this fact. We are giving the order for a general
demobilization of all our armies opposed at the present to the troops
of Germany, Austria-Hungary, Turkey, and Bulgaria. We are waiting
in the strong belief that other peoples will soon follow our example.

At the same time we declare that the conditions as submitted to
us by the Governments of Germany and Austria-Hungary are opposed

1 Gratz and Schiiller, pp. 111-113.
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in principle to the interests of all peoples. These conditions are
refused by the working masses of all countries, amongst them by
those of Germany and Austria-Hungary. . . . We cannot place the
signature of the Russian Revolution under these conditions which
bring with them oppression, misery and hate to millions of human
beings. The Governments of Germany and Austria-Hungary are
determined to possess lands and peoples by might. Let them do so
openly. We cannot approve violence. We are going out of the war,
but we feel ourselves compelled to refuse to sign the peace treaty.

In connection with this I give to the Allied [Central Powers]
Delegates the following written and signed declaration :

In the name of the Council of People’s Commissars, the
Government of the Russian Federal Republic informs the
Governments and peoples united in war against us, the Allied
and neutral countries, that, in refusing to sign a peace of annexa-
tion, Russia declares, on its side, the state of war with Germany,
Austria-Hungary, Turkey, and Bulgaria as ended.

The Russian troops are receiving at the same time an order for a
general demobilization on all lines of the fronts.

During the early stages of the speech the delegates of
the Central Powers had sat and listened contentedly. This,
they decided, was Trotsky’s swan-song, a concession to
principles to be followed by a declaration of willingness to
sign. Kithlmann sighed with relief. It might not be necessary
to present that ultimatum after all. But, as Trotsky pro-
ceeded from invective to policy, and the true import of
the announcement broke upon them, their satisfaction
vanished and they listened incredulously. “ The effect was
more startling than a streak of lightning in a clear sky.”
When the last echoes of Trotsky’s powerful voice died
away, no one spoke. The whole conference sat speechless,
dumbfounded before the audacity of this coup de thédire.
The amazed silence was shattered by an ejaculation from
Hoffmann :  Unerhért!” (““ Unheard of ! ), he exclaimed,

1 Proceedings, pp. 172-173 ; Mirnye peregovory v Bresi-Litovske, i.
207-208.
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scandalized. The spell was broken. Kiithlmann said some-
thing about the necessity for calling a plenary session of
the conference, but this Trotsky refused, saying that there
remained nothing to discuss. With that the Bolsheviks
left the room ; and in gloomy silence, still scarcely believing
what they had heard and wholly at a loss as to what to
make of it, the delegates of the Central Powers dispersed.

Late that night, under a frosty sky, with none to see
them off but a handful of aides-de-camp, the Soviet
delegates entrained for Petrograd. They behaved with
confidence, almost with gaiety, congratulating one another
on the trick they had played on the Germans. Pokrovsky
was in especially good humour. Once he had wept and pled
before Hoffmann, and now he derived much pleasure from
the General’s scandalized amazement. “ Unerhéri!” he
kept repeating in imitation of the General’s high-pitched
staccato, ¢ Unerhort!”*

5

The bewilderment which had descended upon the
remainder of the delegates after Trotsky’s dramatic
departure from the conference hall remained with them,
and was not easily dispelled. The situation appeared to
be without parallel until the indefatigable Ministerial-
Director Kriege, the German legal expert, after exhaustive
researches, reported that a similar case of a unilateral
declaration of peace had occurred several thousand years
before, after a war between the Greeks and the Scythians.

While the Bolsheviks were departing from the station
in high fettle, a still somewhat bemused group of Austrian
and German diplomatists, together with Hoffmann, gathered
in Kiihmann’s quarters in the citadel. What was the next
step, they debated. Had peace with Russia become an actual

1 Hofimann, ii. 218-219; A. A. Joffe, “ The Fight for Peace”, in

Tllustrated History of the Russian Revolution (London, 1928), ii. 501.
2 Fokke, p. 207.
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fact, by virtue of Trotsky’s astounding declaration, or
were they still nominally in a state of war ? The unanimous
voice of the diplomatists was in favour of accepting the
situation as one of peace, and of evolving some manner of
bringing it into line with international law and diplomatic
practice. Both Kiihlmann and Czernin were relieved that
the presentation of an ultimatum had been unnecessary,
and as the Russians, by their declaration, had tacitly
agreed to the occupied territories remaining in German
hands, there seemed nothing further to fight for.

But against these councils of peace there was raised
one dissentient voice. Hoffmann had at once telephoned
to Kreuznach and had informed the Supreme Command
of the incredible situation which had arisen. He was now
acquainted with their views, and their views were un-
compromisingly for war. One of the most vital points in
the armistice agreement, argued Hoffmann, had been the
undertaking to arrive at terms of peace. As peace had
not been concluded, the object of the armistice had not
been attained, and therefore the truce came automatically
to an end. To him Trotsky’s declaration was no more than
a denunciation of the armistice, and hostilities must there-
fore reopen after the lapse of seven days.

Hours passed in argument, but this time Hoffmann
was unable to gain his point. The statesmen were all for
peace, and Wiesner, in one of those excesses of enthusiasm
which had led him once before, at Serajevo in 1914, to send
a remarkably ill-informed and self-contradictory telegram,
had already wired to Vienna that peace had been con-
cluded, with the result that the Imperial capital was even
now dressing itself en féte.!

With the sincere hope of peace in his heart, Kithlmann
brought the conference proceedings to a formal conclusion
on February 11, and departed for Berlin. On his arrival he
was summoned, with the Chancellor and the Vice-Chancellor,

1 Cgernin, p. 318 ; Hoffmann, ii. 219.
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the Great Twin Brothers of the Supreme Command, and
the chiefs of the Naval Staff, to the little watering-place of
Homburg, where the Kaiser was taking a February cure.
There, throughout the 13th, raged a battle-royal on the
issues of peace and war, with the Emperor flitting in and
out like an unhappy ghost. Poor Wilhelm, only a few days
before he had informed his loyal Homburgers that “ Our
Lord God means to have peace, but a peace in which the
world endcavours to do what is right and good . It was
the Omnipotent Will that Germany should be the agency
for bringing such a peace into the world, and the Emperor
rejoiced that with the Ukraine they had “ managed it in
a very friendly fashion.”! He was now called upon to
consider war.

From the moment of Hoffmann’s report on the evening
of the 10th, Hindenburg and Ludendorff had bombarded
the Emperor and the Chancellor with demands for the
denunciation of the armistice agreement, and now, con-
fronted with Kiihlmann, the object of their spleen and
hatred, they redoubled the emphasis of their demands. To
Ludendorft there appeared now a way both to encompass
the fall of the Secretary of Statc and to complete, on the
widest scale, his scheme of conquest in the Rast.

The First Quartermaster-General desired clarity in the
Tast and proposed to achieve it by means of inflicting a
short but sharp blow upon what remained of the Russian
armies. Peace must on no account be signed until the
German line had been advanced to include both Livonia
and Estonia, thereby creating a sanitary cordon between
the Teutonic peoples in Fastern Europe and Bolshevik
Russia. In addition, it was apparent to the Supreme Com-
mand that if they wanted the grain, for which they had
made peace with the Ukraine, they must go and get it.
There was no longer any pretence that the Rada, at that
moment appealing desperately for German assistance from

1 Norddeutsche Allgemeine Zeitung, February 11, 1918.
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its insecure temporary capital at Zhitomir, had any control
over the country ; but as Ludendorft said : “ We need the
Ukraine as an auxiliary against the Bolsheviks, so it must
not on any account be surrendered to them .

This argument was undoubtedly valid. Without assist-
ance from the Ukraine, Germany and Austria-Hungary
could not survive the winter of 1918-1919. The conquest
of Rumania had failed to provide the anticipated supply
of grain, and the prospects of the coming harvest in Central
Europe were already poor. Therefore the Ukraine must be
rescued from Bolshevism in order to supply the Central
Powers with food. In addition there was, from the German
point of view, the danger (though the contingency was not
a practical one) that the Entente might give aid and
assistance to the Russians in order to re-establish the
Eastern Front. “It was a military absurdity ”, wrote
Ludendorft,  to sit still and watch the enemy increase his
strength ; it was necessary to act . . . it would then be
certain that we should obtain peace.”*

Despite these strategic considerations the civilians
remained opposed to the High Command. They feared the
effect on the internal condition of Germany if hostilities
were resumed. Both the Majority Socialists and the In-
dependent Socialists would be opposed to it, and the in-
fluence of the latter on the masses was steadily increasing.
They advanced these counter-arguments in vain. Kithimann,
in addition to his general principles, warned them that a
new war in the East would strain the alliance with Austria-
Hungary almost to the breaking point, and that no support
from that source could be looked for in a new offensive.
Czernin had made it abundantly clear on a number of
occasions that the alliance with Germany did not entail the
co-operation of Austria-Hungary in the defence of anything
but the pre-war German possessions. Austrian divisions

1 Ludendorff, War Memories, ii. 557-559 ; The General Staff and its
Problems, ii. 548-551.
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might be brought to the West to fight against France and
England, but they would not fight again in the East.

The Supreme Command remained adamant, the more
so because they hoped to drive Kiihlmann to the point of
resignation. Gradually Count Hertling and Vice-Chancellor
von Payer were won over to the military point of view.
Kiihlmann was isolated. But he stuck to his guns ; though
defeated and deserted by his governmental colleagues, he
was not going to give Ludendorff the satisfaction of in-
veigling him into political suicide. A few days before, on a
matter of principle, he had not hesitated to offer his resigna-
tion to the Kaiser, but now, when the responsibility for
capitulation to the military clearly rested not upon him
but upon his superiors, the Chancellor and Vice-Chancellor,
he refused to sacrifice himself. “ I am against the proposal
of resuming hostilities,”” he declared, ““ but I do not consider
the question important enough for me to withdraw from
the Cabinet.” And he remained. It was to be another four
months before the Supreme Command would hang Kiihl-
mann’s scalp on the flap of the G.H.Q. wigwam. Until that
time he retained his dual réle of actor-onlooker, playing
the game for the mere charm of playing.

Though balked of the victim of their personal spite,
the High Command had won a signal victory. They had
brought the Government to heel, and it required but little
effort to secure the approval of the All-Highest War Lord.
Orders were issued to Hoffmann to denounce the armistice
on the 17th and to begin the advance forthwith, and the
announcement of resumed hostilities was greeted in
Germany with school holidays, street rejoicings, and in
some towns with the ringing of bells.

6

How accurate Kiihlmann had been in his views re-
1 Georg Bernhard in the Vossische Zeitung, February 18, 1918.
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garding the co-operation of Austria-Hungary in further
hostilities in the East, was quickly confirmed from Vienna.
The news of the signature of the Ukrainian treaty on
February 9, followed by Wiesner’s despatch announcing
peace with Russia, had sent the city into transports of
wildest celebration. In an hour the streets of the city—so
long une ville sans dme—blossomed with flags and bunting ;
all business was at a standstill and huge crowds poured
into the streets. Everywhere were signs of relief and emotion,
women weeping for joy, men embracing and crying, “ Now
at last we shall have enough food ”.

The rejoicings lasted throughout the following days
until stilled by the fateful tidings of the decision taken at
Homburg. The whole Empire revolted in horror against
resuming hostilities with Russia, and the anti-German
sentiment, never deeply hidden in these days, flared up
with dangerous rancour. Austria-Hungary had suffered
much from her overbearing ally in the four years of war,
and the realization of her own military inferiority to Ger-
many did nothing to soften the antagonism, which was
rapidly increasing. Particularly resented was Germany’s as-
sumption that Austria-Hungary would have to collaborate
in her annexationist adventures, and the entire Dual
Monarchy cried out against further sacrifice.

There was no immediately apparent reason why
Austria-Hungary should resume hostilities with Russia,
since, by virtue of the Ukrainian treaty, she had ceased
to be a contiguous State. “ Conditions for successful negotia-
tions have never been disturbed by us. We wish that they
had never been disturbed by the other side ”, asserted
Die Zeit on February 16, meaning by “the other side ”
Germany ; and the Arbeiter-Zeitung Was even more
emphatic : “ Everything must be avoided which, even
against our will, may drag us again into war with Russia.”
Ministerial circles shared the public aversion to a renewal
of hostilities, and on February 17 Dr. Seidler informed.
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Count Hertling that Austria-Hungary would take no part
in the resumed hostilities.

Indeed, the Austro-Hungarian Government had diffi-
culties enough internally without incurring further external
complications. The apprehensions of Czernin with regard to
Polish opposition to the cession of Cholm to the Ukrainians
had been fully justified. The Poles, who had claimed
representation at the negotiations and had been refused
it, now vehemently denied the right of the Austrians to
carve out and give to the Ukrainians ““ a piece of Polish
land from our nation’s living body”. The province of
Cholm had been separated from Russian Poland by the
Tsar’s Government in 1912 and incorporated in Russia
proper, and the treaty thus renewed one of the last wrongs
inflicted on Poland by Imperial Russia.

While Vienna was beflagged and rejoicing at the
signature of the Ukrainian Peace, the Polish press in
Warsaw and Lublin appeared with heavy black borders
in mourning for the rape of Cholm. A gencral strike was
declared in Warsaw, Cracow, and Lemberg on February
14 ; the Polish Council of Ministers resigned and the three
Regents, Prince Lubomirski, Archbishop Kakowski, and
Count Ostrowski, issued a manifesto in language savouring
of the mediacval : “ Before God and before the World ;
before men and the tribunal of history ; before the German
people and the peoples of Austria-Hungary, the Polish
Council of Regency now raises its protest against the new
partition of Poland, refuses to give its recognition, and
brands the step as an act of violation ”’. The Polish Club
in the Vienna Parliament, comprising the six Polish political
parties, protested as vehemently. The Polish legions de-
monstratively left the Austrian front and marched into
the midst of the welter of revolutionary violence in the
Ukraine. Many perished there, others escaped and fought
for Polish liberty on the side of the Entente.

Public feeling for and against the treaty rose fiercely
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until it reached boiling point in the Lower House of the
Austrian Reichsrat on February 19. The appearance in
the gallery of the young Ukrainian leader Sevruk, who had
signed the treaty, was the signal for an outburst from the
Polish and Czech deputies. “ A youngster of twenty-nine
like that to conclude peace ! It’s a scandal ; let him clear
out of the House!” cried an enraged Czech. Whereupon
the Ukrainian members shook their fists at him, shouting :
“ You’re a fine free people, you Czechs; what a way to
treat a distinguished guest! You ought to be ashamed
of yourselves ! ” At this moment the youthful object of
these demonstrations, who, i